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At Erie Indemnity Company, we provide sales, underwriting and policy 	
	issuance services as the attorney-in-fact for the Erie Insurance 

Exchange, a reciprocal insurance exchange. We are also engaged in the 
property/casualty insurance business through three wholly-owned insurance 
subsidiaries and have a common stock interest in Erie Family Life, an 
affiliated life insurance company. The Exchange, the Company and their 
subsidiaries and affiliate operate collectively under the name Erie Insurance 
Group. The ERIE seeks to insure standard and preferred risks in property 
and casualty markets, primarily private passenger automobile, homeowners 
and small commercial lines, including workers’ compensation business. 

Based in Erie, Pa., since 1925, The ERIE is represented in 11 midwestern, 
mid-Atlantic and southeastern states and the District of Columbia by more 
than 1,700 independent insurance agencies. The Company is staffed by more 
than 4,600 employees at its home office and 23 field offices.
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	 For the years ended December 31
	 Total operating revenue	 $ 	  1,124,950	 $	 1,123,144	 $	 1,048,788
	 Total operating expenses		  900,731		  884,916		  820,478
	 Total investment income—unaffiliated 		  115,237		  88,119		  66,743
	 Provision for income taxes		  111,733		  105,140		  102,237
	 Equity in earnings of Erie Family  
	 Life Insurance, net of tax		  3,381		  5,206		  6,909
	 Net income		  231,104		  226,413		  199,725

	 Net income per share-diluted	 $	 3.34	 $	 3.21	 $	 2.81
	 Book value per share—Class A common and equivalent B shares		  18.81		  18.14		  16.40
	 Cash dividends declared:
	 Class A		  1.335		  0.9700		  0.7850
	 Class B		  200.25		  145.500		  117.750 

	 Financial ratios
	 Effective management fee rate 		  23.75%			  23.74%				   24.0%
	 Gross margins from management operations		  21.8			   25.1				    28.0
	 GAAP combined ratios		  93.1			   102.1				    113.0
	 GAAP combined ratios excluding direct catastrophe losses		  92.6			   100.2				    107.8
	 Return on average equity		  18.2			   18.6				    18.6

	 At year-end December 31
	 Total investments	 $	 1,452,431	 $	 1,371,442	 $	 1,241,236
	 Total assets		  3,101,261		  2,982,804		  2,756,329
	 Shareholders’ equity		  1,278,602		  1,266,881		  1,164,170

	 Weighted average Class A common and equivalent shares		  69,294		  70,492		  71,094 

	 2005	 2004	 2003	
(amounts in thousands, except per share data)

	
Net Income per share-diluted

$2.41
$2.81

$3.21

2005 2004 2003

Net Income per share

Book Value per share

Dividends Declared per share

$2.81
$3.21$3.34

2005 2004 2003
	

Book Value per share

Net Income per share

Book Value per share

Dividends Declared per share

$16.40
$18.14$18.81

2005 2004 2003
	

Class A Common Stock  
dividends declared per share

Net Income per share

Book Value per share

Dividends Declared per share

$0.785
$0.970

$1.335
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Erie Insurance is the company of choice.

That’s the view we’re bringing into focus whether 
you’re looking at ERIE through the lens of the 
policyholder, agent, employee or shareholder.

In 2005, we did two things to bring us closer to 
making that vision a reality. We strengthened our 
core capabilities, and we undertook an intensive 
strategic evaluation and planning process. The 
resulting plan, currently being launched, offers a 
clear view of where we want to be as an organization 
and how we’ll get there. It’s a view that is understood 
and embraced by the more than 4,600 ERIE 
employees and 1,700 agencies we partner with 
throughout our territories, as we work together 
to enhance the competitive position and value 
proposition of the ERIE Group.

An Eye Toward the Future
Over the last three years, we’ve concentrated the 
efforts of employees and agents on improving the 
Property and Casualty Group’s underwriting results 
and refining the quality of our book of business—
with great success. In 2005, the Property and 
Casualty Group had the best combined ratio in our 
history (85.7 adjusted for profit on the management 
fee paid to the Company), a reflection of both our 
underwriting discipline and a mild catastrophe 
year in ERIE’s territories. Underwriting discipline 
is an anchor to our business model. Having 
accomplished what we set out to do in transforming 
our underwriting profitability, in 2005 we began 
building upon that foundation.

We put pieces in place to assure a disciplined 
and thoughtful approach to future growth, from 
introducing segmented pricing to launching a 
branding campaign complemented by an array of 
new marketing tools. These and other initiatives 
that took root in 2005 position us to move forward 
with a sharper focus on competitive position and 
a balanced strategy of growth through disciplined 
underwriting and expansion of our agency force. 

A  L e t t e r  To  O u r  S h a r e h o l d e r s
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“Underwriting discipline is an anchor to our 
business model—
                Having accomplished what we set out to do…, 
        in 2005 we began building upon that foundation.”

Jeffrey A. Ludrof, CPCU, AIC, CIC, LUTCF, President and Chief Executive Officer
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Financial Results
Investing in our competitive position—ensuring 

that ERIE’s products, prices and services are 
competitive in the marketplace—has caused 
short-term declines in the gross margins for Erie 
Indemnity Company, the management company for 
Erie Insurance Group. While growth in earnings 
was below prior year levels, results in 2005 remained 
favorable, contributing to our strong financial base:

•	 Net income in 2005 totaled $231.1 million— 
	 an increase of 2.1 percent from 2004.

•	 Net income per share increased by 4.0 percent 	 
	 to $3.34 per share, compared to $3.21 for 2004.

•	 Book value per share increased 3.7 percent.

Management fee revenue, the principal source of 
income for Erie Indemnity, decreased slightly in 
2005. In 2005, direct written premium, upon which 
the management fee for Erie Indemnity Company is 
based, decreased 1.0 percent to $3.96 billion. Personal 
lines decreased 2.1 percent, while commercial lines 
represented a 1.6 percent increase. After reviewing 
the relative financial position of the Erie Insurance 
Exchange and the Erie Indemnity Company, the 
Board of Directors voted at their December 2005 
meeting to increase the management fee rate from 
23.75 percent to 24.75 percent.  

While the United States and the insurance industry 
were significantly affected by one of the most 
damaging hurricane seasons on record, Erie Insurance 
was not impacted financially by the storms due to the 
regional nature of our operations. Catastrophe losses 
in general were below average for the Company in 
the past year, which had a favorable impact on our 
operating results.

Despite our lack of business presence in the Gulf 
Coast regions hardest hit by hurricanes, we are 
extremely proud of our agents and employees, who 
responded with extraordinary care and compassion.

Philip A. Garcia  
CPA, FLMI, ACS,  
Executive Vice President  
and Chief Financial Officer

John J. Brinling Jr.  
CPCU, Executive  
Vice President,  
Erie Family Life

Michael J. Krahe, Ph.D. 
Executive Vice President, 
Human Development  
and Leadership

Douglas F. Ziegler  
Senior Vice President,  

Treasurer and Chief 
Investment Officer

Thomas B. Morgan  
CIC, AIS, Executive  

Vice President,  
Insurance Operations

Jan R. Van Gorder, Esq.
Senior Executive  

Vice President, Secretary 
and General Counsel 

ER I E ’ s  E xecu t i v e  O f f i c e r s



“I’m focusing on process improvements. I want to continue to find ways to 
gather information faster and, if possible, more accurately. Ease of doing 

business often means having greater access to information at one’s fingertips—and that’s 

exactly what I’m trying to do for the employees and agents I serve.” 

               —Sue Lhymn, financial systems administrator, Controller Division 
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The continued positive performance of the 
financial markets had a likewise favorable impact 
on the Company’s investment operations, which 
recorded revenue of $115.2 million in 2005. 
That compares to $88.1 million in 2004, an 
increase of 30.8 percent.  We are also pleased 
with the performance of our investment portfolio, 
highlighted by the performance of our limited 
partnerships, which produced equity in earnings of 
$38.1 million versus $8.7 million in 2004.

As a result of the Company’s continuing strong 
financial results and capitalization, the Board 
of Directors voted in December to increase the 
regular quarterly dividend from $0.325 to $0.36 on 
each Class A share and from $48.75 to $54.00 on 
each Class B share. Based on the current market 
price, the new dividend results in a dividend yield 
of about 2.7 percent and represents a 10.8 percent 
increase in the payout per share over the current 
dividend rate.

In 2005, the Company took additional actions as 
part of the $250 million share repurchase program 
reauthorized by the Board of Directors in 2003. 
The Company repurchased nearly 1.9 million 
shares of our outstanding Class A common stock, 
at a total cost of $99.0 million. The Company has 
$97 million remaining in the share repurchase 
authorized through 2006.

In February 2006, the Board of Directors 
reauthorized our share repurchase program 
with an additional $250 million authorization. 
The reauthorized stock repurchase program 
becomes effective immediately after the available 
funds from the current repurchase program are 
expended. Under the newly approved program, 
the Company may repurchase up to $250 million 
of its outstanding Class A common stock through 
December 31, 2009.

A Broader View
Our 2005 results stand against a backdrop of 

strong financial measures. The A.M. Best 
Company again awarded an A+ Superior rating for 
the property/casualty companies of ERIE. That 
rating places us among the top 9 percent among 
the more than 2,000 property/casualty insurers 
rated by A.M. Best. 

In 2005, Erie Insurance Group ranked 425 on 
the Fortune 500. And for the third consecutive 
year, Erie Indemnity Company ranked on Forbes 
magazine’s Platinum 400 list of the Best Managed 
Companies in America.

Erie Insurance continues to be a leader in service 
as well. For the second consecutive year, ERIE was 
the top-rated carrier in J.D. Power and Associates’ 
Collision Repair Study and is ranked in the top 
five of all carriers for auto insurance customer 
satisfaction. ERIE was also recognized as the 
number one independent agent-represented carrier, 
and the third overall, in J.D. Power’s national study 
of homeowners customer satisfaction. 

In 2005, ERIE marked its 80th year in business. 
We have expanded from our humble beginnings, 
which remain an important part of our success 
formula. We have spread our operations and our 
risk to new states to allow for quality growth 
and to enhance our competitive position. With 
operations in 11 states and the District of 
Columbia, we are a regional insurer with a national 
reputation for excellence.

We’ve achieved that reputation by staying true to 
our founders’ promise “to provide our policyholders 
with as near perfect protection, as near perfect 
service as is humanly possible, and to do so at the 
lowest possible cost.” It’s a value proposition that 
our agents and employees recognize and profess. 
We’ve never aspired to be the biggest insurance 
company—simply the best.
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—	 Phil Garlow, agent, Garlow Insurance Agency, Charleston, W. Va.,  
���	 and Payne & Garlow Insurance Agency, Hurricane, W.Va.

View
agent

“I have a passion for what I do. I think that’s important 
regardless of your job. I can’t imagine hating to go to work every 
morning. I’m blessed to have an excellent company to represent  
and an exceptional staff. I’m 100 percent sold on ERIE.”



 

The Face of our Business
The production of quality business is the 

lifeblood of an insurance company, just as it is 
the lifeblood of an insurance agency. In 2005, that 
production was admittedly impacted by the learning 
curve that occurs when a new tool is introduced. 
Segmented pricing, utilizing insurance scoring, is 
a necessary underwriting tool in today’s complex 
and competitive personal lines insurance market. 
As a means to better match an appropriate price 
to individual risks, segmented pricing is a strong 
asset in ensuring that ERIE is competitively priced 
without compromising the service that policyholders 
want and deserve. Such pricing refinements can 
better position the Property and Casualty Group’s 
ability to attract and retain profitable policyholders. 

As we push toward that goal, we also have focused 
our employees and agents on areas integral to 
ERIE’s long-term success, including technology 
needs and ease of doing business.

Erie Insurance is dedicated to the independent 
agency distribution system that has been a critical 
part of our business model since the Company’s 
inception. When it comes to the insurance 
transaction, there is no better way to make sense 
of the unlimited information and complex details 
than with the professional agents who represent 
ERIE. That’s why we’re working very hard to earn 
all of the quality business our agents have to offer. 
Certainly we will continue to offer enhancements 
to the way policyholders do business with ERIE 
and with our agents, like online bill payment, 

advancements to information delivery systems and 
continued improvements in customer service and 
claims handling. 

We are eager to deliver the tools that will help improve 
the ease of doing business with our Company and 
support our agents’ interactions with policyholders. 

A Vision for the Future
In 2005, employees enthusiastically responded to the 

call to identify how their focus on the job is linked 
to organizational success. In 2006, that alignment is 
taking on greater significance as we prepare to launch 
a strategic plan aimed at building Erie Insurance 
into a “regional gem” —simply the best insurer in the 
places we do business today and in the future. 

The plan took shape throughout last year, as we set 
the stage to transform Erie Insurance. Building on 
a stronger financial foundation, we began exploring 
a new way of thinking about who we are, how we 
do business and why we are different. Through this 
process, we have held firm to ERIE’s historical values, 
corporate objectives and mission as our guideposts, 
as we recognized the need for targeted change and 
envisioned an evolution that will bring forth the best 
of ERIE.

Our strategic planning process was arguably the most 
extensive in our Company’s history. A thorough 
examination of our accumulated accomplishments 
helped define a strategy for profitable growth well 
into the future. Our talented and dedicated team 
of employees identified strategies that will help us 
leverage our resources and make our efforts toward 
building a regional gem a reality. 

    

“Our talented and dedicated team of employees identified strategies  
that will help us leverage our resources and make our efforts  

toward building a regional gem a reality.” 
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—Roberta Kisiel, field office telephone operator, Murrysville Branch

      customer  
               View

“ I realize that even though I’m a switchboard operator, I am still a piece of the whole 
ERIE picture. I focus on every incoming customer call with a positive attitude. Even when 

my day is not going so great, I’ll never show it in my voice.”
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The alignment of all of our stakeholders is critical 
to this strategic journey. Historically, that’s been 
one of our strong suits. That was affirmed again in 
2005 in the results of an employee survey conducted 
by Watson Wyatt Worldwide. Results were very 
favorable for employee alignment and support with 
the Company’s goals and objectives, and results 
for employee satisfaction were among the highest 
Watson Wyatt has ever seen. ERIE employees 
are proud to work for the organization and are 
committed to helping ERIE be successful.

That’s particularly significant in light of a 2005 
study by Watson Wyatt that found companies 
whose workers are highly committed to their 
employers deliver dramatically higher returns to 
shareholders. In fact, shareholder returns were 57 
percent higher in organizations where employees 
shared the company’s vision and felt connected to 
their business.

The alignment of all of our stakeholders with 
our growth strategy assures that we’ll focus 
our attention, our energy and our resources on 
achieving our vision. Toward this end, the Board 
of Directors in December approved an executive 
stock ownership program, which provides guidelines 
for stock ownership by the chief executive officer 
and executive vice presidents of the Company in 
Erie Indemnity Company stock. The program is 
designed to further strengthen alignment between 
the interests of executive management with those of 
the shareholders of the Company. Executive officers 
must reach prescribed stock ownership levels within 
three years from the beginning of this program, 
which began January 1, 2006.

Getting There
Throughout the past three years, we have 

refocused our attention on our core strengths 
while addressing areas that pose challenges. The 
result is a solid foundation for continued profitable 
growth. We do not underestimate the challenges 
of this highly competitive and volatile business 
environment—but we believe we have the right 
people and the right recipe for success, and an 
unmatched commitment to being the best.

The development of a comprehensive strategy in 
2005 provides the guidance necessary to engage 
our organization in both the short and long term. 
As we move into 2006, we’re ready and eager to 
shift from idea to vision, from planning to action, 
from strategy to success.

Jeffrey A. Ludrof
President and Chief Executive Officer 
February 2006

n
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“My role is to make sure our adjusters have the 
tools and training necessary to del iver on our 

promise of being above al l  in 
serv ice.  This means examining the loss 

thoroughly,  paying the cla im fair ly and 

showing compassion for the pol icyholder . 

This is where ERIE real ly stands out .”

—Bert Hackenberg, claims supervisor, Canton Branch

          em
ployee V

iew10



 • �Marketing—A new marketing management 
system called @blue is helping ERIE agents 
better manage their marketing efforts. The 
Internet-based system is just one of several 
marketing tools rolled out in mid-2005. Others 
included a branding campaign and related 
advertising materials, a new sign program, a 
cooperative marketing program and a qualified 
lead generation program.

 • �Agent incentive—In June, a new agent 
incentive program was announced, as well as 
a year-long contest now under way. The new 
ERIE Agents Rewards Networks incents 
agents for increasing their production of auto, 
home, life and commercial business.

 • �Expanding our reach—ERIE has a 
rigorous recruitment process for the 
agents we partner with. In 2005, we 
added 65 agents into the ERIE family, 
many of them scratch appointments 
whose primary efforts will be placing 
business with ERIE. In 2006, we 
plan to recruit an additional 125 
agents, bringing our agency force to 
more than 1,800.

 • �Building the brand—In 2005, 
we introduced a new branding 
campaign that is a springboard 
for ERIE’s 80-year legacy 
and articulates the attribute 
of ERIE: we commit, care 
and serve. It’s our true 
blue promiseSM.

 

F o c u s  O n  C o m p e t i t i v e  P o s i t i o n
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What makes a company competitive? 
It’s not an easy answer—or a simple 

one. But it’s an important one to ask.
The insurance industry has become extremely 
competitive. Continued refinements in pricing 
strategies are helping all insurers find the most 
appropriate price for the risk. Service advancements, 
from policy processing to claims handling, are 
growing in sophistication. It’s not enough to 
respond to policyholder needs, we must readily 
anticipate them. 

In 2005, ERIE took initiative on many forefronts to 
bolster our competitive position:

 • �Pricing—The impact of our improved 
underwriting helped to moderate rates in many 
of our territories, improving our competitive 
position. Additionally, the introduction of 
segmented pricing and insurance scoring to our 
pricing model has helped us to more accurately 
price premium to risk.

 • �Discounts—In 2005, we prepared an array of 
discounts and loyalty rewards that 
are now available for current 
customers and prospects. These 
include payment plan 
discounts and a 
life/property 
and casualty 
multi-policy 
discount.

 • �Cross-selling 
opportunities—Two 
popular new products 
launched by Erie 
Family Life in 2005 
increase the product slate 
available to ERIE agents. 
Teamed with the discount 
that links home, auto and 
life sales, these products are 
positioned for even greater 
appeal in 2006.



In the coming year, we’ll also kick off an effort to 
broaden our service to provide greater availability 
and convenience to customers. This approach will 
further complement the personal service delivered 
by the professional independent agents who 
represent ERIE. 

How do you determine company pride?  
By looking back, and ahead, and all  

around you.
In 2005, ERIE marked its 80-year 
legacy of service. That service 
was lauded in February during 
a presentation by J.D. Power 
and Associates. As employees 
gathered along four floors of 
the Home Office’s H.O. 
Hirt atrium, ERIE was 
recognized—for the 
second time—as the top 
insurer in J.D. Power 
and Associates’ annual 
customer satisfaction study 
for collision repair—as well as the Company’s 
repeated positioning among the top insurers in 

both home and auto customer studies by the 
renowned market research firm. 

“In 2004, ERIE has set the 
standard in delivering customer 
service,” said the J.D. Power 
representative. “Like Lexus in 
automobiles, Michelin in tires 
and BellSouth in telecom—
ERIE has demonstrated its 
ability to provide consistently 

high levels of customer 
satisfaction over time.”

What do customers want when it 
comes to doing business? Easy. 

Clear. Quick. Personal. 
For Erie Insurance, the approach to customer 
service is viewed through two lenses—one for the 
policyholders who purchase our promise of service 
and the other for the independent agents who 
partner with us.

In 2005, we continued development of a front-end 
interface better suited to the needs and desires 
of our agency force. We transitioned remaining 
agents from Data Sharing to DSpro®, allowing 
agents a common platform for processing and 
allowing ERIE the flexibility to streamline the 
resources needed to support those systems. 

At the same time, a dedicated team of 
programmers neared completion of an online 
quoting and application system for commercial 
auto lines, called Commercial Connection. Testing 
of the platform is planned for the first half of 2006. 

In August, we made improvements to the secured 
agency Web site that is a vital communication 
and business resource for ERIE agents. And we 
made strides in better service through dramatically 
improved telephone hold times in the 
Customer Service Division formed 
in January.

Policyholders have benefited 
through initiatives such as the 
introduction of credit cards 
among our payment methods. 
And in 2006, customers who 
choose certain premium 
payment plans can take 
advantage of new ERIE 
discounts.
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Erie Insurance consistently ranks 
among the top insurers in J.D. 
Power and Associates’ annual  
customer satisfaction studies  
for home and auto insurance.



D o i n g  W h a t  W e  D o  B e s t

While our reputation for outstanding service is 
put to the test every day, with every interaction, it’s 
particularly at stake after a catastrophe. Claims are 
the heart of our business. In 2005, ERIE’s service 
would not be tested by the record-breaking and 
heartbreaking hurricanes that captured the nation’s 
attention. As a regional insurer, ERIE was not 
impacted by Hurricanes Katrina, Rita or 
Wilma and the swath of devastation those 
storms left along the Gulf Coast. 

Our employees and agents, however, 
were quick to respond with compassion 
to the unprecedented need for assistance. 
As part of our five-year partnership with 
the American Red Cross—
Serving Together—comfort 
kits assembled by employees 
and agents were quickly 
shipped to affected areas. 

Many of our ERIE people 
throughout our 11 states and 
the District of Columbia 
joined or initiated efforts to 
help. An ERIE agent from Maryland shipped a 
semi loaded with clean water South, while New 
York employees gathered to staff phones at a local 
TV station’s telethon. And coworkers in Tennessee 
rallied to the aid of one of their own, whose 
immigrant grandmother—named America—was 
rescued from a New Orleans rooftop.

And in a Company-based response, ERIE 
employees, agents and members of the Board 
of Directors together raised nearly $233,000 to 
support the Red Cross hurricane relief efforts. 
With the Company’s dollar-for-dollar match of up 
to $100,000, the total contribution reached more 
than $330,000.

That kind of compassion and care is emblematic 
of the care our employees and agents take in 
everything they do with and for ERIE. It’s their 

true blue nature. As such, it’s an affirmation of the 
“true blue promise” brand the company introduced 
in 2005.

Identifying and promoting ERIE’s brand—
focusing the ERIE experience into a single 
memorable concept—is one more way we 
strengthen the legacy of service and reputation for 
excellence ERIE has become associated with. 

It’s a way to share the true blue promise 
we make—and keep. n
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While ERIE’s territories were outside 
the path of Katrina, our employees and 
agents responded with compassion.



The F.W. Hirt Quality Agency Award is the highest honor 
bestowed on an ERIE agency. It recognizes long-term 

profitability and growth, thorough and responsible underwriting 
practices, and continuing commitment to education.

Allentown/Bethlehem Branch
2005	 Miller’s Insurance Agency 
2004	 Brunner Insurance
2003	 Charles G. Leon Insurance Agency
2002	 Konell Insurance
2001	 Gilmartin Insurance

Canton Branch
2005	 Broadbent Insurance Agency
2004	 Bracken Insurance Agency
2003	 Bracken Insurance Agency

Charlotte Branch
2005	 Main Street Financial Group
2002	 Summit Insurance Group

Columbus Branch
2005	 Simpkins Insurance Agency

Erie Branch
2005	 William R. Siegel
2004	 James J. Murray Insurance
2003	 E.C. Stainbrook Insurance Agency
2001	 Hamilton Insurance Agency

Harrisburg Branch
2005	 Carl L. Cramer Insurance
2004	 J.P. Wolfe Insurance
2003	 Strock Insurance Agency
2002	 William R. Karschner & Sons
2001	 McGowan Insurance

Silver Spring Branch
2005	 J.E. Schenk & Associates 
2003	 A.L. Howes Agency 
2002	 Jack Martin Insurance Group
2001	 Donald C. Bowers Insurance Agency

Warrendale Branch
2005	 McElhinny Insurance Agency  
2004	 Riley Insurance Agency
2002	 Ridge Insurance Group

Waukesha Branch
2005	 Western Insurance Services 

Indianapolis Branch
2005	 Shepherd Insurance & Financial Services 
2004	 Aldridge Insurance
2001	 Davis/Bays & Associates

Murrysville Branch
2005	 Kattan–Ferretti 
2003	 Dwight C. Williams
2002	 Lawrence R. Dowling Agency

Parkersburg Branch
2005	 Morgan & Morgan

Peoria Branch
2005	 Midwest Insurance Center

Raleigh Branch
2004	 Herring & Bickers Insurance Agency
2002	 Pelnik Insurance Agency

Richmond Branch
2005	 Crowne & Weybright 
2004	 Preferred Insurance Services
2003	 James River Insurance Agency
2001	 Foundation Insurance Group

Roanoke Branch
2005	 Wilkins & Walter Insurance Agency 
2004	 Craddock Insurance Services

Rochester Branch
2005	 Wallin Insurance Agency
2003	 Piper Insurance Agency
2001	 Noto Insurance

“The reason for our success 

is the actions of the ERIE 

family in carrying out our 

founding philosophy. You 

can’t have a philosophy at all 

unless you also have really 

competent people who make 

that philosophy the basis for 

everything you do.”

Bill Hirt
Chairman of the Board
Retired President & CEO

Winners from 2001—2005

F.W. Hirt Quality Agency Award
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D o i n g  W h a t  W e  D o  B e s tSelected Consolidated Financial Data

	 2005	 2004	 2003	 2002	 2001

	 Years ended December 31  
	 (amounts in thousands, except per share data)

	 Operating data
	 Total operating revenue	 $	 1,124,950	 $	 1,123,144	 $	 1,048,788	 $	 920,723	 $	 764,938
	 Total operating expenses 		  900,731		  884,916		  820,478		  705,871		  600,833
	 Total investment income—unaffiliated 		  115,237		  88,119		  66,743		  40,549		  17,998
	 Provision for income taxes		  111,733		  105,140		  102,237		  84,886		  60,561
	 Equity in earnings of Erie Family Life 
	 Insurance, net of tax 		  3,381		  5,206		  6,909		  1,611		  719
	 Net income	 $	 231,104	 $	 226,413	 $	 199,725	 $	 172,126	 $	 122,261

	 Per share data
	 Net income per share-diluted	 $	 3.34	 $	 3.21	 $	 2.81	 $	 2.41	 $	 1.71
	 Book value per share—Class A common 
	 and equivalent B shares  		  18.81		  18.14		  16.40		  13.91		  12.15
	 Dividends declared per Class A share		  1.335 		  0.970		  0.785		  0.700		  0.6275
	 Dividends declared per Class B share		  200.25		  145.50		  117.75		  105.00		  94.125

	 Financial position data
	 Investments (1)	 $	 1,452,431	 $	 1,371,442	 $	 1,241,236	 $	 1,047,304	 $	 885,650
	 Recoverables from the  
	 Exchange and affiliates		  1,176,419 		  1,144,625		  1,024,146		  844,049		  655,655
	 Total assets		  3,101,261 		  2,982,804		  2,756,329		  2,359,545		  1,985,568
	 Shareholders’ equity		  1,278,602		  1,266,881		  1,164,170		  987,372		  865,255

	 Cumulative number of shares repurchased		
	 at December 31		  6,438		  4,548		  3,403		  3,403		  3,196 

	 (1) Includes investment in Erie Family Life Insurance Company.
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The following discussion and analysis should be read 
in conjunction with the audited financial statements 

and related notes found on pages 42–73 as they 
contain important information helpful in evaluating the 
Company’s operating results and financial condition. 
The discussions below also focus heavily on the 
Company’s three primary segments: management 
operations, insurance underwriting operations and 
investment operations. The segment basis financial 
results presented throughout Management’s 
Discussion & Analysis herein are those which 
management uses internally to monitor and evaluate 
results and are a supplemental presentation of the 
Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Introduction
Erie Indemnity Company (Company) operates 
predominantly as a provider of management services 
to the Erie Insurance Exchange (Exchange). The 
Exchange is a reciprocal insurance exchange, which 
is an unincorporated association of individuals, 
partnerships and corporations that agree to insure one 
another. Each applicant for insurance to a reciprocal 
insurance exchange signs a subscriber’s agreement 
that contains an appointment of an attorney-in-fact. 
The Company has served since 1925 as the attorney-
in-fact for the policyholders of the Exchange. As 
attorney-in-fact, the Company is required to perform 
certain services relating to the sales, underwriting and 
issuance of policies on behalf of the Exchange. For 
its services as attorney-in-fact, the Company charges 
a management fee calculated as a percentage, not 
to exceed 25%, of the direct and affiliated assumed 

premiums written of the Exchange. Management fees 
accounted for approximately 72% of the Company’s 
total revenues for 2005.

The Company also operates as a property/casualty 
insurer through its three insurance subsidiaries. The 
Exchange and its property/casualty subsidiary and 
the Company’s three property/casualty subsidiaries 
(collectively, the “Property and Casualty Group”) 
write personal and commercial lines property/casualty 
coverages exclusively through independent agents. 
The financial position or results of operations of the 
Exchange are not consolidated with those of the 
Company. During 2005, almost 70% of the direct 
premiums written by the Property and Casualty Group 
were personal lines, while 30% were commercial lines.

The Exchange is the Company’s sole customer. 
The members of the Property and Casualty Group 
pool their underwriting results. Under the pooling 
agreement, the Exchange assumes 94.5% of the pool. 
Accordingly, the underwriting risk of the Property 
and Casualty Group’s business is largely borne by the 
Exchange, which had $3.4 billion and $2.8 billion of 
statutory surplus at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 
respectively. Through the pool, the Company’s 
property/casualty subsidiaries currently assume 5.5% 
of the Property and Casualty Group’s underwriting 
results, and, therefore, the Company also has direct 
incentive to manage the insurance underwriting as 
effectively as possible.

The Property and Casualty Group seeks to insure 
standard and preferred risks primarily in private 
passenger automobile, homeowners and small 

Erie Insurance Group Organizational Chart

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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commercial lines, including workers’ compensation. 
The Property and Casualty Group’s sole distribution 
channel is its independent agency force, which consists 
of over 1,700 independent agencies comprised of 
7,800 licensed representatives in 11 midwestern, 
mid-Atlantic and southeastern states (Illinois, 
Indiana, Maryland, New York, North Carolina, Ohio, 
Pennsylvania, Tennessee, Virginia, West Virginia and 
Wisconsin) and the District of Columbia. The Property 
and Casualty Group became licensed in the state of 
Minnesota in December 2004, although it has not 
established a definitive date to begin writing business 
in that state. In addition to their principal role as 
salespersons, the independent agents play a significant 
role as underwriters and service providers and are 
major contributors to the Property and Casualty 
Group’s success.

The Company also owns 21.6% of the common 
stock of Erie Family Life Insurance (EFL), an affiliated 
life insurance company, of which the Exchange owns 
53.5% and public shareholders, including certain of 
the Company’s directors, own 24.9%. The Company, 
together with the Property and Casualty Group and EFL, 
collectively operate as the “Erie Insurance Group.”

For a complete discussion of all intercompany 
agreements, see the Transactions with Related Parties 
section following the Liquidity and Capital Resources 
section herein.

Overview
	 Years ended December 31 
	 (dollars in thousands,	
	 except per share data)

	 	 	 	 2005	 	 2004	 	 2003

Income from 
	management  
	operations	 $	209,269	 $	242,592	 $	253,251

Underwriting  
	 income (loss)		  14,950		  ( 4,364)		 ( 24,941)

Net revenue 
	 from investment  
	operations		 118,873		  93,717		  74,172

Income before 
	 income taxes		 343,092		 331,945		 302,482

Provision for 
	 income taxes		 111,988		 105,532		 102,757

Net income 	 $	231,104	 $	226,413	 $	199,725 

Net income 
	per share- 
	diluted	 $	 3.34	 $	 3.21	  $	 2.81

Highlights
	•	 Net income per share-diluted increased 4.0% in 

2005 due to improvements in insurance underwriting 
operations and investment operations.

	•	 Gross margins from management operations 
decreased to 21.8% in 2005 from 25.1% in 2004.

	•	 The management fee rate was 23.75% for 2005 and 
23.5% from January to June 2004 and 24.0% for the 
remainder of 2004 (effectively 23.74% in 2004).

	•	 GAAP combined ratios of the insurance 
underwriting operations improved to 93.1 in 2005 
from 102.1 in 2004.

	•	 Increase of 26.8% in net revenues from investment 
operations includes $10.1 million in adjustments to 
the market value of limited partnership investments 
in 2005; these adjustments were not included in 
income in 2004.

	•	 The effective tax rate of 32.9% in 2005 was impacted 
by a $.7 million credit related to prior years. A $3.1 
million benefit was recorded to the 2004 tax provision 
related to prior years which decreased the effective 
tax rate to 32.2% in 2004 from 34.7% in 2003. 

	•	 The Company repurchased shares of its common 
stock totaling $99.0 million in 2005 at an average 
price of $52.36 per share.

	•	 Return on average equity declined to 18.2 for 2005 
compared to 18.6 for 2004.

Segment Overviews
Management operations
	•	 Management fee revenues decreased .5% in 2005 

compared to 2004. The two determining factors of 
management fee revenue are: 1) the management 
fee rate charged by the Company, and 2) the direct 
written premiums of the Property and Casualty 
Group. The effective management fee rate was 
23.75% for 2005 and 23.74% for 2004.

	•	 In 2005, the direct written premiums of the Property 
and Casualty Group decreased 1.0% compared 
to an 8.9% increase in 2004. The implementation 
of a personal lines price segmentation model and 
the continued refinement of rate classifications 
contributed to this decrease in premiums written, 
as the average premium per policy declined. 
While price segmentation allows the Property and 
Casualty Group to provide a better correlation 
between the associated risk and rates charged to 
policyholders, the short-term impact of introducing 
such pricing can be disruptive to new policy growth. 
New policy direct written premiums of the Property 
and Casualty Group decreased 7.5% in 2005. The 
recent improvements in underwriting profitability 
afforded the Property and Casualty Group the 
ability to implement rate reductions in 2005 to 
allow for more attractive prices to potential new 
policyholders and improve retention of existing 
policyholders. The impact of rate changes that 
were effective in 2005 resulted in a net decrease 
in written premiums of the Property and Casualty 
Group of $9.9 million. Rate reductions are planned 
for 2006, which will continue to lower the average 
premium per policy and slow premium growth of 
the Property and Casualty Group.

	 −	The Property and Casualty Group continues to 
maintain its focus on underwriting discipline 
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and profitability as well as concentrating on 
quality growth. With the recent improvements 
in underwriting profitability, the Property and 
Casualty Group is in a stronger financial position 
to compete for profitable business. The Property 
and Casualty Group was able to implement 
moderate pricing actions during 2005, many of 
which were rate decreases in its most significant 
line of business, private passenger auto, in 
Pennsylvania. The continued refinement and 
increased utilization of segmented pricing 
in 2006 will enable the Company to offer 
competitive rates to more customers, providing 
greater flexibility in pricing policies with varying 
degrees of risk. The Company plans to continue 
its agent appointment efforts, generating an 
anticipated increase of 125 new independent 
agents in 2006.

	•	 The cost of management operations increased 
$27.3 million, or 3.8%, in 2005 compared to 2004.
The increase in cost of management operations in 
2005 was the result of:

	 −	Commissions—Total commission costs were up 
1.6% to $539.5 million in 2005 compared to 
2004. Agent bonuses increased $24.9 million, 
as the bonus structure focuses on underwriting 
profitability, which improved dramatically over 
the measurement period used for the bonus 
formula. Normal scheduled commissions were 
$18.2 million lower in 2005 compared to 2004, 
primarily due to reduced commercial commission 
rates that became effective on premiums 
collected beginning January 1, 2005, and the 
1.0% decline in direct premiums written of the 
Property and Casualty Group. New promotional 
incentive programs that began in 2005, aimed 
at stimulating premium growth, contributed $1.6 
million in additional costs in 2005.

	 –	Total costs other than commissions rose $18.9 
million to $212.0 million in 2005, mostly as a 
result of increased personnel and underwriting 
costs. Personnel costs, including external contract 
labor, increased $13.4 million and insurance 
scoring costs increased $3.6 million in 2005.

	 −	Personnel costs—Salaries and wages and other 
personnel costs of employees increased $10.2 
million in 2005 driven by increased staffing levels 
and normal pay rate increases. Contract labor 
costs increased $3.2 million, primarily related to 
information technology projects.

	 −	Insurance scoring costs—In the latter part 
of 2004, the use of insurance scores was 
implemented in the underwriting process on 
new business and was part of the Company’s 
initiatives to focus on underwriting profitability 
of the Property and Casualty Group. In 2005, 
insurance scores were obtained for all new and 
renewal private passenger auto and homeowners 
business for underwriting and rating purposes, 
which resulted in increased costs of $3.6 million 
in 2005 compared to 2004.

Insurance underwriting operations
Contributing to the improved insurance underwriting 
operations, resulting in a 93.1 GAAP combined ratio, 
were the following factors:

	•	 Focused management efforts on improving 
underwriting profitability by the Property and 
Casualty Group in 2005 and 2004

	•	 Below normalized level of catastrophe losses 
during 2005

	 −	The Property and Casualty Group was not 
impacted by any of the major hurricanes of 2005, 
including Hurricanes Katrina, Rita and Wilma

	•	 Lower level of charges related to the reversals 
of recoveries under the intercompany aggregate 
excess-of-loss reinsurance agreement between the 
Company’s property/casualty insurance subsidiaries 
and the Exchange, which were $2.2 million in 2005, 
compared to $7.7 million in 2004.

Investment operations
	•	 Net investment income increased 1.0% in 2005 

compared to 2004. While certain funds were 
reinvested in the market, a portion of the available 
capital was used to repurchase Company stock 
of $99.0 million during 2005, compared to $54.1 
million in 2004. Investment expense rose due 
to fees being paid to external managers of the 
common stock portfolio, which were hired in 
the fourth quarter of 2004. Also, certain taxable 
corporate debt securities were sold and replaced 
with tax-exempt municipal bonds.

	•	 A one-time $10.1 million, or $.10 per share-diluted, 
correction was made in 2005 to record limited 
partnership market value adjustments which 
increased equity in earnings of limited partnerships. 
The limited partnership market value adjustment 
was previously recorded as a component of 
shareholders’ equity. The Company saw improved 
performance on its limited partnership private 
equity investments and the number of limited 
partnerships included in the portfolio increased 
in 2005.

The topics addressed in this overview are discussed in 
more detail in the sections that follow.

Critical accounting estimates
The Company makes estimates and assumptions that 
have a significant effect on amounts and disclosures 
reported in the financial statements. The most 
significant estimates relate to valuation of investments, 
reserves for property/casualty insurance unpaid 
losses and loss adjustment expenses and retirement 
benefits. While management believes its estimates 
are appropriate, the ultimate amounts may differ 
from the estimates provided. The estimates and the 
estimating methods used are reviewed continually, and 
any adjustments considered necessary are reflected in 
current earnings.
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Investment valuation
Management makes estimates concerning the 
valuation of all investments. Except in rare cases where 
quoted market prices are not available, the Company 
values fixed maturities and equity securities based on 
published market prices.

The primary basis for the valuation of limited 
partnership interests are financial statements prepared 
by the general partner. Because of the timing of the 
preparation and delivery of these financial statements, 
the use of the most recently available financial 
statements provided by the general partners typically 
results in not less than a quarter delay in the inclusion 
of the limited partnership results in the Company’s 
Consolidated Statements of Operations. The general 
partners use various methods to estimate fair value 
of unlisted debt and equity investments, property 
and other investments for which there is no published 
market. These valuation techniques may vary broadly 
depending on the asset class of the partnership. Due 
to the nature of the investments, general partners must 
make assumptions about the underlying companies 
or assets as to future performance, financial condition, 
liquidity, availability of capital, market conditions and 
other factors to determine the estimated fair value. The 
valuation procedures can include techniques such as 
cash flow multiples, discounted cash flows or the pricing 
used to value the entity or similar entities in recent 
financing transactions. The general partners’ estimate 
and assumption of fair value of nonmarketable securities 
may differ significantly from the values that could have 
been derived had a ready market existed. These values 
are not necessarily indicative of the value that would 
be received in a current sale and valuation differences 
could be significant. Upon receipt of the quarterly and 
annual financial statements, management performs 
an in-depth analysis of the valuations provided by the 
general partners. Management surveys each of the 
general partners about expected significant changes 
(plus or minus 10% compared to previous quarter) to 
valuations prior to the release of the fund’s quarterly 
and annual financial statements. In the event of an 
expected significant change, the general partner will 
notify the Company and the Company will evaluate the 
potential change. 

Investments are evaluated monthly for other-than-
temporary impairment loss. Some factors considered 
in evaluating whether or not a decline in fair value is 
other-than-temporary include:

	•	 the extent and duration for which fair value is less 
than cost

	•	 historical operating performance and financial 
condition of the issuer

	•	 near-term prospects of the issuer and its industry 
based on analysts’ recommendations

	•	 specific events that occurred affecting the issuer, 
including rating downgrades

	•	 the Company’s ability and intent to retain the 
investment for a period of time sufficient to allow 
for a recovery in value.

An investment deemed impaired is written down to 
its estimated net realizable value. Impairment charges 
are included as a realized loss in the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations.

Property/casualty insurance liabilities
Reserves for property/casualty insurance unpaid losses 
and loss adjustment expenses reflect the Company’s 
best estimate of future amounts needed to pay losses 
and related expenses with respect to insured events. 
The process of establishing the liability for property/
casualty unpaid loss and loss adjustment expense 
reserves is a complex process, requiring the use of 
informed judgments and estimates. Reserve estimates 
are based on management’s assessment of known 
facts and circumstances, review of historical settlement 
patterns, estimates of trends in claims frequency and 
severity, legal theories of liability and other factors. 
Variables in the reserve estimation process can be 
affected by both internal and external events, such 
as changes in claims handling procedures, economic 
inflation, legal trends and legislative changes. Many of 
these items are not directly quantifiable, particularly on 
a prospective basis. There may be significant reporting 
lags between the occurrence of the policy event and 
the time it is actually reported to the insurer.

Management reviews reserve estimates on a quarterly 
basis. Product line data is grouped according to 
common characteristics. Multiple estimation methods 
are employed for each product line and product 
coverage combination analyzed at each evaluation 
date. Most estimation methods assume that past 
patterns discernible in the historical data will be 
repeated in the future, absent a significant change 
in pertinent variables. Significant changes, which 
are either known or reasonably projected through 
analysis of internal and external data, are quantified 
in the reserve estimates each quarter. The estimation 
methods chosen are those that are believed to 
produce the most reliable indication at that particular 
evaluation date for the losses being evaluated.

Using multiple estimation methods results in a 
reasonable range of estimates for each product 
line and product coverage combination. The nature 
of the insurance product, number of risk factors, 
pervasiveness of the risk factors across product lines, 
and interaction of risk factors all influence the size of 
the range of reasonable reserve estimates. Whether 
the risk factor is sudden or evolutionary in nature, 
and whether a risk factor is temporary or permanent, 
also influences reserve estimates. The final estimate 
recorded by management is a function of detailed 
analysis of historical trends, which is adjusted as new 
emerging data indicates.

The factors which may potentially cause the greatest 
variation between current reserve estimates and the 
actual future paid amounts are: unforeseen changes in 
statutory or case law altering the amounts to be paid 
on existing claim obligations; new medical procedures 
and/or drugs, which result in costs significantly different 
from the past; and claims patterns on current business 
that differ significantly from historical patterns.
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The Company also performs analyses to evaluate 
the adequacy of past reserves. Using subsequent 
information, the Company performs retrospective 
reserve analyses to test whether previously established 
estimates for reserves were reasonable. See also the 
Financial Condition section herein.

A relatively small percentage change in the estimate of 
net loss reserves would have impacted the Company’s 
operating results. For example, a hypothetical 
1% increase in net loss reserves at December 31, 
2005, would have resulted in a pre-tax charge of 
approximately $2.0 million. The Property and Casualty 
Group’s coverage that has the greatest potential for 
variation is the pre-1986 automobile catastrophic 
injury liability reserve. Automobile no-fault law in 
Pennsylvania before 1986 provided for unlimited 
medical benefits. The estimate of ultimate liabilities for 
these claims is subject to significant judgment due to 
variations in claimant health and mortality over time. At 
December 31, 2005, the range of reasonable estimates 
for reserves related to these claims, net of reinsurance 
recoverables, for both personal and commercial lines is 
from $188.5 million to $443.3 million for the Property 
and Casualty Group. The reserve carried by the 
Property and Casualty Group, which is management’s 
best estimate of this liability at this time, was $262.8 
million at December 31, 2005, which is net of $127.1 
million of anticipated reinsurance recoverables. The 
Company’s property/casualty subsidiaries share of the 
net automobile catastrophic injury liability reserve is 
$14.5 million at December 31, 2005.

Pension and postretirement health benefits
The Company’s pension plan for employees is the 
largest and only funded benefit plan of the Company. 
The Company also provides postretirement medical 
and pharmacy coverage for eligible retired employees 
and eligible dependents. The Company’s pension and 
other postretirement benefit obligations are developed 
from actuarial estimates in accordance with Financial 
Accounting Standard (FAS) 87, “Employers’ Accounting 
for Pensions,” and FAS 106,”Employers’ Accounting 
for Postretirement Benefits Other than Pensions.” The 
Company uses a consulting actuarial firm to develop 
these estimates. As pension and other postretirement 
obligations will ultimately be settled in future periods, 
the determination of annual expense and liabilities 
is subject to estimates and assumptions. With the 
assistance of the consulting actuarial firm, Company 
management reviews these assumptions annually and 
modifies them based on historical experience and 
expected future trends. Changes in the Company’s 
pension and other postretirement benefit obligations 
may occur in the future due to variances in actual 
results from the key assumptions made by Company 
management. At December 31, 2005, the fair market 
value of the pension assets totaled $220.5 million, which 
continues to exceed the accumulated benefit obligation 

of $164.1 million at that date. Unrecognized actuarial 
gains and losses are being recognized over a 16-year 
period, which represents the expected remaining 
service life of the employee group.

Because of the amount of sensitivity in reported 
assets, operating results and financial position, the 
most critical assumptions are the discount rate and 
the expected long-term rate of return. For both the 
pension and other postretirement health benefit plans, 
the discount rate is estimated to reflect the prevailing 
market rate of a portfolio of high-quality fixed-income 
debt instruments that would provide the future cash 
flows needed to pay the projected benefits included 
in the benefit obligations as they become due. In 
determining the discount rate, management engaged 
the Company’s consulting actuarial firm to complete 
a bond-matching study in accordance with guidance 
provided in FAS 87 and FAS 106 and Securities and 
Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletins. The 
study developed a portfolio of non-callable bonds 
rated AA- or better. The cash flows from the bonds 
were matched against the Company’s projected 
benefit payments in the pension plan. This bond-
matching study supported the selection of a 5.75% 
discount rate for the 2006 pension expense. The same 
discount rate was selected for the postretirement 
health benefits. The 2005 expense was based on a 
discount rate assumption of 6.00%. A change of 25 
basis points in the discount rate assumption, with 
other assumptions held constant, would have an 
estimated $2.1 million impact on net pension and 
other postretirement benefit cost in 2006, before 
consideration of reimbursement of affiliates.

The expected long-term rate of return for the pension 
plan represents the average rate of return to be 
earned on plan assets over the period the benefits 
included in the benefit obligation are to be paid. The 
expected long-term rate of return is less susceptible 
to annual revisions as there are typically not significant 
changes in the asset mix. The long-term rate-of-return 
is based on historical long-term returns for asset 
classes included in the pension plan’s target allocation. 
A reasonably possible change of 25 basis points in 
the expected long-term rate of return assumption, 
with other assumptions held constant, would have an 
estimated $.5 million impact on net pension benefit 
cost, before consideration of reimbursement from 
affiliates. Further information on the Company’s 
pension and postretirement benefit plans is provided 
on page 58 in Note 8.

New accounting standards
See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for a discussion of recently issued accounting 
pronouncements.
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Analysis of business segments
Management operations
	 Years ended December 31

(dollars in thousands)	 	 2005	  	  2004	  	  2003

Management  
	 fee revenue	 $	940,274	 $	945,066	 $	878,380

Service  
	agreement 
	 revenue	  	 20,568	  	 21,855	  	 27,127

Total revenue 
	 from  
	management  
	operations		 960,842		 966,921		 905,507

Cost of  
	management  
	operations	  	751,573	  	724,329	  	652,256

Income from 
	management 
	operations	 $	209,269	 $	242,592	 $	253,251

Gross margins	  	 21.8%		  25.1%		  28.0%

Effective  
	management  
	 fee rate	  	23.75%		  23.74%		  24%

Highlights
	•	 Effective management fee rate was 23.75% in 2005 

and 23.74% in 2004

	•	 Direct written premiums of the Property and 
Casualty Group decreased 1.0% in 2005

	 −	Policies in force were 3,759,599 and 3,771,105 
at December 2005 and 2004, respectively, a 
decrease of .3% 

	 −	Year-over-year premium per policy was $1,052 
in 2005 and $1,060 in 2004, a decrease of .7%

	 –	Premium rate decreases resulted in a $9.9 million 
decrease in written premiums in 2005

	•	 Cost of management operations increased 3.8% 
with commission costs increasing 1.6% and costs 
other than commissions increasing 9.8%

	•	 Agent bonuses increased $24.9 million in 2005 
while commercial commission costs decreased 
$17.5 million

	•	 Personnel costs increased $13.4 million, including a 
$3.2 million increase in external contract labor costs

Management fee revenue
Management fees represented 71.6% of the Company’s 
total revenues for 2005 and 73.7% and 74.4% of 
the Company’s total revenues for 2004 and 2003, 
respectively. The management fee rate set by the 
Company’s Board of Directors and the volume of direct 
written premiums of the Property and Casualty Group 
determine the level of management fees. Changes in 
the management fee rate affect the Company’s revenue 
and net income significantly. The management fee rate 
was set at 23.75% in 2005. In 2004, the management 
fee rate was set at 23.5% for the first six months of 
the year and 24.0% for the last six months of the 
year, effectively 23.74% for the year. In 2003, the rate 
was 24%. The Company’s Board of Directors set the 
management fee rate at 24.75% beginning January 1, 
2006. If the management fee rate had been 24.75% in 
2005, management fee revenue would have increased 
$39.6 million, or $.37 per share-diluted.

Management fees are returned to the Exchange when 
policyholders cancel their insurance coverage mid-term 
and unearned premiums are refunded to them. The 
Company maintains an allowance for management 

Management fee revenue by state and line of business
	 For the year ended December 31, 2005 (dollars in thousands)

	 	 	 Private	 	 Commercial	 Workers’	 Commercial	 All other lines	
 	 State	 Total	 passenger auto	 Homeowners	 multi-peril	 compensation	 auto	 of business

Pennsylvania 	 $	430,863	 $	235,183	 $	 70,049	 $	 39,691	 $	 40,712	 $	 30,895	 $	 14,333
Maryland		 118,419		  56,182		  24,974		  9,682		  11,971		  10,436		  5,174
Virginia		  81,913		  30,748		  14,044		  11,394		  12,640		  8,509		  4,578
Ohio		  77,468		  35,530		  16,858		  13,740		  0		  6,912		  4,428
North Carolina		  56,447		  21,017		  13,558		  7,063		  4,531		  6,423		  3,855
West Virginia		  45,055		  25,621		  9,064		  4,784		  0		  3,824		  1,762
Indiana		  38,055		  17,597		  10,318		  3,684		  2,084		  2,325		  2,047
New York		  36,942		  16,588		  5,079		  6,396		  3,219		  4,162		  1,498
Illinois		  22,481		  7,836		  4,646		  3,340		  3,462		  1,972		  1,225
Tennessee		  18,365		  5,196		  3,247		  3,907		  2,665		  2,282		  1,068
Wisconsin		   9,701		   4,503	  	 2,278 		  1,158		  600		  517		  645
District of Columbia		  4,065		  947		  655		  888		  1,061		  159		  355
Total	 $	939,774	 $	456,948	 $	174,770	 $	105,727	 $	 82,945	 $	 78,416	 $	 40,968

This table is gross of an allowance for management fees returned on mid-term cancellations and the intersegment elimination of 
management fee revenue.
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fees returned on mid-term policy cancellations that 
recognizes the management fee anticipated to be 
returned to the Exchange based on historical mid-
term cancellation experience. Due to changes in the 
allowance, management fee revenues were increased 
by $.5 million in 2005, compared to being reduced 
by $4.1 million and $3.0 million in 2004 and 2003, 
respectively. The 2005 adjustment reflects a leveling 
off of mid-term cancellations evidenced by policy 
retention ratios of 88.6% at December 31, 2005, 
compared to 88.4% at December 31, 2004. The 
reduction in management fee revenues of $4.1 million 
in 2004 reflected higher cancellations, as anticipated 
with the introduction of segmented pricing, evidenced 
by the decrease in retention ratios from 90.2% at 
December 31, 2003, to 88.4% at December 31, 2004. 
The cash flows of the Company are unaffected by the 
recording of the allowances.

Management fee revenue derived from the direct 
written premiums of the Property and Casualty 
Group, before consideration of the allowance for 
mid-term cancellations, was $939.8 million in 2005, 
compared to $949.2 million in 2004. The direct 
written premiums of the Property and Casualty Group 
were $4.0 billion in 2005 and 2004, reflecting a 1.0% 
decrease, compared to growth of 8.9% in 2004 from 
$3.7 billion in 2003. The decline in growth of direct 
written premiums of the Property and Casualty Group 
in 2004 and the further decrease in 2005 reflects the 
impact of the decline in new policy growth and lower 
average premium per policy partially as a result of 
rate decreases. In 2004, much of the growth resulted 
from offsetting rate increases.

Premium production
The Property and Casualty Group’s premiums produced 
from new business declined as anticipated in 2005. New 
business premiums written in total were $369.0 million 
in 2005, down 7.5% from $399.0 million in 2004, and 
significantly lower than the $501.9 million produced in 
2003. Policy retention ratios stabilized to a 12-month 
moving average of 88.6% in 2005, up slightly from 
88.4% in 2004, after decreasing from 90.2% in 2003.

		  Personal lines—Personal lines new business 
premiums written decreased 12.4% to $246.2 
million in 2005 from $281.0 million in 2004 and 
$333.3 million in 2003. The Property and Casualty 
Group’s largest personal line of business is private 
passenger auto for which new business premiums 
written decreased to $149.1 million in 2005 from 
$177.8 million and $218.2 million in 2004 and 2003, 
respectively. The 12-month moving average policy 
retention ratio for personal lines was 89.1%, 88.8% 
and 90.5% in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. 
The 12-month moving average policy retention ratio 
for private passenger auto was 90.0% in 2005 and 
2004, and 91.6% in 2003.

		  During 2003 and 2004, the Property and Casualty 
Group implemented various initiatives to focus 
on underwriting profitability to control exposure 
growth and improve underwriting risk selection. 

The Company also implemented significant 
rate increases in all lines. In 2005, the Company 
introduced the use of insurance scoring for 
underwriting purposes for private passenger auto 
and homeowners lines of business in all operating 
states, except Maryland. The introduction of the 
pricing segmentation model for personal lines, that 
included insurance scoring, segments policyholders 
into different rate classes based on the associated 
risks, and was a significant change from the 
judgment-based underwriting model previously 
used by the Company. Segmenting policyholders 
into rate classes helps insurers provide a better 
matching of prices and related risks. The short-
term impact of segmented pricing is higher policy 
retention among policyholders realizing either base 
rate decreases or greater discounts, which reduces 
the premium base, and lower policy retention 
among policyholders whose rates rise under the 
new rate plan. The long-term impact should result 
in a more desirable pool of risks contributing to 
improvements in claims severity. Introducing new 
variables into the pricing plan should result in 
improvements in frequency of claims. In the long 
run, the plan results in better risk selection, lower 
loss costs and the ability to offer lower prices to 
consumers and attract the most favorable risks. 
Current personal lines market conditions reflect 
price stabilization, or slightly reducing rate levels. 
It is anticipated that the Property and Casualty 
Group’s 2006 pricing strategy on introducing further 
refinements in personal lines price segmenting will 
contribute to an improved competitive position in 
the marketplace. Many insurers in the property/
casualty industry were impacted by the major 
hurricanes in 2005, which in turn will need to be 
considered in their underwriting, pricing and capital 
allocation decisions in 2006. These decisions may 
affect the pricing environment for personal lines 
insurance in 2006 and beyond. The regions in which 
the Property and Casualty Group operates were not 
impacted by the major hurricanes of 2005.

		  Commercial lines—The commercial lines new 
business premiums written rose 4.0% to $122.3 
million in 2005 from $117.5 million in 2004, which 
had decreased 30.2% from $168.4 million in 2003. 
The 12-month moving average policy retention 
ratio for commercial lines was 85.2%, 85.1% and 
87.3% in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. 
The Property and Casualty Group’s largest 
commercial lines of business, based upon written 
premiums, are commercial auto and workers’ 
compensation. During 2005, the Property and 
Casualty Group implemented initiatives to provide 
more competitive rates for higher quality workers’ 
compensation risks. A more formalized process of 
evaluating workers’ compensation accounts should 
allow a better alignment between rate and risk level 
similar to the pricing segmentation efforts in the 
personal lines.

		  While premiums per policy have decreased, these 
premiums are associated with more preferred risks. 
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Premium rates and rate change impacts
The average premium per policy decreased .7% 
to $1,052 in 2005 from $1,060 in 2004, which had 
increased 8.1% in 2003. The average premium per 
personal lines policy decreased 1.6% while commercial 
lines average premiums increased .6% from 2004. In 
2004, compared to 2003, the average premium per 
personal lines policy increased 8.6% and commercial 
lines average premiums increased 6.9%.

The recent improvement in underwriting results 
afforded the Property and Casualty Group the ability 
to implement rate reductions in 2005 to be more 
price competitive for potential new policyholders 
and improve retention of existing policyholders. 
Significant rate increases had been obtained in 2004 
and 2003 to offset growing loss costs in certain lines. 
The Property and Casualty Group writes one-year 
policies. Consequently, rate actions take 12 months to 
be fully recognized in written premium and 24 months 
to be recognized fully in earned premiums. Since rate 
changes are realized at renewal, it takes 12 months 
to implement a rate change to all policyholders and 
another 12 months to earn the decreased or increased 
premiums in full. As a result, certain rate increases 
approved in 2004 were reflected in written premium 
in 2005 and some rate actions in 2005 will be reflected 
in 2006. The effect of all rate actions in 2005 resulted 
in a net decrease in written premiums of $9.9 million. 
Rate increases accounted for $298.3 million and $208.4 
million in additional written premium for the Property 
and Casualty Group in 2004 and 2003. Management 
continuously evaluates pricing actions and estimates 
that those approved, filed and contemplated for filing 
during 2006 could reduce direct written premiums by 
$96.7 million in 2006. 

		  Personal lines—The private passenger auto 
average premium per policy decreased 1.3% to 
$1,174 in 2005 from $1,190 in 2004, which had 
increased 6.1% from 2003. The homeowners 
average premium per policy decreased .5% to $543 
in 2005 from $546 in 2004, compared to a 17.4% 
increase from $465 in 2003. The most significant 
rate decreases effective in 2005 were in the private 
passenger auto and homeowners lines of business 
in Pennsylvania. The most significant rate decreases 
approved and effective in 2006 are in the private 
passenger auto and homeowners lines of business 
in Pennsylvania and Maryland.

		  In August 2004, the Property and Casualty 
Group implemented insurance scoring for 
underwriting purposes for its private passenger 
auto and homeowners lines of business in most 
of its operating states in response to changing 
competitive market conditions. Insurance scoring 
has also been incorporated, along with other risk 
characteristics, into a rating plan with multiple 
pricing tiers. Segmented pricing provides the 
Property and Casualty Group greater flexibility in 
pricing policies with varying degrees of risk, which 
should result in more competitive rates being 

offered to customers with the most favorable loss 
characteristics. The rating plan with multiple pricing 
tiers was implemented in most states on new 
business in March 2005 and on renewal business in 
April 2005.

		  The Property and Casualty Group has focused 
pricing initiatives to focus on quality growth. 
During July 2005, an 8% rate reduction on 
certain coverages for new private passenger auto 
policyholders with no claims or violations was 
effective in the majority of the states served by 
the Property and Casualty Group. In Tennessee 
and Virginia, this rate reduction for claim-free 
and violation-free policyholders was 6%. Other 
initiatives include discontinuing the surcharge 
placed on permitted drivers and targeting more 
profitable risks through the introduction of new 
rating variables into the pricing segmentation 
model for both auto and homeowners. The 
Property and Casualty Group is also evaluating 
potential new personal lines product extensions 
and enhancements that could be offered as well 
as new coverages, such as identity recovery. Also, 
effective January 1, 2006, additional discounts and 
interactions will be introduced into the pricing plan 
for auto and home, including number of cars and 
drivers in a household, discounts for policyholders 
who buy life insurance and for those who pay 
premiums up front.

		  Commercial lines—The commercial auto average 
premium per policy decreased .3% to $2,781 in 
2005 from $2,790 in 2004, which had increased 
4.2% from 2003. The workers’ compensation 
average premium per policy increased 6.7% to 
$6,212 in 2005 from $5,820 in 2004, which had 
increased 12.8% in 2003. Rate decreases approved 
and effective in 2006 related primarily to these 
two lines of business in Pennsylvania, and for 
commercial auto, Tennessee.

		  As mentioned previously, the Property and Casualty 
Group has been implementing initiatives focused 
on workers’ compensation to better align rate 
and risk levels, control losses and implement 
rate changes. Rate changes became effective in 
November 2005 in the state of Pennsylvania. Rate 
changes for workers’ compensation in all other 
states except Wisconsin are filed to be effective in 
the first half of 2006. The Property and Casualty 
Group is evaluating the potential of expanding its 
penetration of the small business market.

		  All lines—In 2005, the Company appointed 65 new 
agents, compared to 33 new agent appointments 
in 2004. The Company expects 125 new agent 
appointments in 2006. Expanding the size of the 
agency force will contribute to future growth as 
new agents build up their book of business with the 
Property and Casualty Group.
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		  Scheduled and accelerated rate commissions—
Scheduled rate commissions were impacted by a 
1.0% decrease in the direct written premiums of 
the Property and Casualty Group in 2005 and the 
reduction in certain commercial commission rates. 
Commercial commission rate reductions became 
effective January 1, 2005, for premiums collected 
after December 31, 2004, and resulted in a $20.5 
million reduction in scheduled rate commissions 
in 2005.

		  Commission rates were reduced for certain new 
and renewal commercial lines business effective 
January 1, 2005. Thus all premiums collected after 
December 2004 were commissioned at the new 
post-January 1, 2005 rates. Commissions accrued 
at the end of 2004 were reduced by $5.2 million 
related to commissions to be paid in 2005 on 
uncollected 2004 policy premium.

		  Accelerated rate commissions are offered to some 
newly-recruited agents for their initial three years. 
Accelerated commissions were lower in 2005 as new 
agency appointments were curtailed for the latter 
part of 2004, and existing accelerated commission 
contracts expired. The Company slowed agency 
appointments in conjunction with its efforts to 
control exposure growth. Agent appointments 
resumed in 2005, with 65 new agents added, and 
accelerated commissions will begin to increase as 
new agent appointments for 2006 increase.

		  Agent bonuses—Agent bonuses are based on an 
individual agency’s property/casualty underwriting 
profitability over a three-year period. There is 
also a growth component to the bonus, paid only 
if the agency is profitable. The estimate for the 
bonus is modeled on a monthly basis using the 
two prior years actual underwriting data by agency 
combined with the current year-to-date actual data. 
The increase in agent bonuses in 2005 reflects the 
impact of improved underwriting profitability of the 
Property and Casualty Group in 2005 and 2004. The 
bonus for 2003 was lower given the less favorable 
underwriting results in 2003 and 2002.

		  Significant changes to the bonus formula were 
effective January 1, 2004, with the intent of 
rewarding truly profitable agencies. The growth 
component was also added. These changes and 
improved underwriting results in 2004 contributed 
to an increase in 2004 annual agent bonus expense 
of $22.1 million as compared to 2003. Of the 2004 
increase, approximately $5.0 million related to one-
time special transition rules for the new bonus.

		  Other costs of management operations—The 
cost of management operations, excluding 
commission costs, increased 9.8% in 2005 to 
$212.0 million, from $193.1 million in 2004, 
and 8.8% in 2004 from $177.5 million in 2003. 
Personnel-related costs are the second largest 
component in cost of management operations. 
The Company’s personnel costs increased 11.7% 

Service agreement revenue
Service agreement revenue includes service charges 
the Company collects from policyholders for providing 
extended payment terms on policies written by the 
Property and Casualty Group. These service charges are 
fixed dollar amounts per billed installment. Such service 
charges amounted to $20.5 million, $21.1 million and 
$19.9 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The 
Property and Casualty Group is implementing certain 
changes in the service charge amounts to be billed to 
various installment arrangements. The outcome of such 
changes will be dependent upon the mix of installment 
programs selected by policyholders. See Factors That 
May Affect Future Results.

Prior to March 2005, service agreement revenue also 
included service income received from the Exchange as 
compensation for the management and administration 
of voluntary assumed reinsurance from nonaffiliated 
insurers. The Company received a service fee of 6.0% 
of nonaffiliated assumed reinsurance premiums. These 
fees were minimal in 2005 and 2004 as the Exchange 
exited the nonaffiliated assumed reinsurance business 
effective December 31, 2003. Service fees totaled 
$7.2 million on net voluntary nonaffiliated assumed 
reinsurance premiums in 2003.

Cost of management operations
The cost of management operations rose 3.8% to 
$751.6 million in 2005, from $724.3 million in 2004, 
and 11.1 % in 2004, from $652.3 million in 2003. In 
2005, commissions costs rose 1.6% while costs other 
than commissions rose 9.8%. Personnel costs increased 
11.7% in 2005 as a result of staffing levels and pay rate 
increases, as well as external labor costs related to 
information technology projects. The use of insurance 
scoring for the full year of 2005 and for all new and 
renewal business resulted in $3.6 million in additional 
costs in 2005 compared to 2004. Commissions to 
independent agents, which are the largest component 
of the cost of management operations, include 
scheduled commissions earned by independent agents 
on premiums written, accelerated commissions and 
agent bonuses.

	 Years ended December 31

(dollars in thousands)		 2005 	 	  2004 	 	 2003

Scheduled and 
	accelerated  
	 rate 
	 commissions	  $	 466,064	  $	 486,860	 $	 452,245

Agent  
	bonuses	  	 71,083	  	 46,163		  24,034

Promotional  
	 incentives	  	 1,792	  	 175		  361

Commission effect 
	 from change in 
	allowance for 
	mid-term policy 
	 cancellations	  	 600	  	 ( 2,000)		  ( 1,900)

	Total  
		  commissions	 $	 539,539	  $	 531,198	 $	 474,740
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to $128.7 million in 2005, from $115.3 million in 
2004, and increased 12.1% in 2004, from $102.8 
million in 2003. Contributing to the increase in 
2005 was a 12.2% increase in salaries and wages. 
This increase includes both base pay rate and 
staffing level increases as well as higher costs of 
external contract labor. Costs incurred related 
to external contract labor primarily related to 
information technology projects which increased 
to $6.0 million in 2005 from $2.8 million in 2004.

		  Also contributing to the increase in the cost of 
management operations were the cost of obtaining 
insurance scores on new and renewal personal lines 
business of $4.0 million during 2005. The Company 
began using insurance scoring in the latter half of 
2004 on renewal personal lines business only and 
had incurred $.4 million in 2004 for insurance scores.

Insurance underwriting operations

	 Years ended December 31

(dollars in thousands)	 2005 	  2004 	  2003

Premiums earned	  $	215,824	  $	208,202	  $	191,592

Losses and loss  
	adjustment  
	expenses  
	 incurred	  	140,386	  	153,220	  	152,984

Policy acquisition  
	and other  
	underwriting  
	expenses	  	 60,488	  	 59,346	  	 63,549

Total losses and  
	expenses	  	200,874		  212,566	  	216,533

Underwriting 
	 income (loss)	  $	 14,950	  $	 ( 4,364)	  $	( 24,941)

The following table reconciles the underwriting results of the Property and Casualty Group on a statutory 
accounting basis (SAP) to the underwriting results of the Company on a GAAP basis. The two main components 
of insurance underwriting operations are the direct business written by the Property and Casualty Group and the 
assumed reinsurance business. Because the Exchange exited the assumed reinsurance business in 2003, the only 
assumed reinsurance included in 2004 and 2005 is runoff activity. The detail of the Property and Casualty Group 
provides financial data for the direct business and the reinsurance business separately.

Reconciliation of Property and Casualty Group underwriting results to company underwriting results
	 Years ended December 31

(dollars in thousands)	 2005 	  2004 	  2003

Property and Casualty Group insurance	  	
	underwriting operations (SAP basis)		

Direct underwriting results:		

	Direct written premium	 $	 3,956,942	 $	 3,997,330	 $	 3,672,419

	Premium earned		  3,984,648		  3,877,844		  3,460,792

	Loss and loss adjustment expenses incurred		  2,561,504		  2,623,731		  2,808,678

	Policy acquisition and other underwriting expense		  1,100,772		  1,105,028		  1,023,177

	Total losses and expense		  3,662,276		  3,728,759		  3,831,855

Direct underwriting income (loss)		  322,372		  149,085		  ( 371,063)

Nonaffiliated reinsurance underwriting results—net		  49,427		  ( 24,538)		  ( 32,588)

Net underwriting gain (loss) (SAP Basis)		  371,799		  124,547		  ( 403,651)

Erie Indemnity Company insurance	
	underwriting operations (SAP to GAAP basis)	 	

Percent of pool assumed by Company		  5.5%			   5.5%		  5.5%

Company preliminary underwriting income (loss):		

	Direct		  17,730		  8,200		  ( 20,408)

	Nonaffiliated reinsurance		  2,719		  ( 1,350)		  ( 1,793)

Net underwriting gain (loss) (SAP basis)		  20,449		  6,850		  ( 22,201)

Excess-of-loss premiums ceded to the Exchange		  ( 3,262)		  ( 3,628)		  ( 2,530)

Excess-of-loss changes to recoveries under the agreement*		  (2,226)		  ( 7,740)		  6,461

SAP to GAAP adjustments		  (11)		  154		  ( 6,671)

Company underwriting income (loss) (GAAP basis)	 $	 14,950	 $	 ( 4,364)	 $	 ( 24,941)

* The change in the recoverable under the excess-of-loss agreement is an offset to the prior accident year loss development 
included in the loss and loss adjustment expenses reflected in the table.
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	 Years ended December 31

	 	 	 2005 	  2004 	  2003

Company GAAP combined ratio(1)		  93.1		  102.1(3)		  113.0	

P&C Group statutory combined ratio		  90.5		  95.6		  109.5	

P&C Group statutory combined ratio,  
	excluding catastrophes 		  90.0		  93.7		  104.4	

P&C Group adjusted statutory combined ratio(2)		  85.7		  90.1		  103.3	

P&C Group adjusted statutory combined ratio,  
	excluding catastrophes		  85.2		  88.2		  98.2

Loss ratio points from prior accident year reserve 
	development —(redundancy) deficiency—statutory basis	 ( 1.9)		  ( 1.5)		   1.6

Loss ratio points from salvage and subrogation  
	 recoveries collected—statutory basis		  ( 1.5)		  ( 1.5)		  ( 1.5)

	Total loss ratio points from prior accident years— 
		  statutory basis		  ( 3.4)		  ( 3.0)		  0.1

(1)The GAAP combined ratio represents the ratio of losses, loss adjustment, acquisition and other underwriting expenses 
incurred to premiums earned. The GAAP combined ratios of the Company are different than the results of the Property and 
Casualty Group due to certain GAAP adjustments and the effects of the excess-of-loss reinsurance agreement between the 
Company’s property/casualty insurance subsidiaries and the Exchange.

(2)The adjusted statutory combined ratio removes the profit component of the management fee earned by the Company.

(3)For 2004, the less favorable GAAP combined ratio, as compared to the statutory combined ratio, was driven by $7.7 
million of charges recorded by the Company’s property/casualty insurance subsidiaries under the intercompany excess-of-loss 
reinsurance agreement, resulting in a variance of 3.7 GAAP combined ratio points.

Direct underwriting results
	 Years ended December 31

(dollars in thousands)	 2005 	  2004 	  2003

SAP Basis

Property and  
	Casualty  
	Group direct 
	underwriting  
	 income (loss) 	 $	 322,372 	 $	 149,085 	 $	( 371,063)

Percent of pool  
	 assumed by  
	Company 		  5.5% 		  5.5% 		  5.5%

Company direct  
	underwriting  
	 income (loss),  
	before  
	adjustments 	 $ 	 17,730 	 $ 	 8,200 	 $	 ( 20,408)

P&C Group  
	Direct business  
	only combined 
	 ratio	  	91.6% 		 95.4%		 109.8%

Highlights
	•	 Low level of catastrophe losses contributed only 

.5 points to the combined ratio (1.9 points in 2004 
and 5.2 points in 2003). Normalized catastrophes 
for the Property and Casualty Group are 5.0 
combined ratio points

	•	 Favorable development of prior accident years 
improved combined ratio by 1.5 points in 2005; 
however, an increase to the pre-1986 automobile 
catastrophe injury liability reserves contributed 1.2 
points to the combined ratio, resulting in a net 
favorable development of .3 combined ratio points

	•	 Pre-1986 automobile catastrophe injury liability 
reserves were increased in 2005, contributing 
1.2 points to combined ratio, net of estimated 
reinsurance recoverables

The improvement in 2005 and 2004 underwriting 
results on direct business were the result of initiatives 
implemented in 2004 to help offset increased claim 
severity and control exposure growth. Additionally, 
the Property and Casualty Group experienced positive 
development on losses of prior accident years on a 
direct basis of $11.0 million in 2005 and $71.6 million 
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in 2004, compared to adverse development on losses 
of prior accident years of $4.2 million in 2003. While 
still favorable in 2005, the development of the direct 
business prior accident years deteriorated as a result 
of an increase in the pre-1986 automobile catastrophe 
injury liability reserves. The Property and Casualty 
Group increased these reserves by $47 million (net of 
ceded recoveries) as a result of re-estimations on these 
claims during the second half of 2005, which took 
into account updated trends with respect to ongoing 
attendant care costs for claimants. Catastrophe losses 
of the Property and Casualty Group were $21.1 million, 
$73.3 million and $182.7 million in 2005, 2004 and 
2003, respectively.

The 2003 underwriting losses on direct business resulted 
primarily from continued increases in claims severity 
and increased catastrophe losses. Claims severity rose 
in 2003 in certain lines of business at rates much higher 
than general inflation. While loss reserves continued to 
grow in 2004, this growth was a reflection of increases in 
exposure, not deterioration in prior year reserves.

Development of direct loss reserves
The Company’s 5.5% share of the Property and 
Casualty Group’s positive development on losses for 
prior accident years was $0.6 million in 2005, which 
includes the effects of the Company’s share of the 
increase in the automobile catastrophe liability reserve 
of $2.6 million. The Company’s share of positive 
development on losses for prior accident years was 
$3.9 million in 2004, compared to its share of adverse 
development on losses for prior accident years of 
$0.2 million in 2003. The positive development on 
losses of prior accident years in 2005 was experienced 
primarily in the commercial multi-peril and the private 
passenger auto uninsured motorists lines of business. 
In 2004, certain unusual and significant claims emerged 
that related to prior years and were factored into the 
trend analysis for 2005. However, these trends did 
not continue into 2005, which led to an improvement 
in prior accident year loss reserves. The Company 
employed specialty claims units in Pennsylvania to 
focus on uninsured motorists claims to improve claims 
handling and control severity.

The positive development on losses of prior accident 
years in 2004 was experienced primarily in the 
homeowners and commercial multi-peril lines of 
business. Generally, the Company experienced 
improving loss development trends, which were 
reflected in the new estimate of prior year reserves. 
Contributing to the improving loss development on 
prior accident year losses was the implementation of 
new claims tools, such as new property loss estimation 
software, which has helped in controlling property 
claims severity. Additionally, property adjusters 
received extensive third-party training in property 

claims estimating in 2004. Property occurrences make 
up a majority of the claims in the homeowners line of 
business and approximately half of the commercial 
multi-peril claims.

Catastrophe losses
Catastrophes are an inherent risk of the property/
casualty insurance business and can have a material 
impact on the Company’s insurance underwriting 
results. In addressing this risk, the Company employs 
what it believes are reasonable underwriting standards 
and monitors its exposure by geographic region. 
The Property and Casualty Group maintains property 
catastrophe reinsurance coverage from unaffiliated 
insurers (see page 39). The Company’s property/
casualty insurance subsidiaries’ all-lines excess-of-
loss reinsurance agreement with the Exchange was 
purchased to mitigate the effect of catastrophe losses 
on the Company’s financial position. The excess-of-loss 
agreement was not renewed for the 2006 accident 
year due to the proposed pricing for the coverage as 
well as the loss profile of the Property and Casualty 
Group. The Property and Casualty Group maintains 
sufficient property catastrophe coverage from 
unaffiliated reinsurers and no longer participates in 
the assumed reinsurance business, which lowers the 
variability of the underwriting results of the Property 
and Casualty Group.

There was no impact on the Property and Casualty 
Group’s underwriting results from Hurricanes Katrina, 
Rita or Wilma during 2005. During 2005, 2004 and 
2003, the Company’s share of catastrophe losses, 
as defined by the Property and Casualty Group, 
amounted to $1.2 million, $4.0 million and $10.0 
million, respectively. The 2004 catastrophe losses were 
largely driven by Hurricane Ivan, which affected the 
states of North Carolina, Virginia, West Virginia and 
Pennsylvania. The 2003 Property and Casualty Group 
catastrophe losses were primarily due to Hurricane 
Isabel, which affected the states of North Carolina, 
Maryland, Virginia, Pennsylvania and the District of 
Columbia. For the Company, these 2003 catastrophe 
losses were offset with recoveries recorded under the 
intercompany excess-of-loss reinsurance agreement. 
Catastrophe losses in 2005 contributed .5 points to the 
Company’s GAAP combined ratio, compared to 1.9 
points in 2004 and 5.2 points in 2003.
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The Company’s property/casualty insurance subsidiaries’ 
nonaffiliated reinsurance business includes its share 
of the Property and Casualty Group’s voluntary and 
involuntary assumed reinsurance business and ceded 
reinsurance business. The Exchange exited the voluntary 
assumed reinsurance business as of December 31, 2003, 
to allow the Property and Casualty Group to focus on 
its core business and lessen its underwriting exposure. 
In 2005 and 2004, only runoff activity of the assumed 
reinsurance business remains. The effects of the excess-
of-loss reinsurance agreement between the Company’s 
property/casualty insurance subsidiaries and the 
Exchange is also reflected in the reinsurance business 
when looking at the Company’s results on a segment 
basis. The excess-of-loss reinsurance agreement is not 
subject to the intercompany pooling agreement.

Assumed loss reserves related to September 11th
During 2005, the Property and Casualty Group’s 
estimate of assumed loss and loss adjustment expenses 
related to the September 11, 2001, event was reduced 
by $42 million. While the Company’s share of this 
reduction was $2.3 million (see Financial Condition for 
further discussion), this reserve change triggered a $2.2 
million reduction in recoveries due to the Company 
under the aggregate excess-of-loss reinsurance 
agreement for the 2001 accident year. The net effect of 
this World Trade Center reserve activity to the Company 
was a $.1 million reduction in expense in 2005.

Reinsurance underwriting results
	 Years ended December 31

(dollars in thousands)	 2005 	  2004 	  2003

SAP Basis

Company insurance  
	underwriting  
	operations:

	Nonaffiliated  
		  reinsurance	 $ 	 2,719	 $ 	 ( 1,350)	 $	 ( 1,793)

	Affiliated  
		  reinsurance

		  Premiums  
			   ceded to  
			   Exchange		  ( 3,262)		  ( 3,628)		  ( 2,530) 

		  Change to  
			   recoveries  
			   under the  
			   excess-of-loss  
			   agreement		  ( 2,226) 		  ( 7,740) 	  	 6,461

	Affiliated 
		  reinsurance	 $	 ( 5,488)	 $	( 11,368)	 $ 	 3,931

Highlights
	•	 Assumed loss reserves related to September 

11, 2001, were reduced by $42 million of which 
the Company’s share was $2.3 million. Reversal 
of previously recorded recoveries under the 
intercompany excess-of-loss reinsurance agreement 
resulted in no material financial impact

	•	 Termination of the intercompany excess-of-loss 
reinsurance agreement effective December 31, 
2005, for the 2006 accident year

Aggregate excess-of-loss reinsurance agreement
(Charges) Recoveries by accident year are as follows:

 (dollars in thousands)	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Total
	 Calendar	 	  	 Accident year	 	 	 	 (charges)
	 year	  2004	 2003	 2002	 2001	 2000	 1999	  recoveries

	 2005	 $	 0	 $	 0	 $	 0	 $	 ( 1,881)	 $	 41	 $	 (386)	 $	 ( 2,226)
	 2004		  -		  ( 6,012)		  ( 33)		  ( 1,637)		  ( 488)		  430		  ( 7,740)
	 2003	  	 -		  6,012		  ( 1,969)		  2,645		  ( 57)		  ( 170)	  	 6,461
	 2002 		  -		  -		  2,002		  2,176		  2,213		  2,424		  8,815
	 2001 		  -		  -		  -		  6,506		  0		  735		  7,241
	 2000 		  -		  -		  -		  -		  0		  0		  0

 (1)During calendar year 2003, the $6.0 million in recoveries from the 2003 accident year included the recoveries of losses 
incurred from Hurricane Isabel.

(1)
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The charges and recoveries under the excess-of-
loss reinsurance agreement are recorded to the 
Company’s loss and loss adjustment expenses on the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations. Included in 
the 2005 net changes to recoveries under the excess-
of-loss agreement of $2.2 million are charges for 
unexpired accident years of $1.5 million plus charges 
of $.7 million related to the commutations of the 
1999 and 2000 accident years. In accordance with the 
agreement, commutation of an accident year occurs 
five years after the accident year expires. The unpaid 
loss recoverable related to the 1999 accident year of 
$3.4 million was settled in March 2005. The present 
value of the estimated losses from the 1999 accident 
year, or $3.0 million, was settled with the Exchange 
and cash was paid by the Company’s property/casualty 
insurance subsidiaries resulting in a charge to the 
Company of $.4 million.

The $2.0 million unpaid loss recoverable related to the 
2000 accident year was settled in December 2005. 
The present value of these estimated losses from the 
2000 accident year, or $1.7 million, was settled with the 
Exchange by the Company’s property/casualty insurance 
subsidiaries resulting in a charge to the Company of 
$.3 million. Cash payment of the present value of these 
losses will occur in the first quarter of 2006.

The purpose of the excess-of-loss agreement was to 
reduce the variability of earnings and thereby reduce 
the adverse effects on the results of operations of EIC 
and EINY in a given year if the frequency or severity 
of claims were substantially higher than historical 
averages. The Property and Casualty Group did not 
renew the excess-of-loss agreement for the 2006 
accident year. While the excess-of-loss agreement was 
not renewed for 2006, the unexpired accident years 
of 2001 through 2005 will be settled and losses will 
be commuted as the 60-month periods expire. The 
Company has the option of purchasing the coverage 
for future accident year periods.

Policy acquisition and other underwriting expenses
Policy acquisition and other underwriting expenses 
of the Property and Casualty Group include the 
management fee to the Company of $939.8 million, 
$949.2 million and $881.4 million in 2005, 2004 and 
2003, respectively. The amount presented on the 
Company’s Statements of Operations as management 
fee revenue reflects the elimination of intercompany 
management fee revenue between the Erie Insurance 
Company, the Erie Insurance Company of New York 
and the Company, and the allowance for mid-term 
policy cancellations.

Investment operations

	 Years ended December 31

(dollars in thousands)	 2005 	  2004 	  2003

Net investment 
	 income	  $	 61,555	 $	 60,988	 $	 58,298

Net realized 
	gains on 
	 investments		  15,620		   18,476	  	10,445

Equity in earnings 	  
	of EFL	  	 3,636	  	 5,598	  	 7,429

Equity in earnings  
	 (losses) of limited 
	patnerships		  38,062	  	 8,655	  	( 2,000)

Net revenue from 
	 investment  
	operations	  $	118,873	  $	 93,717	  $	 74,172

Highlights
	•	 Equity on earnings of limited partnerships increased 

dramatically to $38.1 million in 2005, from $8.7 
million in 2004

	•	 Earnings of limited partnerships reflects a correction 
in accounting for the market value adjustment 
which increased earnings by $10.1 million in 2005

	•	 Funds used to repurchase Company stock 
amounted to $99.0 million in 2005 compared to 
$54.1 million in 2004

Net investment income increased 1.0% in 2005 and 
4.6% in 2004. Included in net investment income are 
primarily interest and dividends on the Company’s 
fixed maturity and equity security portfolios. Net 
investment income in 2005 remained at a comparable 
level to 2004 as the Company continued to repurchase 
shares of its common stock under its three-year stock 
repurchase program, which diverted some available 
funds away from the investment market. The stock 
repurchase program runs from 2004 through 2006. 
Increases in investments in taxable bonds contributed 
to the growth in net investment income in 2004 and 
2003. However, declines in overall market yields 
caused a lower growth rate in 2004 investment income 
compared to 2003.

Net revenue from investment operations increased in 
2004 compared to 2003 largely due to the increase in 
realized gains on investments attributable to the sale 
of common stock securities in conjunction with the 
conversion to the use of external equity managers.

Limited partnership earnings pertain to investments 
in U.S. and foreign private equity, real estate and 
mezzanine debt partnerships. Private equity and 
mezzanine debt limited partnerships generated earnings 
of $20.3 million and $4.3 million in 2005 and 2004, 
respectively, compared to losses of $5.3 million in 2003. 
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Real estate limited partnerships reflected earnings of 
$7.7 million, $4.4 million and $3.3 million in 2005, 2004 
and 2003, respectively. Impairment charges on limited 
partnerships were $1.2 million and $5.0 million in 2004 
and 2003, respectively. The components of equity in 
earnings of limited partnerships, including the valuation 
adjustments to record limited partnerships at fair value, 
for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

(dollars in thousands)	 2005	 2004	 2003

Private equity	 $	 16,732	 $	 2,324	 $	 ( 3,983)

Real estate		  7,657		  4,350		  3,349

Mezzanine debt		  3,530		  1,981		  ( 1,366)

Valuation  
	adjustments	  	 10,143		  0		  0

Total equity in 
	earnings of  
	 limited 
	partnerships	 $	 38,062	 $	 8,655	 $	 ( 2,000)

Valuation adjustments are recorded to reflect the fair 
value of limited partnerships. These adjustments are 
recorded as a component of equity in earnings of 
limited parterships in the Consolidated Statements 
of Operations. The limited partnership market value 
adjustment was previously recorded as a component 
of shareholders’ equity.

The Company’s performance of its fixed maturities and 
equity securities, compared to selected market indices, 
is presented below.

Pre-tax annualized returns
Two years ended December 31, 2005

Fixed maturities—corporate	 3.83%

Fixed maturities—municipal	 2.90

Preferred stock	 5.04

Common stock(1)	 6.58

Other indices:

Lehman Brothers— 
	U.S. Aggregate	 3.38%

S&P 500 Composite Index 	 7.85
(1)Return is net of fees to external managers.

Financial condition
Investments
The Company’s investment strategy takes a 
long-term perspective emphasizing investment 
quality, diversification and superior investment 
returns. Investments are managed on a total return 
approach that focuses on current income and capital 
appreciation. The Company’s investment strategy also 
provides for liquidity to meet the short- and long-term 
commitments of the Company. At December 31, 2005 
and 2004, the Company’s investment portfolio of 
investment-grade bonds, common stock, investment-

grade preferred stock and cash and cash equivalents 
represents 40.3% and 39.4%, respectively, of total 
assets. These investments provide the liquidity the 
Company requires to meet the demands on its funds.

Distribution of investments	
	 Carrying value at December 31

(dollars in thousands)	 2005	 %	 2004	 %

Fixed maturities	 $	 972,210	 70	 $	 974,512	 74

Equity securities: 
	Preferred stock		  170,774	 12		  143,851	 11 
	Common stock		  95,560	 6		  58,843	 4

Limited 
	partnerships		  153,159	 11		  130,464	 10

Real estate  
	mortgage loans	  	 4,885	 1		  5,044	 1

Total investments	$	1,396,588	 100%	 $	1,312,714	 100%

The Company continually reviews the investment 
portfolio to evaluate positions that might incur other-
than-temporary declines in value. For all investment 
holdings, general economic conditions and/or 
conditions specifically affecting the underlying issuer or 
its industry, including downgrades by the major rating 
agencies, are considered in evaluating impairment 
in value. In addition to specific factors, other factors 
considered in the Company’s review of investment 
valuation are the length of time the market value 
is below cost and the amount the market value is 
below cost.

There is a presumption of impairment for common 
equity securities and equity limited partnerships 
when the decline is, in management’s opinion, 
significant and of an extended duration. The Company 
considers market conditions, industry characteristics 
and the fundamental operating results of the issuer 
to determine if sufficient objective evidence exists 
to refute the presumption of impairment. When the 
presumption of impairment is confirmed, the Company 
will recognize an impairment charge to operations. 
Common stock impairments are included in realized 
losses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

For fixed maturity and preferred stock investments, 
the Company individually analyzes all positions with 
emphasis on those that have, in management’s 
opinion, declined significantly below cost. The 
Company considers market conditions, industry 
characteristics and the fundamental operating results 
of the issuer to determine if the decline is due to 
changes in interest rates, changes relating to a 
decline in credit quality, or other issues affecting the 
investment. A charge is recorded in the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations for positions that have 
experienced other-than-temporary impairments due 
to credit quality or other factors, or for which it is not 
the intent of the Company to hold the position until 
recovery has occurred.
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Fixed maturities
Under its investment strategy, the Company maintains a 
fixed maturities portfolio that is of high quality and well 
diversified within each market sector. This investment 
strategy also achieves a balanced maturity schedule in 
order to moderate investment income in the event of 
interest rate declines in a year in which a large amount 
of securities could be redeemed or mature. The fixed 
maturities portfolio is managed with the goal of achieving 
reasonable returns while limiting exposure to risk.

The Company’s fixed maturity investments include 
96.1% of high-quality, marketable bonds and 
redeemable preferred stock, all of which were rated 
at investment-grade levels (above Ba1/BB+) at 
December 31, 2005. Included in this investment-grade 
category are $435.1 million, or 44.8%, of the highest 
quality bonds and redeemable preferred stock rated 
Aaa/AAA or Aa/AA or bonds issued by the United 
States government. Generally, the fixed maturities in 
the Company’s portfolio are rated by external rating 
agencies. If not externally rated, they are rated by 
the Company on a basis consistent with that used by 
the rating agencies. Management classifies all fixed 
maturities as available-for-sale securities, allowing 
the Company to meet its liquidity needs and provide 
greater flexibility for its investment managers to 
appropriately respond to changes in market conditions 
or strategic direction.

Securities classified as available-for-sale are carried 
at market value with unrealized gains and losses net 
of deferred taxes included in shareholders’ equity. At 
December 31, 2005, the net unrealized gain on fixed 
maturities, net of deferred taxes, amounted to $6.4 
million, compared to $22.9 million at December 31, 2004.

Equity securities
The Company’s equity securities consist of common 
stock and nonredeemable preferred stock. Investment 
characteristics of common stock and nonredeemable 
preferred stock differ substantially from one another. 
The Company’s nonredeemable preferred stock 
portfolio provides a source of highly predictable 
current income that is competitive with investment-
grade bonds. Nonredeemable preferred stocks 
generally provide for fixed rates of return that, while 
not guaranteed, resemble fixed income securities and 
are paid before common stock dividends. Common 
stock provides capital appreciation potential within the 
portfolio. Common stock investments inherently provide 
no assurance of producing income because dividends 
are not guaranteed. 

The Company’s equity securities are carried on 
the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
at market value. At December 31, 2005, the net 
unrealized gain on equity securities, net of deferred 
taxes, amounted to $11.0 million, compared to $17.4 
million at December 31, 2004.

Limited partnership investments
The Company’s limited partnership investments 
include U.S. and foreign private equity, real estate and 
mezzanine debt investments. During 2005, limited 
partnership investments increased $22.7 million to 
$153.2 million. Mezzanine debt and real estate limited 
partnerships, which comprise 57.9% of the total limited 
partnerships, produce a more predictable earnings 
stream while private equity limited partnerships, which 
comprise 42.1% of the total limited partnerships, tend 
to provide a less predictable earnings stream but the 
potential for greater long-term returns.

Liabilities
Property/casualty loss reserves
Loss reserves are established to account for the 
estimated ultimate costs of loss and loss adjustment 
expenses for claims that have been reported but not 
yet settled and claims that have been incurred but 
not reported.

Quality* of Fixed Maturities 
Carrying Value at December 31, 2005

Diversification of Fixed Maturities 
Carrying Value at December 31, 2005

*As rated by Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s Investor’s Service, Inc.
(1) Common stock     (2) Nonredeemable preferred stock

Diversification of Equity Securities 
Carrying Value at December 31, 2005

Aaa/AAA....................................... 36%

Aa/AA.............................................  9%

A.................................................... 17%

Baa/BBB........................................ 34%

Ba/BB or lower...............................  4%

Quality* of Fixed Maturities 
Carrying Value at December 31, 2005

Diversification of Fixed Maturities 
Carrying Value at December 31, 2005

*As rated by Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s Investor’s Service, Inc.
(1) Common stock     (2) Nonredeemable preferred stock

Diversification of Equity Securities 
Carrying Value at December 31, 2005

U.S. industrial & misc.................... 37%
Special revenue............................ 20%
States & political subdivisions...... 15%
Foreign.......................................... 11%
Public utilities..................................  7%
Mortgage-backed securities..........  4%
Redeemable preferred stock.........  3%
Other...............................................  3%

Quality* of Fixed Maturities 
Carrying Value at December 31, 2005

Diversification of Fixed Maturities 
Carrying Value at December 31, 2005

*As rated by Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s Investor’s Service, Inc.
(1) Common stock     (2) Nonredeemable preferred stock

Diversification of Equity Securities 
Carrying Value at December 31, 2005

(1) U.S. industrial & misc.............. 23%
(1) �U.S. banks, trusts &  

insurance companies.................  4%
(1) Foreign.......................................  8%
(1) Other..........................................  1%
(2) U.S. industrial & misc.............. 25%
(2) �U.S. banks, trusts &  

insurance companies............... 25%
(2) Public utilities........................... 10%
(2) Foreign.......................................  4%
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Loss and loss adjustment expense reserves are 
presented on the Company’s Statements of Financial 
Position on a gross of reinsurance basis for EIC, 
EINY and EIPC. The property/casualty insurance 
subsidiaries of the Company wrote about 17% of the 
direct property/casualty premiums of the Property 
and Casualty Group in 2005. Under the terms of 
the Property and Casualty Group’s quota share and 
intercompany pooling arrangement, a significant 
portion of these reserve liabilities are recoverable. 
Recoverable amounts are reflected as an asset on 
the Company’s Statements of Financial Position. The 
direct and assumed loss and loss adjustment expense 
reserves by major line of business and the related 
amount recoverable under the intercompany pooling 
arrangement and excess-of-loss reinsurance agreement 
are presented below:

	 As of December 31

(dollars in thousands)	 	 2005	  	 2004

Gross reserve liability		
Personal:		
	Private passenger auto	 $	 413,118	 $	 400,609
	Catastrophic injury 		  123,875		  86,239
	Homeowners		  23,995		  22,798
	Other personal 		  6,978		  6,322
Commercial:		
	Workers’ compensation		  231,858		  216,808
	Commercial auto		  83,688		  78,646
	Commercial multi-peril		  65,891		  63,118
	Catastrophic injury 		  468		  454
	Other commercial		  15,894		  15,288
Reinsurance		  53,694		  52,752
Gross reserves		 1,019,459		  943,034
	Reinsurance recoverables*		  828,447		  765,914
Net reserve liability 	 $	 191,012	 $	 177,120

* Includes $827.1 milllion in 2005 and $765.0 million in 2004 
due from the Exchange.

As discussed previously, loss and loss adjustment 
expense reserves are developed using multiple 
estimation methods that result in a range of estimates 
for each product coverage combination. The estimate 
recorded is a function of detailed analysis of historical 
trends and management expectations of future events 
and trends. The product coverage that has the greatest 
potential for variation is the pre-1986 automobile 
catastrophic injury liability reserve. The range of 
reasonable estimates for the pre-1986 automobile 
catastrophic injury liability reserve, net of reinsurance 
recoverables, for both personal and commercial lines is 
from $188.5 million to $443.3 million for the Property 
and Casualty Group. The reserve carried by the 
Property and Casualty Group, which is management’s 
best estimate of this liability at this time, was $262.8 
million at December 31, 2005, which is net of $127.1 
million of anticipated reinsurance recoverables. The 
reserve carried by the Property and Casualty Group 
at December 31, 2004, was $200.0 million, which 

was net of $95.8 million of anticipated reinsurance 
recoverables. The majority of the increase during 2005 
was the result of higher cost expectations of future 
attendant care services as a result of the settlement of 
class action litigation involving attendant care liabilities. 
The Company’s property/casualty subsidiaries share of 
the net automobile catastrophic injury liability reserve 
is $14.5 million at December 31, 2005.

The potential variability in these reserves can be 
primarily attributed to automobile no-fault claims 
incurred prior to 1986. The automobile no-fault law 
in Pennsylvania at that time provided for unlimited 
medical benefits. There are currently 392 claimants 
requiring lifetime medical care of which 77 involve 
catastrophic injuries. The estimation of ultimate liabilities 
for these claims is subject to significant judgment due to 
variations in claimant health over time.

It is anticipated that these automobile no-fault claims 
will require payments over approximately the next 
40 years. The impact of medical cost inflation in 
future years is a significant variable in estimating this 
liability over 40 years. A 100-basis point change in 
the medical cost inflation assumption would result 
in a change in net liability for the Company of $2.6 
million. Claimants’ future life expectancy is another 
significant variable. The life expectancy assumption 
underlying the estimate reflects experience to date. 
Actual experience, different than that assumed, could 
have a significant impact on the reserve estimate. The 
Company’s share of the automobile catastrophic injury 
claim payments made was $.6 million and $.4 million 
during 2005 and 2004, respectively.

During the third quarter of 2005, the Property and 
Casualty Group re-evaluated its estimate of assumed 
loss and loss adjustment expense reserves estimated 
for the September 11, 2001, event. Based on that 
assessment, the Property and Casualty Group reduced 
its World Trade Center reserves by $42 million as of 
September 2005. The original $150 million estimated 
total loss and loss adjustment expense estimate was 
based on uncertainties, including cedant reserve 
estimates, the potential of retrocessional spirals, 
undeveloped claims and the uncertainty of legal 
actions. As a result of this reserve re-estimate, the 
Property and Casualty Group’s total loss and loss 
adjustment expense estimate for the World Trade 
Center claims are estimated at $107 million. As of 
the third quarter 2005, four years subsequent to the 
date of the event, most of the reported claims have 
been property losses which are short-tailed and have 
developed since 2001 providing more known data. 
Only one claim was identified as being exposed to 
a retrocessional spiral, which results when there are 
multiple levels of reinsurers, and has the potential 
to increase the Company’s obligation. Factoring in 
this loss experience, and a thorough rerview of all 
contracts, supported the reduction in the World 
Trade Center reserve. The most critical factor in the 
estimation of these losses is whether the destruction 
of the World Trade Center Towers will be considered 
a single event or two separate events. The Company 
believes the current reserves should be sufficient to 
absorb the potential development that may occur 
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should the destruction of the World Trade Center 
Towers be considered two separate events. At 
December 2005, the Property and Casualty Group’s 
estimated total loss exposure includes $29 million 
related to the coverage disputes with respect to the 
number of events.

Impact of inflation
Property/casualty insurance premiums are established 
before losses and loss adjustment expenses, and the 
extent to which inflation may impact such expenses are 
known. Consequently, in establishing premium rates, 
the Company attempts to anticipate the potential 
impact of inflation.

Quantitative and qualitative 
disclosures about market risk
The Company is exposed to potential loss from various 
market risks, including changes in interest rates, 
equity prices, foreign currency exchange rate risk and 
credit risk.

Interest rate risk
The Company’s exposure to interest rates is 
concentrated in the fixed maturities portfolio. The fixed 
maturities portfolio comprises 69.6% of invested assets 
at December 31, 2005 and 2004. The Company does 
not hedge its exposure to interest rate risk since it has 
the capacity and intention to hold the fixed maturity 
positions until maturity. The Company calculates the 
duration and convexity of the fixed maturities portfolio 
each month to measure the price sensitivity of the 
portfolio to interest rate changes. Duration measures 
the relative sensitivity of the fair value of an investment 
to changes in interest rates. Convexity measures the 
rate of change of duration with respect to changes in 
interest rates. These factors are analyzed monthly to 
ensure that both the duration and convexity remain in 
the targeted ranges established by management.

Principal cash flows and related weighted-average 
interest rates by expected maturity dates for financial 
instruments sensitive to interest rates are as follows:

	 As of December 31, 2005

	 	 	  Principal 	 Weighted-average	
(dollars in thousands)	 cash flows 	 interest rate

Fixed maturities, including note from EFL:

	 2006 	 $	 83,351 	 5.2%

	 2007 		  61,664 	 5.2

	 2008 		  96,083 	 4.9

	 2009 		  96,015 	 4.8

	 2010		  81,885	 4.8

	 Thereafter		  554,173 	 5.8

	 Total 	 $	 973,171

	 Market value 	 $	 997,210

	 As of December 31, 2004

	 	 	 Principal 	 Weighted-average	
(dollars in thousands)	 cash flows 	 interest rate

Fixed maturities, including notes from EFL:

	 2005 	 $	 59,294 	 5.9%

	 2006 		  76,236 	 4.5

	 2007 		  79,242	  4.6

	 2008 		  100,742 	 4.7

	 2009		  100,834 	 4.9

	 Thereafter		  557,643 	 5.9

	 Total 	 $	 973,991

	 Market value 	 $	1,014,512

Actual cash flows may differ from those stated as a 
result of calls, prepayments or defaults. The Company 
received payment from EFL during December 2005 for 
a $15 million surplus note, due for repayment, resulting 
in only the remaining $25 million surplus note with EFL 
included in the principal cash flows as of December 31, 
2005.

A sensitivity analysis is used to measure the potential 
loss in future earnings, fair values or cash flows of 
market-sensitive instruments resulting from one or 
more selected hypothetical changes in interest rates 
and other market rates or prices over a selected 
period. In the Company’s sensitivity analysis model, a 
hypothetical change in market rates is selected that 
is expected to reflect reasonably possible changes 
in those rates. The following pro forma information 
is presented assuming a 100-basis point increase in 
interest rates at December 31 of each year and reflects 
the estimated effect on the fair value of the Company’s 
fixed maturity investment portfolio. The Company used 
the modified duration of its fixed maturity investment 
portfolio to model the pro forma effect of a change in 
interest rates at December 31, 2005 and 2004.

Fixed maturities interest-rate sensitivity analysis
100-basis point rise in interest rates
	 As of December 31

(dollars in thousands)	 2005 	 2004

Current market value 	 $	 997,210	 $	1,014,512

Change in market value (1)		  ( 35,325)		  ( 37,251)

Pro forma market value	 $	 961,885	 $	 977,261

Modified duration (2)	 3.9	 4.2

(1) �The change in market value is calculated by taking 
the negative of the product obtained by multiplying 
(i) modified duration by (ii) change in interest rates by 
(iii) market value of the portfolio.

(2) �Modified duration is a measure of a portfolio’s sensitivity 
to changes in interest rates. It is interpreted as the 
approximate percentage change in the market value of a 
portfolio for a certain basis point change in interest rates.
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Equity price risk
The Company’s portfolio of marketable equity 
securities, which is carried on the Consolidated 
Statements of Financial Position at estimated fair value, 
has exposure to price risk, the risk of potential loss in 
estimated fair value resulting from an adverse change 
in prices. The Company does not hedge its exposure 
to equity price risk inherent in its equity investments. 
The Company’s objective is to earn competitive 
relative returns by investing in a diverse portfolio of 
high-quality, liquid securities. Portfolio holdings are 
diversified across industries and among exchange 
traded small- to large-cap stocks. The Company 
measures risk by comparing the performance of the 
marketable equity portfolio to benchmark returns such 
as the S&P 500.

The Company’s portfolio of limited partnership 
investments has exposure to market risks, primarily 
relating to the financial performance of the various 
entities in which they invested. The limited partnership 
portfolio comprises 11% of total invested assets 
at December 31, 2005. These investments consist 
primarily of equity and mezzanine investments in small, 
medium and large companies and in real estate. The 
Company achieves diversification within the limited 
partnership portfolio by investing in 88 partnerships 
that have 1,501 distinct investments. The Company 
reviews at least quarterly the limited partnership 
investments by sector, geography and vintage year. 
These limited partnership investments are diversified 
to avoid concentration in a particular industry or 
geographic area. The Company performs extensive 
research prior to investment in these partnerships.

Foreign currency risk
The Company has foreign currency risk in the limited 
partnership and common equity portfolio. The 
limited partnership portfolio includes approximately 
$21.6 million of partnerships that are denominated 
in Euros, $2.6 million denominated in Japanese yen 
and $4.0 million denominated in British pounds 
sterling (pounds). The Company also is exposed 
to foreign currency risk through commitments to 
Euro‑, yen- and pound-denominated partnerships of 
approximately $25.4 million, $14.1million and $1.2 
million, respectively. The foreign currency risk in the 
partnerships and the commitments due, denominated 
in Euros, yens and pounds, are partially offsetting. This 
risk is not hedged, although the Euro, yen and pound 
rates are monitored daily and the Company may 
decide to hedge all or some of the partnership-related 
foreign currency risk at some time in the future. The 
Company has additional foreign currency exposure 
through common stock investments of $13.6 million in 
seven different currencies which are not hedged.

Credit risk
The Company’s objective is to earn competitive returns 
by investing in a diversified portfolio of securities. 
The Company’s portfolios of fixed maturity securities, 
nonredeemable preferred stock, mortgage loans and, 
to a lesser extent, short-term investments are subject 
to credit risk. This risk is defined as the potential loss 
in market value resulting from adverse changes in the 
borrower’s ability to repay the debt. The Company 
manages this risk by performing upfront underwriting 
analysis and ongoing reviews of credit quality by 
position and for the fixed maturity portfolio in total. 
The Company does not hedge the credit risk inherent 
in its fixed maturity investments.

The Company is also exposed to a concentration 
of credit risk with the Exchange. See the section, 
“Transactions and Agreements with Related Parties,” 
for further discussion of this risk.

Liquidity and capital resources
Liquidity
 Liquidity is a measure of an entity’s ability to secure 
enough cash to meet its contractual obligations and 
operating needs. The Company’s major sources of 
funds from operations are the net cash flow generated 
from management operations, the net cash flow from 
Erie Insurance Company’s and Erie Insurance Company 
of New York’s 5.5% participation in the underwriting 
results of the reinsurance pool with the Exchange, and 
investment income from affiliated and nonaffiliated 
investments.

The Company generates sufficient net positive cash 
flow from its operations to fund its commitments 
and build its investment portfolio, thereby increasing 
future investment returns. The Company maintains a 
high degree of liquidity in its investment portfolio in 
the form of readily marketable fixed maturities, equity 
securities and short-term investments. Net cash flows 
provided by operating activities for the years ended 
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, were $301.1 
million, $257.7 million and $246.6 million, respectively.

With respect to the management fee, funds are 
received generally from the Exchange on a premiums-
collected basis. The Company has a receivable 
from the Exchange and affiliates related to the 
management fee receivable from premiums written, 
but not yet collected, as well as the management 
fee receivable on premiums collected in the current 
month. The Company pays nearly all general and 
administrative expenses on behalf of the Exchange and 
other affiliated companies. The Exchange generally 
reimburses the Company for these expenses on a paid 
basis each month.
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Management fee and other cash settlements due at 
December 31 from the Exchange were $194.8 million 
and $207.2 million in 2005 and 2004, respectively. 
A receivable from EFL for cash settlements totaled 
$3.9 million at December 31, 2005, compared to 
$4.3 million at December 31, 2004. The receivable 
due from the Exchange for reinsurance recoverable 
from unpaid loss and loss adjustment expenses 
and unearned premium balances ceded to the 
intercompany reinsurance pool rose 6.7% to $952.7 
million from $893.1 million at December 31, 2005 
and 2004, respectively. This increase is the result 
of corresponding increases in direct loss reserves, 
loss adjustment expense reserves of the Company’s 
property/casualty insurance subsidiaries that are ceded 
to the Exchange under the intercompany pooling 
agreement. Total receivables from the Exchange 
represented 12.7% of the Exchange’s assets at 
December 31, 2005, and 13.3% at December 31, 2004.

Cash flows provided by operating activities were 
positively impacted in 2005 by the reduction in certain 
commercial commission rates, which became effective 
January 1, 2005. Commissions paid during 2005 
decreased $9.2 million compared to 2004. Salaries 
and wages paid during the year increased due to a 
2.9% increase in staffing levels, as well as for external 
contract labor costs. Pension funding and employee 
benefits paid decreased as there was no contribution 
made to the employee pension plan in 2005 compared 
to a $7.7 million contribution in 2004. The Company 
has generally contributed the maximum deductible 
amount to its pension plan for employees under 
IRS Code Section 404(a)(1). In 2005, the maximum 
contribution was zero, therefore no contribution could 
be made by the Company to the plan. The Company 
expects to make a $7.5 million contribution to its 
pension plan in 2006. Payments for agent bonuses 
increased in 2005 as a result of changes in the agent 
bonus program. The Company’s expected agent bonus 
payout in 2006 related to the period ended in 2005 is 
$70.2 million.

Cash used in investing activities in 2005 reflects an 
increase in limited partnership activity. The number 
of limited partnership investments grew to 88 
partnerships at December 2005 from 72 at December 
2004. During 2004, sales of equity securities were 
higher as the Company liquidated certain of its 
internally managed equity securities to allow external 
managers to manage the portfolio. This process was 
completed during 2005. Overall, cash used in investing 
activities is lower than 2004, as some available funds 
were used to repurchase shares of the Company’s 
outstanding common stock during the year.

Proceeds from the sales, calls and maturities of fixed 
maturity positions totaled $348.0 million, $263.4 
million and $359.0 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, 
respectively. The higher sales transactions of fixed 
maturities in 2005 was related to some repositioning of 
the investment portfolio from taxable corporate debt 
securities to tax-exempt municipal bonds.

Dividends paid to shareholders totaled $81.9 million, 
$55.1 million and $49.0 million in 2005, 2004 and 
2003, respectively. As part of its capital management 
activities in 2004, the Company increased its Class A 
shareholder quarterly dividend for 2005 by 51% to 
$.325 per share from $.215 per share. The Class B 
shareholder quarterly dividend was increased from 
$32.25 to $48.75, also a 51% increase. This change in 
dividends increased the Company’s 2005 payout by 
$26.8 million from the prior dividend level. This action 
was approved by the Company’s Board of Directors in 
December 2004 considering, among other factors, the 
Company’s strong financial results, capital levels and 
return on capital targets. Based on the share market 
price at the time of the decision, the new dividend 
results in a dividend yield of about 2.5%. There are no 
regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends to 
the Company’s shareholders, although there are state 
law restrictions on the payment of dividends from the 
Company’s subsidiaries to the Company. The Company 
increased the 2006 dividends by 10.8%.

The Company also continues to use its capital to 
repurchase outstanding shares under its current three-
year, $250 million repurchase plan. The plan allows 
the Company to repurchase up to $250 million of its 
Class A common stock from January 1, 2004, through 
December 31, 2006. In 2005, 1.9 million shares were 
repurchased at a total cost of $99.0 million. The 
Company intends to be active in repurchasing shares 
in 2006; however, the Company is unable to estimate 
the number of shares that will be repurchased during 
a specified period. Approximatelly $97.0 million of 
outstanding repurchase authority remains under the 
plan at December 31, 2005.

On February 21, 2006, the Company’s Board of 
Directors approved a continuation of the current stock 
program, allowing the Company to repurchase an 
additional $250 million of its Class A common stock 
through December 31, 2009. 

Contractual obligations
Cash outflows are variable because the fluctuations in 
settlement dates for claims payments vary and cannot 
be predicted with absolute certainty. While volatility in 
claims payments could be significant for the Property 
and Casualty Group, the effect on the Company of this 
volatility is mitigated by the intercompany reinsurance 
pooling arrangement. The exposure for large loss 
payments is also mitigated by the Company’s excess-
of-loss reinsurance agreement with the Exchange. The 
cash flow requirements for claims have not historically 
been significant to the Company’s liquidity. Based 
on a historical 15-year average, about 50% of losses 
and loss adjustment expenses included in the reserve 
are paid out in the subsequent 12-month period 
and approximately 89% is paid out within a five-year 
period. Losses that are paid out after that five-year 
period are comprised of such long-tail lines as workers’ 
compensation and auto bodily injury. Such payments 
are reduced by recoveries under the intercompany 
reinsurance pooling agreement.
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The Company has certain obligations and commitments to make future payments under various contracts. As of 
December 31, 2005, the aggregate obligations were:
	 Payments due by period
	 	 Less than	 1–3	 3–5	
(dollars in thousands)	 Total	 1 year	 years	 years	 Thereafter

Fixed obligations:
Limited partnership commitments	 $	 243,186	 $	 42,947	 $	 74,385	 $	 112,582	 $	 13,272
Other commitments		  40,532		  18,001		  19,556		  2,537		   438
Operating leases—vehicles		  17,353		  5,313		  9,118		  2,922		   0
Operating leases—real estate		  10,203		  3,287		  4,907		  2,009		   0
Operating leases—computer	  	 6,011		  3,145		  2,866		   0		   0
Financing arrangements	  	 860		  385		  475 		   0 		   0
Fixed contractual obligations		  318,145		  73,078		  111,307		  120,050		  13,710
Gross loss and loss expense reserves		 1,019,459		  509,730		  299,721		  99,907		  110,101
Gross contractual obligations	 $	1,337,604	 $	 582,808	 $	 411,028	 $	 219,957	 $	 123,811

Gross contractual obligations net of estimated reinsurance recoverables and reimbursements from affiliates are as 
follows:
	 Payments due by period
	 	 Less than	 1–3	 3–5	
(dollars in thousands)	 Total	 1 year	 years	 years	 Thereafter

Gross contractual obligations	 $	1,337,604	 $	 582,808	 $	 411,028	 $	 219,957	 $	 123,811
Estimated reinsurance recoverables		  827,917		  413,959		  243,408		  81,136		  89,414
Estimated reimbursements from affiliates		  54,983		  21,973		  27,105		  5,565		   340
Net contractual obligations	  $	 454,704	 $	 146,876	 $	 140,515	 $	 133,256	 $	 34,057
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The limited partnership commitments included in 
the table above will be funded as required for capital 
contributions at any time prior to the agreement 
expiration date. The commitment amounts are presented 
using the expiration date as the factor by which to age 
when the amounts are due. At December 31, 2005, 
the total commitment to fund limited partnerships that 
invest in private equity securities is $86.5 million, real 
estate activities $108.7 million and mezzanine debt of 
$48.0 million. The Company expects to have sufficient 
cash flows from operations and from positive cash flows 
generated from existing limited partnership investments 
to meet these partnership commitments.

The other commitments include various agreements 
for service, including such things as computer software, 
telephones, and maintenance. The Company has 
operating leases for 16 of its 23 field offices that are 
operated in the states in which the Property and 
Casualty Group does business and three operating 
leases for warehousing facilities and remote office 
locations. One of the branch locations is leased from 
EFL. The computer operating leases are for computer 
equipment and were entered into in conjunction with 
the Company’s recent technology initiatives. The 
total of these obligations, including the financing 
arrangement, is $75.0 million, of which $55.0 million 
will be reimbursed to the Company from its affiliates.

Not included in the table above are the obligations for 
the Company’s unfunded benefit plans, including the 
Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan (SERP) for its 
executive and senior management and the directors’ 
retirement plan. The recorded accumulated benefit 

obligations for these plans at December 31, 2005, is 
$17.2 million. The Company expects to have sufficient 
cash flows from operations to meet the future benefit 
payments as they become due. See also Footnote 8 in 
the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Off-balance sheet arrangements
Off-balance sheet arrangements include those with 
unconsolidated entities that may have a material 
current or future effect on the financial condition 
or results of operations of the Company, including 
material variable interests in unconsolidated entities 
that conduct certain activities. There are no off-balance 
sheet obligations related to the variable interest the 
Company has in the Exchange. Any liabilities between 
the Exchange and the Company are recorded in the 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position of the 
Company. The Company has no other material off-
balance sheet obligations or guarantees.

Financial ratings
The property/casualty insurers of the Company are rated 
by rating agencies that provide insurance consumers 
with meaningful information on the financial strength 
of insurance entities. Higher ratings generally indicate 
financial stability and a strong ability to pay claims. The 
ratings are generally based upon factors relevant to 
policyholders and are not directed toward return to 
investors. The insurers of the Erie Insurance Group are 
currently rated by A.M. Best Company as follows:

	 Erie Insurance Exchange 	 A+ 
	 Erie Insurance Company 	 A+ 
	 Erie Insurance Property and Casualty Company 	 A+ 



	 Erie Insurance Company of New York 	 A+ 
	 Flagship City Insurance 	 A+ 
	 Erie Family Life Insurance 	 A

According to A.M. Best, a Superior rating (A+) is 
assigned to those companies that, in A.M. Best’s 
opinion, have achieved superior overall performance 
when compared to the standards established by A.M. 
Best and have a superior ability to meet their obligations 
to policyholders over the long term. The A (Excellent) 
rating of EFL continues to affirm its strong financial 
position, indicating that EFL has an excellent ability to 
meet its ongoing obligations to policyholders. By virtue 
of its affiliation with the Property and Casualty Group, 
EFL is typically rated one financial strength rating lower 
than the property/casualty companies by A.M. Best 
Company. The insurers of the Erie Insurance Group are 
also rated by Standard & Poor’s, but this rating is based 
solely on public information. Standard & Poor’s rates 
these insurers Api, “strong.” Financial strength ratings 
continue to be an important factor in evaluating the 
competitive position of insurance companies.

Regulatory risk-based capital
The standard set by the National Association of Insurance 
Commissioners (NAIC) for measuring the solvency of 
insurance companies, referred to as Risk-Based Capital 
(RBC), is a method of measuring the minimum amount 
of capital appropriate for an insurance company to 
support its overall business operations in consideration 
of its size and risk profile. The RBC formula is used by 
state insurance regulators as an early warning tool to 
identify, for the purpose of initiating regulatory action, 
insurance companies that potentially are inadequately 
capitalized. In addition, the formula defines minimum 
capital standards that will supplement the current system 
of low fixed minimum capital and surplus requirements 
on a state-by-state basis. At December 31, 2005, the 
companies comprising the Property and Casualty Group 
all had RBC levels substantially in excess of levels that 
would require regulatory action.

Transactions and agreements with related 
parties
Board oversight
The Company’s Board of Directors (Board) has broad 
oversight responsibility over intercompany relationships 
within Erie Insurance Group. As a consequence, the Board 
must make decisions or take actions that are not solely in 
the interest of the Company’s shareholders, but balance 
these interests in these separate fiduciary duties such as:

	•	 the Company’s Board sets the management fee 
rate paid by the Exchange to the Company,

	•	 the Company’s Board of Directors determines the 
participation percentages of the intercompany 
pooling agreement, and

	•	 the Company’s Board approves the annual 
shareholders’ dividend, and

	•	 the Company’s Board ratifies other significant 
intercompany activity, for example any new cost-
sharing agreements.

If the Board determines that the Exchange’s surplus 
requires strengthening, it could decide to reduce the 
management fee rate, change the Company’s property/
casualty insurance subsidiaries’ intercompany pooling 
participation percentages or reduce the shareholder 
dividends level in any given year. The Board could also 
decide, under such circumstances, that the Company 
should provide capital to the Exchange, although there 
is no legal obligation to do so. The Board, however, 
recognizes that the long-term financial strength of the 
Exchange enures to the benefit of the Company.

The Board of the Company is also the Board for EFL.

Intercompany agreements
Pooling: Members of the Property and Casualty Group 
participate in an intercompany reinsurance pooling 
agreement. Under the pooling agreement, all insurance 
business of the Property and Casualty Group is pooled 
in the Exchange. The Erie Insurance Company and 
Erie Insurance Company of New York share in the 
underwriting results of the reinsurance pool through 
retrocession. Since 1995, the Board of Directors has 
set the allocation of the pooled underwriting results at 
5.0% participation for Erie Insurance Company, 0.5% 
participation for Erie Insurance Company of New York 
and 94.5% participation for the Exchange.

Excess-of-loss reinsurance: From 1997 through 
December 2005, the Company’s property/casualty 
insurance subsidiaries had in effect an all-lines aggregate 
excess-of-loss reinsurance agreement with the Exchange 
which was excluded from the intercompany pooling 
agreement. The excess-of-loss reinsurance agreement 
limited the amount of sustained ultimate net losses 
in any applicable accident year for the Erie Insurance 
Company and Erie Insurance Company of New York. 
Company management set the terms for this excess-of-
loss reinsurance agreement, obtaining third party quotes 
in setting the premium, determining the loss level at 
which the excess agreement becomes effective and the 
portion of ultimate net loss to be retained by each of 
the companies. The Property and Casualty Group did 
not renew this coverage for the 2006 accident year.

Technology development: The Erie Insurance Group 
undertook a program of information technology 
initiatives to develop eCommerce capabilities which 
began in 2001. In connection with this program, 
the Company and the Property and Casualty Group 
entered into a Cost-Sharing Agreement for Information 
Technology Development (“Agreement”). The 
Agreement describes how member companies of 
the Erie Insurance Group share certain costs to be 
incurred for the development and maintenance of new 
Internet-enabled property/casualty agency interface, 
policy administration and customer relationship 
management systems. Costs are shared under the 
Agreement in the same proportion as the underwriting 
results of the Property and Casualty Group are shared. 
The Agreement confers ownership of the certain 
systems being developed under the Agreement to 
the Exchange and grants the Company’s property/
casualty insurance subsidiaries a perpetual right to use 
the system. The financial terms and conditions of the 
Company’s eventual use of the system have not, as yet, 
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been determined, and could have an impact on the 
Company’s future earnings.

Leased property: The Exchange leases certain office 
facilities to the Company on a year-to-year basis. Rents 
are determined considering returns on invested capital 
and building operating and overhead costs. Rental 
costs of shared facilities are allocated based on square 
footage occupied.

Intercompany cost allocation
Company management makes judgments affecting 
the financial condition of the Erie Insurance Group 
companies, including the allocation of shared costs 
between the companies. Management must determine 
that allocations are consistently made in accordance 
with intercompany agreements, the attorney-in-fact 
agreements with the policyholders of the Exchange 
and applicable insurance laws and regulations.

While allocation of costs under these various agreements 
requires management judgment and interpretation, 
such allocations are performed using a consistent 
methodology, which in management’s opinion, adheres 
to the terms and intentions of the underlying agreements.

Intercompany receivables
	 	 Percent	 	 Percent	
	 	 of total	 	 of total	
	 	 Company	 	 Company	
(dollars in thousands)	 2005	 assets	 2004	 assets

Reinsurance 
	 recoverable 
	 from and 
	ceded 
	unearned 
	premiums 
	 to the 
	Exchange	 $	 952,705	 30.7%	 $	 893,137	 29.9%

Other 
	 receivables 
	 from the 
	Exchange 
	and affiliates 
	 (management 
	 fees, costs & 
	 reimbursements)	198,714	 6.4		  211,488	 7.1

Notes 
	 receivable 
	 from EFL		  25,000	 .8		  40,000	 1.3

Total 
	 intercompany 
	 receivables	 $	1,176,419	 37.9%	 $	1,144,625	 38.3%

The Company has significant receivables from the 
Exchange that result in a concentration of credit 
risk. These receivables include unpaid losses and 
unearned premiums ceded to the Exchange under 
the intercompany pooling agreement and from 
management services performed by the Company for 
the Exchange. Credit risks related to the receivables 
from the Exchange are evaluated periodically by 
Company management. Reinsurance contracts do not 
relieve the Company from its primary obligations to 
policyholders if the Exchange were unable to satisfy 

its obligation. The Company collects its reinsurance 
recoverable amount generally within 30 days of actual 
settlement of losses.

The Company also has a receivable from the Exchange 
for management fees and costs paid by the Company 
on behalf of the Exchange. The Company also pays 
certain costs for, and is reimbursed by, EFL. Since the 
Company’s inception, it has collected these amounts 
due from the Exchange and EFL in a timely manner 
(generally within 120 days).

The Company has a surplus note for $25 million with 
EFL that is payable on demand on or after December 
31, 2018. A second surplus note for $15 million was 
repaid by EFL to the Company on December 30, 2005. 
EFL paid interest to the Company on the surplus notes 
totaling $2.7 million in both 2005 and 2004 and $1.6 
million during 2003. No other interest is charged or 
received on these intercompany balances due to the 
timely settlement terms and nature of the items.

Factors that may affect future results
Financial condition of the Exchange
The Company has a direct interest in the financial 
condition of the Exchange because management fee 
revenues are based on the direct written premiums 
of the Exchange and the other members of the 
Property and Casualty Group. Additionally, the 
Company participates in the underwriting results of 
the Exchange through the pooling arrangement in 
which the Company’s insurance subsidiaries have 5.5% 
participation. A concentration of credit risk exists 
related to the unsecured receivables due from the 
Exchange for certain fees, costs and reimbursements.

To the extent that the Exchange incurs underwriting 
losses or investment losses resulting from declines in 
the value of its marketable securities, the Exchange’s 
policyholders’ surplus would be adversely affected. 
If the surplus of the Exchange were to decline 
significantly from its current level, the Property and 
Casualty Group could find it more difficult to retain 
its existing business and attract new business. A 
decline in the business of the Property and Casualty 
Group would have an adverse effect on the amount 
of the management fees the Company receives and 
the underwriting results of the Property and Casualty 
Group in which the Company has 5.5% participation. 
In addition, a decline in the surplus of the Exchange 
from its current level would make it more likely that the 
management fee rate would be reduced.

Insurance premium rate actions
The changes in premiums written attributable to rate 
changes of the Property and Casualty Group directly 
affects underwriting profitability of the Property and 
Casualty Group, the Exchange and the Company. 
In 2005, the industry trend has been for insurers to 
maintain or reduce rate levels. Rate reductions have 
been implemented and additional reductions are being 
sought by the Property and Casualty Group in 2006 
to recognize improved underwriting results and to be 
more price competitive. Pricing actions contemplated 
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or taken by the Property and Casualty Group are 
subject to various regulatory requirements of the 
states in which these insurers operate. The pricing 
actions already implemented, or to be implemented 
through 2006, will also have an effect on the market 
competitiveness of the Property and Casualty Group’s 
insurance products. Such pricing actions, and those of 
competitors, could affect the ability of the Company’s 
agents to sell and/or renew business. Management 
estimates that pricing actions approved, contemplated 
or filing and awaiting approval through 2005, could 
reduce premium for the Property and Casualty Group 
by $96.7 million in 2006.

The Property and Casualty Group continues refining its 
pricing segmentation model for private passenger auto 
and homeowners lines of business. The new rating plan 
includes significantly more pricing segments than the 
former plan, providing the Company greater flexibility 
in pricing for policyholders with varying degrees of risk. 
Insurance scoring is among the most significant risk 
factors the Company has recently incorporated into 
the rating plan. Refining pricing segmentation should 
enable the Company to provide more competitive 
rates to policyholders with varying risk characteristics, 
as risks can be more accurately priced over time.

The continued introduction of new pricing variables 
could impact retention of existing policyholders and 
could affect the Property and Casualty Group’s ability 
to attract new policyholders.

Policy growth
Premium levels attributable to growth in policies in 
force of the Property and Casualty Group directly 
affects the profitability of management operations 
of the Company. The recent focus on underwriting 
discipline and implementation of the new rate 
classification plan through the pricing segmentation 
model have resulted in a reduction in new policy sales 
and policy retention ratios, as expected. The continued 
growth of the policy base of the Property and Casualty 
Group is dependent upon its ability to retain existing 
and attract new policyholders. A lack of new policy 
growth or the inability to retain existing customers 
could have an adverse effect on the growth of 
premium levels for the Property and Casualty Group.

Premium service charges
Effective for policies renewing on or after January 
1, 2006, paid in installments, the service charge 
assessed policyholders will increase from $3 to $5 
per installment. Also effective for policies renewing 
on or after January 1, 2006, paid using the direct 
debit payment method, the service charges will be 
eliminated. The financial impact this will have on the 
Company cannot be determined since the payment 
plan policyholders will choose cannot be predicted. 
However, if the number and mix of policyholders 
currently using the installment plans and the direct 
debit program were to remain the same, premium 
service charges would increase approximately $7.5 
million in 2006, and $13 million on an annual basis 
once fully realized in subsequent years.

Catastrophe losses
The Property and Casualty Group conducts business in 
11 states and the District of Columbia, primarily in the 
mid-Atlantic, midwestern and southeastern portions of 
the United States. A substantial portion of the business 
is private passenger and commercial automobile, 
homeowners and workers’ compensation insurance in 
Ohio, Maryland, Virginia and, particularly, Pennsylvania. 
As a result, a single catastrophe occurrence or 
destructive weather pattern could materially adversely 
affect the results of operations and surplus position 
of the members of the Property and Casualty Group. 
Common catastrophe events include severe winter 
storms, hurricanes, earthquakes, tornadoes, wind and 
hail storms. In its homeowners line of insurance, the 
Property and Casualty Group is particularly exposed to 
an Atlantic hurricane, which might strike the states of 
North Carolina, Maryland, Virginia and Pennsylvania. 
The Property and Casualty Group maintains a 
property catastrophe reinsurance treaty to mitigate 
the future potential catastrophe loss exposure. The 
property catastrophe reinsurance coverage in 2005 
provided coverage of up to 95% of a loss of $400 
million in excess of the Property and Casualty Group’s 
loss retention of $200 million per occurrence. This 
agreement was renewed for 2006 under the terms 
of coverage of up to 95% of a loss of $400 million 
in excess of the Property and Casualty Group’s loss 
retention of $300 million per occurrence.

Incurred But Not Reported (IBNR) losses
The Property and Casualty Group is exposed to new 
claims on previously closed files and to larger than 
historical settlements on pending and unreported 
claims. The Company is exposed to increased losses 
by virtue of its 5.5% participation in the intercompany 
reinsurance pooling agreement with the Exchange. 
The Company exercises professional diligence to 
establish reserves at the end of each period that 
are fully reflective of the ultimate value of all claims 
incurred. However, these reserves are, by their 
nature, only estimates and cannot be established with 
absolute certainty.

The product coverage that has the greatest potential 
for variation is the pre-1986 automobile catastrophic 
injury liability reserve, as automobile no-fault law 
in Pennsylvania at that time provided for unlimited 
medical benefits. The estimation of ultimate liabilities 
for these claims is subject to significant judgment due 
to variations in claimant health and mortality over time. 
Actual experience, different than that assumed, could 
have a significant impact on the reserve estimates.

Information technology development
A comprehensive program of eCommerce initiatives 
being undertaken by the Erie Insurance Group 
began in 2001. Early in the program, substantial 
advancements in the organization’s internal 
infrastructure were put in place, providing the enabling 
foundation for implementing advanced technology, 
including operating environments and Web-based 
applications.
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ErieConnection®, the central policy administration and 
agent interface application under development in the 
eCommerce program, has not progressed as originally 
expected. Development costs have substantially 
exceeded estimates made in 2002. Target delivery 
dates established in 2002 have generally not been 
met. While functional as a personal lines rating and 
policy administration system, the agency interface 
component of ErieConnection® has generally not met 
the Company’s or agents’ expectations for ease of 
use. The Company has postponed further deployment 
of the system until such usability issues are resolved. 
Estimates of the costs for alternative approaches to 
improve the agency interface for ease of use needed 
to facilitate future deployment and the timetable for 
deployment continue to be analyzed and developed.
Through December 31, 2005, the total costs incurred 
for the development of the ErieConnection® 
application amounted to approximately $100 million. 
This amount includes approximately $10 million related 
to the development of an alternative agent interface 
approach which has been abandoned.

During 2005, all independent agencies were migrated 
to a common, Windows XP-based agency interface 
platform called DSpro®. Previously, many agencies 
interfaced with the Company utilizing a DOS-based 
platform that was commercially unsupportable, while 
some were on the Windows XP platform. While this 
more stable Windows XP platform does not interface 
to ErieConnection®, this migration mitigated the risk 
of business interruption posed by the DOS system and 
gives the Company the time necessary to thoroughly 
research and plan for its future interface development 
and rollout strategy using ErieConnection®. In the first 
quarter 2006, the Company is implementing broadband 
connectivity with most agencies through DSpro®.

Since the substantial majority of the costs for 
program development are borne by the Exchange, 
the Company’s operating results are not expected 
to be materially impacted in the near term by 
ErieConnection® development decisions. However, 
the financial terms and conditions of the Company’s 
eventual use of the ErieConnection®  system have 
not, as yet, been determined, and could have an 
impact on the company’s future earnings. In addition, 
the Property and Casualty Group’s ability to attract 
new policyholders, which bears significantly on the 
Company’s management fee revenue, is directly 
influenced by the Company’s independent agent 
decisions to place business with the Property and 
Casualty Group. To the extent that technological 
capabilities of alternative carriers represented by 
the Company’s agents are greater than those of 
the Property and Casualty Group, the Property and 
Casualty Group’s sales could be adversely affected, 
thereby reducing the Company’s management fee. 

It is also possible that the development of the 
ErieConnection®  system could be abandoned, which 
would require a charge to the Company’s earnings of 
$2.0 million.

Terrorism
The Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002, which 
established a federal program for commercial/property 
casualty losses resulting from foreign acts of terrorism, 
originally scheduled to expire on December 31, 2005, 
was extended through December 31, 2007. The Act 
continues to require commercial insurers to make 
terrorism coverage available for commercial property/
casualty losses, including workers’ compensation. 
Commercial auto, burglary/theft, surety, professional 
liability and farmowners multiple-peril are no longer 
included in the program. Industry deductible levels 
were increased and an “event trigger” was added 
providing that in the case of a certified act of 
terrorism occurring after March 31, 2006, no federal 
compensation shall be paid by the Secretary of 
Treasury unless aggregate industry losses exceed $50 
million for the rest of 2006 and $100 million in 2007. 
The federal government will pay 90% of covered 
terrorism losses above insurer retention levels in 2006 
and 85% of covered terrorism losses in 2007. 

The Erie Insurance Group is continuing to take the 
steps necessary to comply with the Act by providing 
notices to commercial policyholders disclosing the 
premium, if any, attributable to coverage for acts of 
terrorism, as defined in the Act, and disclosing federal 
participation in payment of terrorism losses. Terrorism 
coverage is not excluded under the majority of the 
Property and Casualty Group commercial property/
casualty policies. Other than workers’ compensation, 
which incur charges consistent with state law, 
premium charges for terrorism coverage are currently 
applied only for a small number of new and renewal 
commercial policies where deemed appropriate 
based upon individual risk factors and characteristics. 
Appropriate disclosure notices are provided in 
accordance with the Act. 

Personal lines are not included under the protection 
of the Act and state regulators have not approved 
exclusions for acts of terrorism on personal lines 
policies. The Property and Casualty Group is exposed 
to terrorism losses for personal lines. While the 
Property and Casualty Group is exposed to terrorism 
losses in commercial lines and workers’ compensation, 
these lines are afforded a limited backstop above 
insurer deductibles for foreign acts of terrorism under 
the federal program. The Property and Casualty Group 
has no personal lines terrorist coverage in place. The 
Property and Casualty Group could incur large losses if 
future terrorism attacks occur. 

“Safe Harbor” Statement Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995: Certain 
forward-looking statements contained herein involve risks and uncertainties. These statements include 
certain discussions relating to management fee revenue, cost of management operations, underwriting, 
premium and investment income volume, business strategies, profitability and business relationships 
and the Company’s other business activities during 2005 and beyond. In some cases, you can identify 
forward-looking statements by terms such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “expect,” 
“plan,” “intend,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “project,” “predict,” “potential” and similar 
expressions. These forward-looking statements reflect the Company’s current views about future 
events, are based on assumptions and are subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties that 
may cause results to differ materially from those anticipated in those statements. Many of the factors 
that will determine future events or achievements are beyond our ability to control or predict.
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	 Years ended December 31

(amounts in thousands)	 2005	 2004	 2003

Policies in force:
	Personal lines	 3,281	 3,297	 3,273
	Commercial lines	 479	 474	 470
	Total policies in force	 3,760	 3,771	 3,743

Policy retention percentages:	 	
	Personal policy retention percentages	 89.1%	 88.8%	 90.5%
	Commercial policy retention percentages	 85.2	 85.1	 87.3
	Total policy retention percentages	 88.6	 88.4	 90.2

The growth rate of policies in force and policy retention trends can impact the Company’s management and 
insurance operating segments. Below is a summary of each by line of business for the Property and Casualty 
Group business.

	 Years ended December 31

	 2005	 2004	 2003

Premiums written as a percent of total by state:
	Pennsylvania	 45.9%	 46.3%	 46.6%

	Maryland	 12.6	 12.4	 12.0
	Virginia	 8.7	 8.3	 8.2
	Ohio	 8.2	 8.6	 8.8
	North Carolina	 6.0	 5.8	 5.9
	West Virginia	 4.8	 4.8	 4.7
	 Indiana	 4.1	 4.3	 4.4
	New York	 3.9	 3.8	 3.8
	 Illinois	 2.4	 2.5	 2.5
	Tennessee	 2.0	 1.9	 1.9
	Wisconsin	 1.0	 0.9	 0.8
	 District of Columbia	 0.4	 0.4	 0.4

	Total direct premiums written	 100.0%	 100.0%	 100.0%

Premiums written by line of business:	 	
	Personal
		  Automobile	 48.6%	 49.7%	 51.1%
		  Homeowners	 18.6	 18.4	 16.8
		  Other	 2.5	 2.4	 2.3
	Total personal	 69.7%	 70.5%	 70.2%
	Commercial
		  Commercial multi-peril	 11.3%	 10.9%	 10.9%
		  Workers’ compensation	 8.8	 8.6	 8.8
		  Automobile	 8.3	 8.2	 8.4
		  Other	 1.9	 1.8	 1.7
	Total commercial	 30.3%	 29.5%	 29.8%

The direct written premiums of the Property and Casualty Group have a direct impact on the Company’s management fee revenue and, 
consequently, the Company’s management operations. Below is a summary of direct written premiums of the Property and Casualty Group by 
state and line of business.

Selected Segment & State Information 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Effectiveness 
of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting of Erie 
Indemnity Company, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f ). Under the supervision and with 

the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted 
an evaluation of the effectiveness of Erie Indemnity Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on the 
framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework, 
management has concluded that Erie Indemnity Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of 
December 31, 2005.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of Erie Indemnity Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2005, has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated 
in their report which is included herein.

	

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders 
Erie Indemnity Company 
Erie, Pennsylvania

We have audited management’s assessment, included in 
the accompanying Report of Management on Internal 

Control Over Financial Reporting, that Erie Indemnity 
Company maintained effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Erie Indemnity 
Company’s management is responsible for maintaining 
effective internal control over financial reporting and for 
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over 
financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial 
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective 
internal control over financial reporting was maintained 

in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an 
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, 
evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating 
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and 
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary 
in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a 
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s 
internal control over financial reporting includes those 
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance 
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the 
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions 
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company 
are being made only in accordance with authorizations 
of management and directors of the company; and (3) 
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely 

Jeffrey A. Ludrof 
President and  
Chief Executive Officer 
February 16, 2006

Philip A. Garcia 
Executive Vice President and  
Chief Financial Officer 
February 16, 2006

Timothy G. NeCastro 
Senior Vice President and  
Controller 
February 16, 2006

Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  
on the Consolidated Financial Statements

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders 
Erie Indemnity Company 
Erie, Pennsylvania

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position of Erie Indemnity Company and 
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ 

equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005. These consolidated financial 
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used 
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We 
believe our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Erie Indemnity Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of their 
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005, in conformity with 
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the Standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the effectiveness of Erie Indemnity Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 
2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 16, 2006, expressed an unqualified 
opinion thereon.

Cleveland, Ohio 
February 16, 2006,  
except for Note 11, as to which the date is February 21, 2006. 

detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of 
the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the 
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over 
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future 
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree 
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Erie Indemnity 
Company maintained effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all 
material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our 
opinion, Erie Indemnity Company maintained, in all material 
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2005, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the consolidated statements of financial position 
of Erie Indemnity Company as of December 31, 2005 and 
2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, 
shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years 
in the period ended December 31, 2005, of Erie Indemnity 
Company and our report dated February 16, 2006, (except 
Note 11, as to which the date is February 21, 2006) expressed 
an unqualified opinion thereon. 

Cleveland, Ohio 
February 16, 2006 
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See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

	 Years ended December 31
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)	 2005	 2004	 2003

Operating revenue
Management fee revenue, net	 $	 888,558	 $	 893,087	 $	 830,069
Premiums earned		  215,824		  208,202		  191,592
Service agreement revenue		  20,568		  21,855		  27,127
	Total operating revenue 	 	 1,124,950	 	 1,123,144	 	 1,048,788

Operating expenses
Cost of management operations		  710,237		  684,491		  616,382
Losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred		  140,385	  	 153,220	  	 152,984
Policy acquisition and other underwriting expenses		  50,109		  47,205		  51,112
	Total operating expenses	 	 900,731	 	 884,916	 	 820,478

Investment income—unaffiliated
Investment income, net of expenses		  61,555		  60,988		  58,298
Net realized gains on investments		  15,620		  18,476		  10,445
Equity in earnings (losses) of limited partnerships		  38,062		  8,655		  ( 2,000)
	Total investment income—unaffiliated	 	 115,237	 	 88,119	 	 66,743
Income before income taxes and equity in 	  
	earnings of Erie Family Life Insurance		  339,456		  326,347		  295,053
Provision for income taxes		  ( 111,733)		  ( 105,140)	  	 (102,237)
Equity in earnings of Erie Family Life  
	 Insurance, net of tax		  3,381		  5,206		  6,909

	Net income	 $	 231,104	 $	 226,413	 $	 199,725
	Net income per share—basic
	 	 Class A common stock	 $	 3.69	 $	 3.54	 $	 3.09
		 Class B common stock	 $	 558.34	 $	 539.88	 $	 474.19
	Net income per share—diluted	 $	 3.34	 $	 3.21	 $	 2.81
	Weighted average shares outstanding
		 Basic: 
	 	 	 Class A common stock	 	 62,392,860	 	 63,508,873	 	 64,075,506
		 	 Class B common stock	 	 2,843	 	 2,877	 	 2,884
		 Diluted shares	 	 69,293,649	 	 70,492,292	 	 71,094,167

Consolidated Statements of Operations
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As of December 31 (dollars in thousands, except per share data)
Assets	 2005	 2004

Investments
Fixed maturities at fair value  
	 (amortized cost of $962,320 and $939,280, respectively)	 $	  972,210	 $	 974,512
Equity securities at fair value  
	 (cost of $249,440 and $175,860, respectively)		  266,334		  202,694
Limited partnerships   
	 (cost of $141,405 and $116,097, respectively)		  153,159		  130,464
Real estate mortgage loans		  4,885		  5,044
	Total investments	 	1,396,588	 	1,312,714
Cash and cash equivalents		  31,666		  50,061
Accrued investment income		  13,131		  12,480
Premiums receivable from policyholders		  267,632		  275,721
Federal income taxes recoverable		  15,170		  3,331
Reinsurance recoverable from Erie Insurance Exchange on unpaid losses		  827,126		  764,950
Ceded unearned premiums to Erie Insurance Exchange 		  125,579		  128,187
Notes receivable from Erie Family Life Insurance		  25,000		  40,000
Other receivables from Erie Insurance Exchange and affiliates	  	 198,714		  211,488
Reinsurance recoverable from non-affiliates		  1,321		  964
Deferred policy acquisition costs		  16,436		  17,112
Equity in Erie Family Life Insurance		  55,843		  58,728
Securities lending collateral		  30,831		  0
Prepaid pension costs		  38,720		  50,860
Other assets	  	 57,504		  56,208
	 Total assets	 $	3,101,261	 $	2,982,804

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Liabilities
Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses	 $ 	1,019,459	 $	 943,034
Unearned premiums		  454,409		  472,553
Commissions payable and accrued		  200,459		  179,284
Securities lending collateral		  30,831		  0
Accounts payable and accrued expenses		  34,885		  33,016
Deferred executive compensation		  24,447		  19,069
Deferred income taxes		  6,538		  24,122
Dividends payable		  22,172		  20,612
Employee benefit obligations 		  29,459		  24,233
	Total liabilities	 	1,822,659	 	1,715,923

Shareholders’ equity
Capital stock:
	Class A common, stated value $.0292 per share; authorized  
	74,996,930 shares; 67,600,800 and 67,540,800 shares issued,  
	 respectively; 61,162,682 and 62,992,841 shares outstanding, respectively		  1,972		  1,970
	Class B common, convertible at a rate of 2,400 Class A shares for  
	one Class B share; stated value $70 per share; 2,833 and 2,858 shares  
	authorized, issued and outstanding, respectively		  198		  200
Additional paid-in capital		  7,830		  7,830
Accumulated other comprehensive income		  21,681		  58,611
Retained earnings		  1,501,798		  1,354,181
	Total contributed capital and retained earnings		  1,533,479		  1,422,792
Treasury stock, at cost, 6,438,118 and 4,547,959 shares  
	 respectively 		  ( 254,877)		  ( 155,911)
	Total shareholders’ equity	 	1,278,602	 	1,266,881
	Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity	 $	3,101,261	 $	2,982,804

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
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	 Years ended December 31 (dollars in thousands)
	 2005	 2004	 2003

Cash flows from operating activities	
Management fee received	 $	 891,965	 $	 882,893	 $ 	 813,963

Service agreement fee received		  20,334		  21,789		  26,427
Premiums collected		  214,592		  189,904		  193,443
Settlement of commutation received from Exchange 		  3,031		  0		  0
Net investment income received 		  66,274		  64,268		  62,370
Limited partnership distributions 		  71,718		  37,165		  21,266
Dividends received from Erie Family Life Insurance		  1,799		  1,799		  1,717
Salaries and wages paid		  ( 95,408)		  ( 83,263)		  ( 78,586)
Pension funding and employee benefits paid		  ( 10,184)		  ( 21,250)		  ( 30,624)
Commissions paid to agents 		  ( 471,492)		  ( 480,685)		  ( 438,699)
Agents bonuses paid 		  ( 46,883)		  ( 24,163)		  ( 18,436)
General operating expenses paid		  ( 85,333)	  	 ( 80,211)		  ( 70,971)
Losses and loss adjustment expenses paid		  ( 126,314)		  ( 133,466)		  ( 134,365)
Other underwriting and acquisition costs paid		  ( 8,269)		   ( 8,908)		  ( 11,196)
Income taxes paid		  ( 124,749)		   ( 108,127)		  ( 89,692)

	Net cash provided by operating activities	 	 301,081	 	 257,745	 	 246,617

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of investments:

	Fixed maturities		  ( 372,979)	  	 ( 363,232)		   ( 503,859)

	Equity securities		  ( 155,141)		  ( 135,386)		  ( 32,860)

	Limited partnerships		  ( 75,279)		  ( 41,352)		  ( 36,659)

Sales/maturities of investments:

	Fixed maturity sales		  232,617		  140,745		  207,008

	Fixed maturity calls/maturities		  115,422		  122,661		  152,001

	Equity securities		  95,676		  124,008		  52,043

Return on limited partnerships		  6,164		  2,396		  1,848

Purchase of property and equipment		  ( 2,003)		  ( 2,689)		  ( 2,658)

Net collections on agent loans		  1,942	  	 2,023	  	 1,057

	Net cash used in investing activities	 	 ( 153,581)	  	( 150,826)	  	( 162,079)

Cash flows from financing activities
Increase (decrease) in collateral from securities lending		  30,831		  ( 34,879)		  ( 9,037)

Redemption of securities lending collateral 		  ( 30,831)		  34,879		  9,037

Dividends paid to shareholders		  ( 81,929)		  ( 55,120)		  ( 49,021)

Payment of note from Erie Family Life Insurance		  15,000		  0		  0

Issuance of note to Erie Family Life Insurance		  0		  0		  ( 25,000)

Purchase of treasury stock		  ( 98,966)		  ( 54,051)		  0

	Net cash used in financing activities	 	 ( 165,895)	 	 ( 109,171)	 	 ( 74,021)

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents		  ( 18,395)		  ( 2,252)		  10,517

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year	  	 50,061		  52,313		  41,796

	Cash and cash equivalents at end of year	 $	  31,666	 $ 	 50,061	 $	 52,313

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity 
	 (dollars in thousands, except per share data)
	 	 	 	 Accumulated	 	
	 Total	 	 	 other	 Class A	 Class B	
	 shareholders’	 Comprehensive	 Retained	 comprehensive	 common	  common	 Additional	 Treasury	
	 equity	 income	 earnings	 income	 stock	  stock	 paid-in capital 	 stock

Balance, January 1, 2003	 $	 987,372	 	 	 $	1,040,547	$	 38,685	 $	 1,967	 $	 203	 $	 7,830	 $	( 101,860)

Comprehensive income:
	Net income		  199,725	 $	199,725		  199,725
	Unrealized appreciation of  
	  	investments, net of tax		   27,732		  27,732				    27,732
	Minimum pension liability 	  
		  adjustment, net of tax		  ( 15)		  ( 15)				    ( 15)
	Comprehensive income			   $	227,442
Conversion of Class B shares  
	 to Class A shares		  –								        2		  ( 2)				  
Dividends declared:
	Class A $.785 per share		  ( 50,304)				    ( 50,304)
	Class B $117.75 per share		  ( 340)				    ( 340)
Balance, December 31, 2003	 	1,164,170	 	 	 	1,189,628	 	 66,402	 	 1,969	 	 201	 	 7,830	 	( 101,860)

Comprehensive income:
	Net income		  226,413	 $	226,413		  226,413
	Unrealized depreciation of  
	  	investments, net of tax		  ( 7,793)		  ( 7,793)				    ( 7,793)
	Minimum pension liability  
		  adjustment, net of tax		  2		  2				    2
	Comprehensive income			   $	218,622
Purchase of treasury stock		  ( 54,051)														              ( 54,051)
Conversion of Class B shares  
	 to Class A shares		  –								        1		  ( 1)
Dividends declared:
	Class A $.97 per share		  ( 61,442)				    ( 61,442)
	Class B $145.50 per share		  ( 418)				    ( 418)
Balance, December 31, 2004	 	1,266,881	 	 	 	1,354,181	 	 58,611	 	 1,970	 	 200	  	7,830	 	( 155,911)

Comprehensive income:
	Net income	  	 231,104	 $	231,104		  231,104
	Unrealized depreciation of  
	  investments, net of tax		  ( 36,933)		  ( 36,933)				   ( 36,933)
	Minimum pension liability	  
		   adjustment, net of tax		  3		  3				    3
	Comprehensive income			   $	194,174
Purchase of treasury stock		  ( 98,966)														              ( 98,966)
Conversion of Class B shares  
	 to Class A shares		  –								        2		  ( 2)				  
Dividends declared:
	Class A $1.335 per share		  ( 82,918)				    ( 82,918)
	Class B $200.25 per share		  ( 569)				    ( 569)
Balance, December 31, 2005	$	1,278,602	 	 	 $	1,501,798	$	 21,681	 $	 1,972	 $	 198	 $	 7,830	 $	( 254,877)

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Note 1.
Nature of business
Erie Indemnity Company (Company), formed in 1925, 
is the attorney-in-fact for the subscribers of Erie 
Insurance Exchange (Exchange), a reciprocal insurance 
exchange. The Company performs certain services 
for the Exchange relating to the sales, underwriting 
and issuance of policies on behalf of the Exchange 
and earns a management fee for these services. 
The Exchange is a Pennsylvania-domiciled property/
casualty insurer rated A+ (Superior) by A.M. Best. The 
Exchange is the 23rd largest property/casualty insurer 
in the United States based on 2004 net premiums 
written for all lines of business. The Exchange and 
its wholly-owned subsidiary, Flagship City Insurance 
Company (Flagship) and the Company’s wholly-
owned subsidiaries, Erie Insurance Company (EIC), 
Erie Insurance Company of New York (EINY) and the 
Erie Insurance Property and Casualty Company (EIPC), 
comprise the Property and Casualty Group. The 
Property and Casualty Group is a regional insurance 
group operating in 11 midwestern, mid-Atlantic, and 
southeastern states and the District of Columbia. 
The Property and Casualty Group primarily writes 
personal auto insurance, which comprises 48.5% of 
its direct premiums. The Company also owns 21.6% 
of the common stock of the Erie Family Life Insurance 
Company (EFL), an affiliated life insurance company. 
The Company, together with the Property and Casualty 
Group and EFL, operate collectively as the Erie 
Insurance Group (the Group).

Note 2.
Recent accounting pronouncements
In November 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards 
Board (FASB) issued Staff Position (FSP) FAS 115‑1 
and FAS 124-1, “The Meaning of Other-Than-
Temporary Impairment and its Application to Certain 
Investments.” This FSP nullifies the requirements of 
measurement and recognition in paragraphs 10–18 
of Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue 03-1, 
of the same name, carries forward the disclosure 
requirements included in Issue 03-1 and references 
existing other-than-temporary impairment guidance. 
This final FSP is effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2005. The Company had previously 
adopted the disclosure requirements of EITF 03-1, 
which were unchanged by this final FSP. Management 
does not anticipate a change in policy that would 
significantly impact the Company’s financial condition 
or results of operations.

The Accounting Standards Executive Committee 
issued Statement of Position (SOP) 05-1, “Accounting 
by Insurance Enterprises for Deferred Acquisition 
Costs in Connection With Modifications or Exchanges 
of Insurance Contracts,” in September 2005, which is 
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
2006, with earlier adoption encouraged. The SOP 
provides guidance on accounting for deferred 
acquisition costs on internal replacements of insurance 
contracts that are modifications to product features 
that occur by the exchange of a contract for a new 
contract. Insurance contracts issued by the Property 
and Casualty Group include nonintegrated contract 
features as defined in the SOP, or those that provide 
coverage that is underwritten and priced only for that 
incremental insurance coverage and do not result in 
reunderwriting or repricing of other components of 
the contract. Nonintegrated contract features do not 
change the existing base contract and do not require 
further evaluation under the SOP. This SOP has no 
impact on the Company’s financial condition or results 
of operations.

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards (FAS) No. 123(R), 
“Share-Based Payment, an amendment of FASB 
Statements No. 123 and 95.” FAS 123(R) addresses 
the accounting for transactions in which an enterprise 
exchanges its valuable equity instruments for 
employee services. It also addresses transactions in 
which an enterprise incurs liabilities that are based on 
the fair value of the enterprise’s equity instruments or 
that may be settled by the issuance of those equity 
instruments in exchange for employee services. The 
cost of employee services received in exchange for 
equity instruments would be measured based on the 
grant-date fair value of those instruments. That cost 
would be recognized as compensation expense over 
the requisite service period (often the vesting period). 
For employees that become eligible to retire during 
an explicit service period, compensation cost would 
be recognized over the period through the date that 
the employee first becomes eligible to retire and is no 
longer required to provide service to earn the award. 
If vesting of share-based payments accelerates upon 
an employee’s retirement, this should be accrued 
at the date of retirement. Alternatively, an award 
may continue to vest after retirement, even though 
the employee no longer is providing services to the 
employer. FAS 123(R) is effective for periods beginning 
after June 15, 2005. The implementation of FAS 
123(R) will have minimal impact on the Company’s 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows, 
as the Company does not settle the cost of employee 
services through the issuance of equity instruments.

Note 3.
Significant accounting policies
Basis of presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements 
have been prepared in conformity with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) that differ from 
statutory accounting practices prescribed or permitted 
for insurance companies by regulatory authorities. See 
also Note 17.
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Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the 
accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned 
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and 
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 
The 21.6% equity ownership of EFL is not consolidated 
but accounted for under the equity method of 
accounting.

Reclassifications
Certain amounts reported in prior years have been 
reclassified to conform to the current year’s financial 
statement presentation.

Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates.

Investments and cash equivalents
Fixed maturities consist of bonds, notes and 
redeemable preferred stock. Fixed maturities are 
classified as available for sale and are reported at 
fair value, with unrealized investment gains and 
losses, net of income taxes, charged or credited 
directly to shareholders’ equity in accumulated 
other comprehensive income. Market value of fixed 
maturities are determined based upon quoted market 
prices or dealer quotes. If quoted market prices or 
dealer quotes are not available, valuation is based on 
discounted expected cash flows using market rates 
commensurate with the credit quality and maturity 
of the investment. Also included in fixed maturities 
are mortgage-backed securities, which are amortized 
using the constant effective yield method based 
on anticipated prepayments and the estimated 
economic life of the securities. If actual prepayments 
differ significantly from anticipated prepayments, the 
effective yield is recalculated to reflect actual payments 
to date and anticipated future payments. The net 
investment in the security is adjusted to the amount 
that would have existed had the new effective yield 
been applied since the acquisition of the security, with 
the corresponding adjustment included as part of 
investment income.

Equity securities, which include common and 
nonredeemable preferred stocks, are classified as 
available for sale and carried at fair value based on 
quoted market prices. Changes in fair values of equity 
securities, net of income tax, are charged or credited 
directly to shareholders’ equity in accumulated other 
comprehensive income.

Limited partnerships include U.S. and foreign private 
equity, real estate and mezzanine debt investments. 
The private equity limited partnerships invest primarily 
in small- to medium-sized companies. Limited 
partnerships are recorded using the equity method, 
which is the Company’s share of the reported value of 
the partnership.

Realized gains and losses on sales of investments 
are recognized in income based upon specific 
identification of the investments sold on the trade 
date. Interest and dividend income is recorded as 
earned. The amortized cost of debt securities is 
adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of 
discounts to lowest yield. Such amortization is included 
in investment income.

All investments are evaluated monthly for other-than-
temporary impairment loss. Some factors considered 
in evaluating whether or not a decline in fair value is 
other-than-temporary include:

	•	 the extent and duration to which fair value is less 
than cost;

	•	 historical operating performance and financial 
condition of the issuer;

	•	 near term prospects of the issuer and its industry 
based on analysts recommendations;

	•	 specific events that occurred affecting the issuer, 
including a ratings downgrade; and

	•	 the Company’s ability and intent to hold the 
investment for a period of time sufficient to allow 
for a recovery in value.

An investment that is deemed impaired is written 
down to its estimated net realizable value. Impairment 
charges are included as realized losses in the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Securities lending program
The Company engages in securities lending activities 
from which it generates investment income from the 
lending of certain of its investments to other institutions 
for short periods of time. The Company receives 
marketable securities as collateral equal to at least 
102% of the market value of the loaned securities. 
The Company maintains full ownership rights to the 
securities loaned and, accordingly, the loaned securities 
remain classified as investments of the Company.

The Company shares a portion of the interest charged 
on lent securities with the third party custodian 
and the borrowing institution. In accordance with 
FAS 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of 
Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities,” 
the Company recognizes the receipt of the collateral 
held by the third party custodian and the obligation to 
return the collateral on its Consolidated Statements of 
Financial Position.
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Deferred policy acquisition costs
Amounts which vary with, and are primarily related to, 
the production of new and renewal insurance policies, 
primarily commissions, are deferred and amortized 
pro rata over the policy periods in which the related 
premiums are earned. Deferred acquisition costs are 
reviewed to determine if they are recoverable from 
future income, and if not, are charged to expense. 
Future investment income attributable to related 
premiums is taken into account in measuring the 
recoverability of the carrying value of this asset. 
Amortization expense, included in policy acquisition 
and other underwriting expenses, was $34.2 million, 
$34.3 million and $38.6 million in 2005, 2004 and 
2003, respectively.

Insurance liabilities
The liability for losses and loss adjustment expenses 
represent estimated provisions for both reported 
and unreported claims and related expenses. The 
reserves are adjusted regularly based on experience. 
Reserve estimates are based on management’s 
assessment of known facts and circumstances, 
review of historical settlement patterns, estimates 
of trends in claims severity, frequency, legal theories 
of liability and other factors. Multiple estimation 
methods are employed for each product line, which 
results in a range of reasonable estimates for each 
product line. Loss reserves are set at full expected 
cost except for workers’ compensation loss reserves, 
which have been discounted using an interest rate of 
2.5%. Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses 
in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
were reduced by $4.6 million and $4.1 million at 
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, due 
to discounting. The reserves for losses and loss 
adjustment expenses are reported net of receivables 
for salvage and subrogation of $6.7 million at both 
December 31, 2005 and 2004.

The reserve for losses and loss adjustment expenses 
is necessarily based on estimates and, while 
management believes the amount is appropriate, the 
ultimate liability may be more or less than the amounts 
provided. The methods for making such estimates and 
for establishing the resulting liability are continually 
reviewed. The effects of changes in such estimated 
reserves are included in the results of operations in the 
period in which the estimates are changed. Changes in 
the estimated reserves recorded as of period end may 
be material to the result of operations and financial 
condition in future periods.

Reinsurance
Premiums earned and losses and loss adjustment 
expenses incurred are presented net of reinsurance 
activities in the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations. Reinsurance premiums are recognized 
as revenue on a pro-rata basis over the policy term. 
Gross losses and expenses incurred are reduced for 
amounts expected to be recovered under reinsurance 
agreements. Estimated reinsurance recoverables 
and receivables for ceded unearned premiums are 
recorded as assets with liabilities recorded for related 
unpaid losses and expenses and unearned premiums in 
the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. See 
the discussion of the intercompany reinsurance pooling 
arrangement in Note 13.

Recognition of management fee revenue
In exchange for providing sales, underwriting, 
and policy issuance services, the Company earns 
management fees from the Exchange. The 
management fee revenue is calculated as a percentage 
of the direct written premium of the Property and 
Casualty Group. The Exchange issues policies with 
annual terms only. Management fees are recorded 
as revenue upon policy issuance or renewal, as 
substantially all of the services required to be 
performed by the Company have been satisfied at that 
time. Certain activities are performed and related costs 
are incurred by the Company subsequent to policy 
issuance in connection with the services provided to 
the Exchange; however, these activities are deemed to 
be inconsequential and perfunctory.

Although the Company is not required to do so under 
the subscriber’s agreement with the Exchange, it 
forgives the management fee charged the Exchange 
when mid-term policy cancellations occur. The 
Company estimates mid-term policy cancellations and 
records a related allowance which is adjusted quarterly. 
The effect of recording changes in this estimated 
allowance increased the Company’s management fee 
revenue by $.5 million for the year ended December 
31, 2005. Management fee revenue was reduced 
by $4.1 million and $3.0 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, due to 
changes in the allowance.

Recognition of premium revenues and losses
Property and liability premiums are recognized as 
revenue on a pro-rata basis over the policy term. 
Unearned premiums represent the unexpired portion 
of premiums written. Losses and loss adjustment 
expenses are recorded as incurred. Premiums earned 
and losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred are 
reflected net of amounts ceded to the Exchange on 
the Consolidated Statements of Operations. See also 
Note 16.
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Recognition of service agreement revenue
Included in service agreement revenue are service 
charges the Company collects from policyholders for 
providing multiple payment plans on policies written 
by the Property and Casualty Group. Service charges, 
which are flat dollar charges for each installment 
billed beyond the first installment, are recognized as 
revenue when each additional billing is rendered to the 
policyholder.

Prior to March 2005, service agreement revenue also 
included service income received from the Exchange 
as compensation for the management of voluntary 
assumed reinsurance from nonaffiliated insurers. The 
service fee revenue, calculated as 6% of nonaffiliated 
assumed reinsurance premiums written, was 
recognized in the period in which the related premium 
was earned since the Company’s services extended to 
that same period. The Exchange exited the assumed 
reinsurance business effective December 31, 2003. The 
service agreement remained in effect while existing 
contracts expired throughout 2004 and was terminated 
effective March 31, 2005.

Agent bonus estimates
Agent bonuses are based on an individual agency’s 
property/casualty underwriting profitability and also 
include a component for growth in agency current 
and prior two year property/casualty premiums, if 
the agencies are profitable. The estimate for agent 
bonuses, which are based on the performance over 36 
months, is modeled on a monthly basis using actual 
underwriting data by agency for the two prior years 
combined with the current year-to-date actual data 
and projected underwriting data for the remainder 
of the current year. At December 31 of each year, 
the Company uses actual data available and records 
an accrual based on expected payment amount. The 
estimated incurred agent bonus at December 31, 
2005, is $71.1 million. The 2004 and 2003 agent 
bonus amounts incurred were $46.2 million and $24.0 
million, respectively. These costs are included in the 
cost of management operations in the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations.

Income taxes
Provisions for income taxes include deferred taxes 
resulting from changes in cumulative temporary 
differences between the tax basis and financial 
statement basis of assets and liabilities. Deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects 
of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of 
enactment. In the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company 
recorded an adjustment to deferred income taxes to 
recognize future tax obligations which will arise when 
earnings from the Company’s equity investment in 

EFL are distributed. The deferred tax provision was 
computed assuming undistributed earnings of EFL in 
excess of the Company’s basis would be distributed in 
the form of dividends. The one-time non-cash charge 
of $3.2 million to record these deferred taxes reduced 
net income per share-diluted by $.05 in 2003.

Stock-based compensation
The Company has a long-term incentive plan (LTIP) 
from which restricted stock awards are issued to 
executive management that are settled in Company 
stock. The Company does not issue stock, but instead 
purchases stock in the open market to settle these 
obligations. The Company currently applies the FAS 
123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” 
fair value method of accounting for stock-based 
employee awards. Under this method, compensation 
cost is measured at the grant date based on the fair 
value of the award and recognized ratably over the 
three-year performance period. The fair value of the 
restricted stock is measured at the market price of 
a share of the Company’s Class A common stock on 
the grant date. The effects of changes in the stock 
price are recognized as compensation expense over 
the performance period. The LTIP does not include 
an acceleration of vesting clause. Therefore, if an 
employee retired prior to the close of the plan’s three-
year performance period, vesting would cease at the 
end of the year in which they retire.

Note 4.
Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated under the two-
class method which allocates earnings to each class of 
stock based on its dividend rights. Weighted average 
shares used in the Class A basic earnings per share 
calculation were 62.4 million in 2005, 63.5 million in 
2004 and 64.1 million in 2003. Class B shares used in 
the basic earnings per share calculation were 2,843 
shares, 2,877 shares and 2,884 shares in 2005, 2004 
and 2003, respectively. Class B shares are convertible 
into Class A at a conversion ratio of 2,400 to 1. The 
computation of diluted earnings per share reflects the 
effect of potentially dilutive outstanding employee 
stock-based awards under the long-term incentive 
plan. See also Note 9. The total weighted average 
number of Class A equivalent shares outstanding 
(including conversion of Class B shares) was 69.3 
million, 70.5 million and 71.1 million during 2005, 2004 
and 2003, respectively.
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The following table reconciles the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted per-share computations for 
each of the years ended December 31. (See Note 9 for a description of the restricted stock awards not yet vested.)

	 For the years ended December 31
(net income amounts in thousands)	 	 2005	 	 2004	 	 2003

Basic:	
Allocated net income—Class A	 $	 229,517	  $	 224,861	 $	 198,357
Class A shares of common stock		  62,392,860		  63,508,873		  64,075,506
Class A earnings per share—basic	 $	 3.69	 $	 3.54	 $	 3.09
Allocated net income—Class B	 $	 1,587	 $	 1,552	 $	 1,368
Class B shares of common stock		  2,843		  2,877		  2,884
Class B earnings per share—basic	 $	 558.34	 $	 539.88	 $	 474.19

Diluted:	
Net income	 $	 231,104	 $	 226,413	 $	 199,725
Class A shares of common stock		  62,392,860		  63,508,873		  64,075,506
Assumed conversion of class B common stock and  
	 restricted stock awards		  6,900,789		  6,983,419		  7,018,661
Class A shares of common and equivalent shares		  69,293,649		  70,492,292		  71,094,167
Earnings per share—diluted	 $	 3.34	 $	 3.21	 $	 2.81

Note 5.
Investments
The following tables summarize the cost and market value of available-for-sale securities at December 31, 2005 
and 2004:

(in thousands)	 	 Gross 	 Gross 	 	
	 Amortized	 unrealized	 unrealized	 Estimated 	
December 31, 2005	 cost	 gains	 losses 	 fair value

Fixed maturities
U.S. treasuries and government agencies	 $	 9,583	 $	 204	 $	 52	 $	 9,735
States and political subdivisions		  145,528		  1,383		  1,104		  145,807
Special revenue		  195,059		  1,816		  1,130		  195,745
Public utilities		  66,866		  3,077		  334		  69,609
U.S. industrial and miscellaneous		  353,843		  5,889		  4,013 		  355,719
Mortgage-backed securities		  32,251		  788		  413		  32,626
Asset-backed securities		  22,117		  43		  443		  21,717
Foreign 		  106,445		  3,772		  816		  109,401
		  Total bonds		  931,692		  16,972		  8,305		  940,359
Redeemable preferred stock		  30,628		  1,340		  117		  31,851
		  Total fixed maturities		  962,320		  18,312		  8,422		  972,210

Equity securities
Common stock:
	Public utilities		  1,313		  160		  0		  1,473
	U.S. banks, trusts and insurance companies		  10,783		  1,528		  286		  12,025
	U.S. industrial and miscellaneous		  53,713		  8,668		  1,599		  60,782
	Foreign		  18,950		  2,712		  381		  21,281
Nonredeemable preferred stock:
	Public utilities		  26,266		  285		  448		  26,103
	U.S. banks, trusts and insurance companies		  64,632		  2,432		  228		  66,836
	U.S. industrial and miscellaneous		  62,552		  3,523		  464		  65,611
	Foreign		  11,231		  1,033		  41		  12,223
		  Total equity securities	 $	 249,440	 $	 20,341	 $	 3,447	 $	 266,334
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(in thousands)	 	 Gross 	 Gross 	 	
	 Amortized	 unrealized	 unrealized	 Estimated 	
December 31, 2004	 cost	 gains	 losses 	 fair value

Fixed maturities
U.S. treasuries and government agencies	 $	 11,850	 $	 412	 $	 69	 $	 12,193
States and political subdivisions		  80,508		  2,515		  164		  82,859
Special revenue		  125,083		  3,407		  137		  128,353
Public utilities		  66,927		  4,708		  52		  71,583
U.S. industrial and miscellaneous		  429,793		  14,953		  1,669		  443,077
Mortgage-backed securities		  48,504		  772		  390		  48,886
Asset-backed securities		  21,596		  76		  286		  21,386
Foreign 		  125,590		  9,628		  312		  134,906
		  Total bonds		  909,851		  36,471		  3,079		  943,243
Redeemable preferred stock		  29,429		  1,949		  109		  31,269
		  Total fixed maturities		  939,280		  38,420		  3,188		  974,512

Equity securities
Common stock:
	Public utilities		  992		  11		  0		  1,003
	U.S. banks, trusts and insurance companies		  6,197		  2,334		  50		  8,481
	U.S. industrial and miscellaneous		  34,120		  13,136		  171		  47,085
	Foreign		  2,245		  57		  28		  2,274
Nonredeemable preferred stock:
	Public utilities		  21,373		  1,939		  59		  23,253
	U.S. banks, trusts and insurance companies		  43,605		  3,401		  2		  47,004
	U.S. industrial and miscellaneous		  55,096		  4,667		  88		  59,675
	Foreign		  12,232		  1,730		  43		  13,919
		  Total equity securities	 $	 175,860	 $	 27,275	 $	 441	 $	 202,694

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of fixed 
maturities at December 31, 2005, by remaining 
contractual term to maturity, are shown below. 
Mortgage-backed securities are allocated based 
on their stated maturity dates. Actual cash flows 
may differ from those presented as a result of calls, 
prepayments or defaults.

	 Amortized 	 Estimated	
(in thousands) 	 cost 	 fair value

Due in one year or less	 $	 88,040	  $	 87,857
Due after one year through  
	 five years		  334,109		  333,063
Due after five years through  
	 ten years		   351,622		  359,076

Due after ten years		  188,549		  192,214

Total fixed maturities	 $	 962,320	  $	 972,210
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Fixed maturities and equity securities in a gross unrealized loss position are as follows. Data is provided by length 
of time securities were in a gross unrealized loss position:

	 Less than 12 months	  12 months or longer	 Total	

	 Fair	 Unrealized	 Fair	 Unrealized	 Fair	 Unrealized	Number of
(in thousands) 	 value	 losses	 value	 losses	 value	  losses	 holdings

December 31, 2005

Fixed maturities

U.S. treasuries and 
	government agencies	 $	 5,615	 $	 40	 $	 257	 $	 12	 $	 5,872	 $	 52		  7

States and political 
	 subdivisions		  88,553		  907		  5,035		  197		  93,588		  1,104		  40

Special revenue		  108,565		  992		  6,284		  138		  114,849		  1,130		  52

Public utilities		  20,215		  220		  2,877		  114		  23,092		  334		  13

U.S. industrial & 
	miscellaneous		  106,403		  1,766		  68,585		  2,247		  174,988		  4,013		  100

Mortgage-backed securities		  6,889		  92		  12,194		  321		  19,083		  413		  15

Asset-backed securities		   2,903		  97		  12,420		  346		  15,323		  443		  7

Foreign		  21,103		  398		  13,973		  418		  35,076		  816	 	 17

	Total bonds		  360,246		  4,512		  121,625		  3,793		  481,871		  8,305		  251

	Redeemable preferred 
		  stock		  5,018		  117		  0 		  0		  5,018		  117		  1

Total fixed maturities	 	 365,264		  4,629		  121,625		  3,793		  486,889		  8,422		  252

Equity securities

Common stock		  20,858		  2,095		  2,280		  171		  23,138		  2,266		  84

Nonredeemable preferred 
	 stock		  35,567		  764		  8,022	 	 417		  43,589		  1,181		  19

	Total equity securities		  56,425		  2,859		  10,302		  588		  66,727	 	 3,447		  103

	Total fixed maturities and 
		  equity securities	 $	 421,689	 $	 7,488	 $	 131,927	 $	 4,381	 $	 553,616	 $	 11,869		  355
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	 Less than 12 months	  12 months or longer	 Total	

	 Fair	 Unrealized	 Fair	 Unrealized	 Fair	 Unrealized	Number of
(in thousands) 	 value	 losses	 value	 losses	 value	  losses	 holdings

December 31, 2004

Fixed maturities

U.S. treasuries and 
	government agencies	 $	 1,014	 $	 12	 $	 1,934	 $	 57	 $	 2,948	 $	 69		  3

States and political 
	 subdivisions		  15,798		  131		  1,467		  33		  17,265		  164		  8

Special revenue		  19,098		  137		  0 		  0 		  19,098		  137		  7

Public utilities		  11,828		  52		  0		  0		  11,828		  52		  5

U.S. industrial &  
	miscellaneous		  133,339		  1,396		  11,737		  273		  145,076		  1,669		  69

Mortgage-backed securities		  13,879		  200		  7,021		  190		  20,900		  390		  13

Asset-backed securities		  17,700		  277		  918		  8		  18,618		  285		  7

Foreign		  26,156		  215		  1,865		  98	 	 28,021		  313		  13

	Total bonds		  238,812		  2,420		  24,942		  659		  263,754		  3,079		  125

	Redeemable preferred 
		  stock		  3,052		  109		  0		  0		  3,052	 	 109		  1

Total fixed maturities		  241,864		  2,529		  24,942		  659		  266,806		  3,188		  126

Equity securities

Common stock		  12,985		  249		  0		  0		  12,985		  249		  66

Nonredeemable preferred 
	 stock		  17,628	 	 149		  1,352		  43		  18,980		  192		  10

	Total equity securities		  30,613		  398		  1,352	 	 43		  31,965		  441		  76

	Total fixed maturities and 
		  equity securities	 $	 272,477	 $	 2,927	 $	 26,294	 $	 702	 $	 298,771	 $	 3,629		  202

The fixed maturity investments with continuous 
unrealized losses for less than 12 months were 
primarily due to the impact of higher market interest 
rates rather than a decline in credit quality of the 
specific issuers. Of the fixed maturities that are below 
amortized cost for less than 12 months, securities 
that were investment-grade had a fair value of $357.7 
million at December 31, 2005. These fixed maturities 
had unrealized losses as of December 31, 2005, of 
$4.3 million.

The remaining fair value of fixed maturities below 
amortized cost for less than 12 months of $7.6 million 
at December 31, 2005, were non-investment grade 
securities and had unrealized losses of $.4 million. 
Comprising this amount are three issuers, all of which 
were downgraded to non-investment grade credits in 
2005. These three issuers are in the automotive and 

auto financing industries. The Company is monitoring 
the financial condition of these three issuers. An 
impairment charge of $.3 million was recorded for one 
of these securities to write it down to its estimated 
market value in 2005. It is possible that these securities 
may be further impaired resulting in realized losses in 
future periods.

There are $121.6 million in investment-grade fixed 
maturity securities at fair value that at December 31, 
2005, had been below amortized cost for 12 months 
or longer. These fixed maturities had unrealized losses 
as of December 31, 2005, of $3.8 million. All of these 
securities were investment grade at December 31, 
2005. These unrealized losses are due to higher market 
interest rates and greater spread requirements in the 
market in general and are not related to the credit 
quality of specific issuers.
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Investment income net of expenses was generated 
from the following portfolios for the years ended 
December 31 as follows:

(in thousands)	 	  2005	 	  2004	 	 2003

Fixed maturities	 $	 50,222	 $	 49,601	 $	 46,366
Equity securities		  10,847		  10,440		  10,598
Cash equivalents  
	and other	  	 2,113	  	 2,003	  	 2,040
Total investment  
	 income	  	 63,182	  	 62,044	  	 59,004
Less: investment  
	expenses	  	 1,627	  	 1,056	  	 706
Investment income,  
	net of expenses	  $	 61,555	  $	 60,988	  $	 58,298

Following are the components of net realized gains 
on investments as reported in the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations. Included in 2005 gross 
realized losses are impairment charges of $2.9 million 
and $1.6 million related to fixed maturities and equity 
securities, respectively. The fixed maturity impairment 
charges related to bonds in the automotive industry. 
The equity securities that were impaired were in the 
consumer products, automotive and technology 
sectors. There were no impairment charges in 
2004. Included in the 2003 gross realized losses are 
impairment charges of $2.3 million and $3.7 million 
related to fixed maturities and equity securities, 
respectively. The impairment charges related to bonds 
in the financial and retail sectors and charges related to 
equity securities were in the energy sector.

	 Years ended December 31
(in thousands)	 	  2005	 	  2004	 	 2003

Fixed maturities
Gross realized gains	 $	 7,231	 $	 6,855	 $	 15,589
Gross realized losses		  ( 6,097)		  ( 524)		  ( 3,952)
Net realized  
	gains 		  1,134		  6,331	  	  11,637

Equity securities
Gross realized gains   		 19,517		  14,175		  4,602
Gross realized losses		  ( 5,031)		  ( 2,030)		  ( 5,794)
Net realized  
	gains (losses) 		  14,486		  12,145		  ( 1,192)
Net realized gains 
	on investments	 $	 15,620	 $	 18,476	 $	 10,445

Change in difference between fair value and cost of 
investments:

	 Years ended December 31
(in thousands)	 	  2005	 	  2004	 	 2003

Fixed maturities	 $	 ( 25,342)	$	 ( 9,480)	$	 12,520
Equity securities		  ( 9,940)		  ( 10,231)		  18,580
				    ( 35,282)		  ( 19,711)		  31,100
Deferred taxes on 
	unrealized (losses) 
	gains of fixed 
	maturities and 
	equity securities	  	 12,349	  	 6,899	  	( 10,885)
Change in net 
	unrealized (losses) 
	gains	  $	 ( 22,933)	 $	 ( 12,812)	 $	 20,215

Limited partnerships are recorded using the equity 
method. The components of equity in earnings (losses) 
of limited partnerships as reported in the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations for the years ended 
December 31 are as follows:

(in thousands)	 	  2005	 	  2004	 	 2003

Private equity	 $	 16,732	 $	 2,324	 $	 ( 3,983)
Real estate		  7,657		  4,350		  3,349
Mezzanine debt		  3,530		  1,981		  ( 1,366)
Valuation adjustments		 10,143		  0		  0
	Total equity in  
		  earnings (losses)  
		  of limited  
		  partnerships	 $	 38,062	 $	 8,655	  $	 ( 2,000)

During 2005, the Company made a correction to 
its treatment of unrealized gains and losses on 
limited partnerships. This correction resulted in an 
increase to second quarter 2005 pre-tax income 
of $14.2 million, or an increase to net income per 
share-diluted of $.13 to record changes in the fair 
value of limited partnerships to equity in earnings 
or losses of limited partnerships in the Consolidated 
Statement of Operations. The Company had previously 
reflected unrealized gains and losses on limited 
partnerships in shareholders’ equity in accumulated 
other comprehensive income. Included in the pre-tax 
adjustment was $9.4 million of unrealized gains related 
to 2004 and prior years, or $.09 per share-diluted. 
While there was an earnings impact related to this 
adjustment, there was no impact on the Company’s 
shareholders’ equity. 

Impairment charges in which the decline in value of 
limited partnerships is considered other-than-temporary 
by management are included in the related category 
in the table above. Included in the private equity 
partnership net earnings or losses are impairment 
charges of $1.2 million and $5.0 million for 2004 and 
2003, respectively. Included in the 2003 mezzanine 
debt partnership losses is an impairment charge of $2.5 
million from partnerships concentrated in the facility 
resources, textile and food and beverage industries.
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See also Note 19 for investment commitments related 
to partnerships.

The Company participates in a program whereby 
marketable securities from its investment portfolio 
are lent to independent brokers or dealers based on, 
among other things, their creditworthiness in exchange 
for collateral initially equal to at least 102% of the value 
of the securities on loan and is thereafter maintained 
at a minimum of 100% of the market value of the 
securities loaned. The market value of the securities on 
loan to each borrower is monitored daily by the third 
party custodian and the borrower is required to deliver 
additional collateral if the market value of the collateral 
falls below 100% of the market value of the securities 
on loan.

The Company had loaned securities included as part of 
its invested assets with a market value of $30.0 million 
at December 31, 2005. The Company had no loaned 
securities at December 31, 2004. The Company has 
incurred no losses on the securities lending program 
since the program’s inception.

Cash equivalents are principally comprised of 
investments in bank money market funds and 
approximate fair value.

Note 6.
Comprehensive income
The components of changes to comprehensive income 
follow for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands)	 	  2005	 	  2004	 	 2003

Unrealized holding  
	 (losses) gains on  
	 securities arising  
	during period	 $	( 41,199)	 $	 6,487	 $	 53,110
Less: gains included 
	 in net income	  	( 15,620)	  	( 18,476)		 ( 10,445)
Net unrealized  
	holding (losses)  
	gains arising  
	during period		 ( 56,819)	  	( 11,989)		  42,665
Income tax benefit  
	 (liability) related to  
	unrealized gains  
	or losses		  19,886		  4,196		 ( 14,933)
Net (depreciation)  
	 appreciation  
	of investments		 ( 36,933)		  ( 7,793)		  27,732
Minimum pension  
	 liability adjustment  
	 (See Note 8)		  4		  3	  	 ( 23)
Income tax (liability)  
	benefit related to  
	pension adjustment 		  ( 1)	  	 ( 1)	  	 8 
Net minimum pension  
	 liability adjustment		  3		  2		  ( 15)
Change in other  
	 comprehensive  
	 income, net of tax	 $	( 36,930)	$	 ( 7,791)	$	( 27,717)

The components of accumulated other comprehensive 
income, net of tax, as of December 31 are as follows:

(in thousands)	 	 2005	 	 2004
Accumulated net  
	appreciation of investments	 $	 21,720	 $	58,653
Accumulated minimum  
	pension liability adjustment		  ( 39)		  ( 42)
Accumulated other  
	 comprehensive income	 $	 21,681	 $	58,611

Note 7.
Equity in Erie Family Life Insurance
The Company owns 21.6% of EFL’s common shares 
outstanding, which is accounted for using the 
equity method of accounting. EFL is a Pennsylvania-
domiciled life insurance company operating in 10 
states and the District of Columbia. EFL’s undistributed 
earnings accounted for under the equity method and 
included in the Company’s retained earnings as of 
December 31, 2005 and 2004, are $51.6 million and 
$49.9 million, respectively.

The following represents condensed financial 
information for EFL on a U.S. GAAP basis:

	 Years ended December 31
(in thousands)	 	  2005	 	  2004	 	 2003

Revenues	 $	148,876	 $	149,833	 $	 149,973
Benefits and  
	expenses		 124,561		 104,541		  102,668
Income before  
	 income taxes		  24,315		  45,292		  47,305
Net income		  16,539		  29,632		  32,487
Comprehensive  
	 (loss) income		  ( 7,242)		  24,281		  46,313
Dividends paid to  
	 shareholders		  8,316		  8,222		  7,938

	 As of December 31
(in thousands)	 	 2005	 	  2004

Investments	 $	 1,498,099	 $	1,466,579

Total assets		  1,776,360		 1,661,440

Liabilities		  1,520,390		 1,389,912

Accumulated other 
	 comprehensive income		  15,471		  39,252

Total shareholders’ equity		  255,970		  271,528

The Company’s share of EFL’s unrealized appreciation 
of investments, net of tax, reflected in EFL’s 
shareholders’ equity, is $3.3 million and $8.5 million at 
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Dividends 
paid to the Company totaled $1.8 million for the years 
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, and $1.7 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2003.
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Note 8.
Benefit plans
The liabilities for the plans described in this note are 
presented in total for all employees of the Group, 
before allocations to related entities. The gross liability 
for the pension and postretirement benefit plans is 
presented in the Consolidated Statements of Financial 
Position as employee benefit obligations with amounts 
expected to be recovered from the Company’s 
affiliates included in other assets. The remaining 
liabilities not separately presented in this note are 
presented in the Consolidated Statements of Financial 
Position as accounts payable and accrued expenses.

The Company’s pension plans consist of: 1) a 
noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering 
substantially all employees of the Company, 2) an 
unfunded supplemental employee retirement plan 
(SERP) for its executive and senior management and 
3) an unfunded pension plan for certain of its outside 
directors. The pension plans provide benefits to 
covered individuals satisfying certain age and service 
requirements. The defined benefit pension plan 
and SERP provide benefits through a final average 
earnings formula and a percent of average monthly 
compensation formula, respectively. The benefit 
provided under the pension plan for outside directors 

equals the annual retainer fee at the date of retirement. 
The outside directors’ plan has been frozen since 1997.

The Company also provides postretirement health 
benefits in the form of medical and pharmacy health 
plans for eligible retired employees and eligible 
dependents. To be eligible for benefits, an employee 
must be at least 60 years old when separating from 
service and have 15 years of continuous full-time service. 
The benefits are provided from retirement date to age 
65. Actuarially determined costs are recognized over the 
period the employee provides service to the Company.

The Company pays the obligations when due for those 
benefit plans that are unfunded.

The following tables summarize the funded 
status, obligations and amounts recognized in the 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position for the 
Company’s plans. The Company uses a December 31 
measurement date for its pension and postretirement 
health benefit plans. The projected benefit obligation 
is presented below for the pension plans and the 
accumulated benefit obligation is presented for the 
postretirement health benefit plan.

The accumulated benefit obligation of the Company’s 
pension plans was $181.3 million and $150.4 million at 
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

		 	 Postretirement
	 Pension plans	 health benefit plan
(in thousands)	 2005	 2004	 2005	 2004

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at January 1	  $	 241,641	  $	 212,713	  $	 12,628	  $	 11,367
Service cost		  14,564		  13,236		  1,259		  968
Interest cost		  14,576		  12,949		  968		  708
Amendments		  221		  296		  ( 290)		  ( 730)
Actuarial loss		  15,603		  3,512		  6,108		  566
Benefits paid		  ( 1,628)		  ( 1,065)		  ( 638)		  ( 251)
Benefit obligation at December 31	  $	 284,977	  $	 241,641	  $	 20,035	  $	 12,628
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at January 1	  $	 203,071	 $	 181,714	  $	 –	  $	 –
Actual return on plan assets	  	 18,996		  14,673		  –		  –
Employer contributions		  70		  7,749		  –		  –
Benefits paid		  ( 1,628)	 	 ( 1,065)		  –		  –
Fair value of plan assets at December 31	  $	 220,509	 $	 203,071	  $ 	 –	  $	 –
Reconciliation of funded status
Funded status at December 31	 $	 ( 64,468)	 $	 ( 38,570)	 $	 ( 20,035)	 $	 ( 12,628)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss		  82,699		  72,305		  9,055		  3,273
Unrecognized prior service cost		  3,463		  3,942		  ( 1,253)		  ( 1,071)
Net amount recognized 	  $	 21,694	 $	 37,677	  $	 ( 12,233)	  $	 ( 10,426)
Amounts recognized in the Consolidated 	
	Statements of Financial Position consist of
Prepaid benefit cost (defined benefit plan)	  $	 38,720	 $	 50,860	  $	 –	 $	 –
Accrued benefit liability		  ( 17,226)	 	 ( 13,807)		  ( 12,233)		  ( 10,426)
Intangible asset		  140		  560		  –		  –
Accumulated other comprehensive income		  60		  64		  –		  –
Net amount recognized 	  $	 21,694	 $	 37,677	  $	 ( 12,233)	  $	 ( 10,426)
Accrued benefit liability		  17,226	 	 13,807		  12,233		  10,426
Reimbursements from affiliates included in other assets		  ( 7,845)		  ( 6,309)		  ( 6,576)		  ( 5,424)
	Net accrued benefit liability 	  $	 9,381	 $	 7,498	  $	 5,657	  $	 5,002
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The 2005 actuarial loss in the pension plan was due 
to a change in the discount rate assumption used to 
estimate the benefit obligation from 6.00% in 2004 
to 5.75% in 2005. The postretirement health benefit 
plan’s actuarial loss was principally due to changes in 
the mortality and discount rate assumptions, offset 
by actual plan experience that was better than the 
experience used to estimate 2005 expense. 

Previously, a single health care plan was offered for all 
employees. Effective January 1, 2005, two alternative 
health plan options were offered to employees which 
required increased employee cost-sharing. This plan 
change resulted in a decrease in the per-capita medical 
costs under the postretirement health benefit plan.

For pension plans with an accumulated benefit obligation 
in excess of plan assets (SERP and the plan for outside 
directors), the aggregate projected benefit obligation 
and the aggregate accumulated benefit obligation 
were $30.4 million and $17.2 million, respectively, at 

December 31, 2005, and $26.5 million and $13.8 million, 
respectively, at December 31, 2004. As these plans are 
unfunded, consequently, there are no plan assets.

The accrued benefit liability of $17.2 million and $13.8 
million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, 
relates principally to the SERP plan. The intangible 
asset relates entirely to the SERP plan.

The Company’s funding policy regarding the employee 
pension plan is to contribute amounts sufficient to meet 
ERISA funding requirements plus such additional amounts 
as may be determined to be appropriate, subject to IRS 
funding limits. In 2005, the Company’s contribution to 
the pension plan was limited by IRS funding limits. The 
Company expects to contribute approximately $7.5 million 
to the employee pension plan in 2006.The following 
table summarizes the components of net benefit expense 
recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations 
for the years ended December 31:

	 	 Postretirement
	 Pension plans	 health benefit plan
(in thousands)	 2005	 2004	 2003	 2005	 2004	 2003

Net periodic benefit cost
Service cost	  $	 14,564	  $	 13,236	  $	 10,045	  $	 1,259	  $	 968	  $	 715
Interest cost		  14,576		  12,949		  11,096		  968		  708		  595
Expected return on  
	plan assets		 ( 17,382)		 ( 16,996)		 ( 16,553)		  –		  –		  –
Amortization of prior  
	 service cost		  700		  901		  885		  ( 108)		  ( 53)		  ( 50)
Recognized net actuarial  
	 loss		  3,595		  3,205		  811		  326		  154		  54
Amortization of  
	unrecognized initial  
	net asset		  0		  0		  ( 234)		  –		  –		  –
Net periodic benefit cost	  $	 16,053	  $	 13,295	  $	 6,050	  $	 2,445	  $	 1,777	  $	 1,314

A portion of the net periodic benefit cost for the 
pension plans and the postretirement health benefit 
plan is borne by the Exchange and EFL. The Company 
was reimbursed approximately 51% from the Exchange 
and EFL during 2005 and approximately 50% in both 
2004 and 2003.

Assumptions and health care cost trend rate 
sensitivity
	  		 	 2005	 	  2004

Assumptions used to determine benefit obligations
Employee pension plan:
	Discount rate		  5.75% 		  6.00%
	Expected return on plan assets		 8.25		  8.25
	 �Rate of compensation increase		 4.75* 		  5.00
SERP:
	Discount rate		  5.75%		  6.00%
	Rate of compensation increase   6.00-7.25 	 6.00-7.25
Postretirement health benefit plan:
	Discount rate		  5.75% 		  6.00%

* Rate of compensation increase is age-graded. An equivalent 
single compensation increase rate of 4.75% would produce 
similar results.

	  		 	 2005	 	 2004

Assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit 
cost
Employee pension plan:
	Discount rate		  6.00% 		  6.00%
	Expected return on plan assets		 8.25		  8.25
	Rate of compensation increase		 4.75* 		  5.00
SERP:
	Discount rate		  6.00%		  6.00%
	Rate of compensation increase	    6.00-7.25  	6.00-7.25
Postretirement health benefit plan:
	Discount rate		  6.00% 	 6.00%

	  		 	 2005	 	 2004

Assumed health care cost trend rates
Health care cost trend rate  
	assumed for next year		  10.0% 		  9.0%
Rate to which the cost trend  
	 rate is assumed to decline  
	 (the ultimate trend rate)		  5.0%		  5.0%
Year that the rate reaches  
	 the ultimate trend rate		  2011		  2009
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The discount rate used to determine net periodic 
pension and postretirement benefit costs for 2006 will 
be 5.75% compared to 6.00% used for 2005. The rate 
was modeled by management in a bond-matching 
study that compared projected pension plan benefit 
flows to the cash flows from a comparable portfolio of 
fixed maturity instruments which yielded approximately 
5.75%. The employee pension plan’s expected long-
term rate of return on assets is based on historical 
long-term returns for the asset classes included in 
the employee pension plan’s target asset allocation. 
In 2005, the Company’s consulting pension actuarial 
firm completed an experience study which supported 
the use of an age-graded scale for the rate of 
compensation increase, which correlates a participant’s 
age to their rate of compensation increase.

The December 31, 2005, accumulated postretirement 
health benefit obligation was based on a 9.0% increase 
in the cost of covered health care benefits during 2005. 
Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant 
effect on the amounts reported for the health care 
plans. A 100-basis point change in assumed health care 
cost trend rates would have the following effects:

	 100-basis 	 100-basis	
 	 point 	 point	
(in thousands)	 increase	 decrease

Effect on total of service 
	and interest cost	 $	 387	 $	 ( 322)

Effect on postretirement  
	health benefit obligation		  2,970		  ( 2,520)

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected 
future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:

	 Pension 	 Postretirement	
(in thousands) 	 benefits 	 health benefits

2006	 $	 2,425	 $	 410
2007		  3,164		  482
2008		  4,087		  542
2009		  5,039		  759
2010		  6,216		  1,001
Years 2011-2015		 53,062		  7,662

Pension plan assets
The SERP and pension plan for outside directors are 
unfunded. The employee pension plan is a funded plan 
with asset allocation by asset category as follows:

	 Plan assets at December 31
Asset category	  	 2005	 	 2004

Equity securities		  62.5%		  58.9%
Debt securities		   	
	Due beyond  
		  one year	 35.9%		  34.3%
	Due within  
		  one year	 .8%	  36.7%	  6.2%	  40.5%
Other		   .8%		   .6%
Total		 100.0%		  100.0%

Equity securities included 60,000 shares of Company 
Class A common stock, with market values of 
$3.2 million (1.5% of total plan assets), at both 
December 31, 2005 and 2004. Dividends paid on these 
shares were less than $.1 million for 2005 and 2004.

Also included in equity securities are 69,750 shares of 
EFL common stock at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 
with market values of $1.9 million (.9% of total plan 
assets) and $2.2 million (1.0% of total plan assets), 
respectively. Dividends paid on these shares were less 
than $.1 million for 2005 and 2004.

The employee pension plan’s investment strategy is 
based on an understanding that:

	•	 equity investments are expected to outperform 
debt investments over the long term;

	•	 the potential volatility of short-term returns from 
equities is acceptable in exchange for the larger 
expected long-term returns;

	•	 a portfolio structured across investment styles 
and markets (both domestic and foreign) 
reduces volatility.

As a result, the employee pension plan’s asset 
allocation will include a broadly diversified allocation 
among equity, debt and other investments. The target 
percentage range for asset categories is:
	 2005	
	 target	
Asset category	 allocation

Equity securities	 40% – 65%
Debt securities	 35% – 60%
Other	  0% – 5%

Employee savings plan
The Company has a qualified 401(k) savings plan for its 
employees. Eligible participants are permitted to make 
contributions to the plan up to the Internal Revenue 
Service limit. The Company match is 100% of the 
participant contributions up to 3% of compensation 
and 50% of participant contributions over 3% and up 
to 5% of compensation. All full-time and regular part-
time employees are eligible to participate in the plan. 
The Company’s matching contributions to the plan 
were $7.7 million, $7.2 million and $6.6 million in 2005, 
2004, and 2003, respectively, before reimbursements 
from affiliates. The Company’s matching contributions 
after reimbursements from affiliates were $3.2 million, 
$2.9 million, and $2.6 million in 2005, 2004, and 
2003, respectively. Employees are only permitted to 
invest employer-matching contributions in the Class 
A common stock of the Company. The plan acquires 
shares in the open market necessary to meet the 
obligations of the plan. Plan participants held .1 million 
Company Class A shares at December 31, 2005, 2004 
and 2003.
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Health and dental benefits
The Company has self-funded health care plans for all 
of its employees and eligible dependents. Estimated 
unpaid claims incurred are accrued as a liability at 
December 31, 2005 and 2004. Operations were 
charged $30.9 million, $32.1 million and $28.3 million 
in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, for the cost of 
health and dental care provided under these plans 
before reimbursements from affiliates. Beginning 
January 1, 2005, the Company offered new health plan 
alternatives which increased employee cost-sharing. 
The charges after reimbursement from affiliates were 
$14.1 million in 2005 and 2004, and $12.5 million 
in 2003.

Note 9.
Incentive plans and deferred compensation
The Company has separate annual and long-term 
incentive plans for executive and senior management 
and regional vice presidents of the Company. The 
Company also makes available several deferred 
compensation plans for executive and senior 
management and certain outside directors.

Annual incentive plan
The annual incentive plan is a bonus plan that annually 
pays cash bonuses to executive, senior and regional 
vice presidents of the Company.

Pre-2004 Plan—Prior to 2004, incentives under the 
annual incentive plan were based on growth in written 
premiums and the underwriting results of the Property 
and Casualty Group compared to a peer group of 
property/casualty companies that wrote predominately 
personal lines insurance and were rated A++ by 
A.M. Best.

Post-2004 Plans—Beginning in 2004, the incentives 
under the plan are based on the achievement of 
certain predetermined performance targets. These 
targets are established by the Executive Compensation 
and Development Committee of the Board and can 
include various financial measures. The 2005 incentives 
were based on the adjusted operating ratio and the 
growth in direct written premiums of the Property and 
Casualty Group.

The cost of the plan is charged to operations as the 
compensation is earned over the performance period 
of one year. The amount charged to expense for the 
annual incentive plan bonus before reimbursement 
from affiliates was $4.1 million, $4.4 million and 
$1.8 million for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. 
After reimbursements from affiliates, the Company’s 
expense was $2.8 million, $2.9 million and $1.2 million 
for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Long-term incentive plan
The long-term incentive plan (LTIP) of the Company 
is a restricted stock award plan designed to reward 
executive, senior and regional vice presidents who can 
have a significant impact on the performance of the 
Company with long-term compensation that is settled 
in Company stock.

Pre-2004 Plan—Prior to 2004, awards were determined 
based on the achievement of predetermined Company 
financial performance goals compared to the actual 
growth in retained earnings of the Company.

Post-2004 Plans—Beginning in 2004, the award 
is based on the level of achievement of objective 
measures of performance over a three-year period 
as compared to a peer group of property/casualty 
companies that write predominately personal 
lines insurance. The 2005 award was based on the 
adjusted combined ratio and the growth in direct 
written premiums and total return on invested assets 
of the adjusted property/casualty operations of the 
Erie Insurance Group compared to a peer group 
of companies. Because the award is based on a 
comparison to results of a peer group over a three-
year period, the estimated award is based on estimates 
of results for the remaining performance period. This 
estimate is subject to variability if the results of the 
Company or peer group are substantially different than 
those results projected by the Company.

The Company cannot issue new stock or stock from 
treasury to settle the compensation award obligations 
under the LTIP, but instead must purchase Company 
stock on the open market. The restricted stock 
awards are granted at the beginning of a three-year 
performance period. The maximum number of shares 
which may be earned under the post-2004 LTIP plan 
by any single participant during any one calendar year 
is limited to .25 million shares. The aggregate number 
of Class A common stock that may be issued pursuant 
to awards granted under the LTIP is 1.0 million shares. 
A liability is recorded and compensation expense is 
recognized ratably over the performance period. For 
performance periods beginning before 2004, the 
stock awards vest ratably over a three-year vesting 
period subsequent to the three-year performance 
period. For performance periods beginning in 2004, 
stock awards are considered vested at the end of the 
performance period.

At December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, the unvested 
outstanding restricted shares under the LTIP totaled 
73,471 shares, 75,399 shares and 68,176 shares, 
respectively, with average grant prices of $52.65, 
$46.83 and $39.47, respectively. The change in market 
value of stock from the date of award under the LTIP 
and the balance sheet date is charged or credited 
to operations. The compensation cost charged to 
operations for these restricted stock awards after 
corporate federal income tax, was $3.9 million, 
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$2.1 million, and $1.6 million for the years ending 
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, after 
reimbursements from affiliates.

The following table shows the number of shares 
awarded and not yet vested at December 31, 2005. 
There were no forfeitures in any of the performance 
periods presented.

	 Weighted	 Number	
Long-term	 average	  of 	
incentive plan	 grant price	 shares

2001-2003 	 	
Performance period
Awarded	 $	 39.47	 33,859
Shares vested			   23,284
Shares not yet vested			   10,575

2002-2004	 	
Performance period
Awarded	 $	 46.84	 40,517
Shares vested			   15,230
Shares not yet vested			   25,287

2003-2005 	 	
Performance period
Awarded	 $	 51.15	 39,870
Shares vested			   2,261
Shares not yet vested			   37,609

Restricted shares 
	not yet vested at 
	December 31, 2005			   73,471

Deferred compensation plans
The deferred compensation plans are arrangements for 
executive and senior vice presidents of the Company 
whereby the participants can elect to defer a portion 
of their compensation until separation from services to 
the Company. Those participating in the plans select 
hypothetical investment funds for their deferrals and 
are credited with the hypothetical returns generated. 
The deferred compensation plan for directors allows 
them to defer director and meeting fees. Directors 
participating in the plan select hypothetical investment 
funds for their deferrals and are credited with the 
hypothetical returns generated. The Company does 
not match any deferrals to the director plan.

The awards, payments, deferrals and liabilities under 
the deferred compensation, annual and long-term 
incentive plans for officers and directors, were as 
follows for the years ended December 31. The gross 
liabilities are presented separately in the Consolidated 
Statements of Financial Position, while reimbursements 
from affiliates are included in other assets.
(in thousands)	 	 2005	 	 2004	 	 2003

Plan awards, employer match 	
and hypothetical earnings
Long-term incentive  
	plan awards	  $	 5,814	 $	 3,039	 $	 2,036
Annual incentive  
	plan awards		   4,145		  4,394		  1,703
Deferred compensation  
	plan, employer match  
	and hypothetical  
	earnings 		  1,188		  1,718		  1,154
Total plan awards  
	and earnings	 $	 11,147	  $	 9,151	 $	 4,893 

Total plan awards paid	  $	 6,088	 $	 3,108	 $	 4,572 
Compensation deferred  
	under the plans	 $	 496	 $	 551	 $	 842  
Distributions from the  
	deferred compensation  
	plans	 $	 ( 177)	 $	 ( 458)	 $	 ( 309)
Gross incentive  
	plan and deferred  
	 compensation liabilities	 $	 24,447	 $ 	19,069	 $	12,933  
Reimbursements  
	 from affiliates		   3,958		  3,091		  1,722
Net incentive  
	plan and deferred  
	 compensation liabilities	 $	 20,489	 $ 	15,978	 $	11,211  

Stock compensation plan for outside directors
The Company has a stock compensation plan for its 
outside directors. The purpose of this plan is to further 
align the interests of directors with shareholders by 
providing for a portion of annual compensation for 
the directors’ services in shares of the Company’s 
Class A common stock. Each director vests in the 
grant 25% every three months over the course of a 
year. Dividends paid by the Company are reinvested 
into each director’s account with additional shares of 
the Company’s Class A common stock. The Company 
accounts for grants under the stock compensation 
plan for outside directors under the fair value method 
as defined in FAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation.” The annual charge related to this 
plan, net of reimbursement, totaled $.3 million for each 
of the years 2005, 2004 and 2003. The implementation 
of FAS 123(R), “Share Based Compensation,” will have 
minimal impact on the Company’s financial position or 
results of operations.
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Note 10.
Income taxes
The provision for income taxes consists of the following 
for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands)	 	 2005	 	 2004	 	 2003

Federal income taxes:
	Currently due	 $	 112,655	 $	 104,274	  $	 101,288 
	Deferred		  ( 922)	  	 866		  949
Total	 $	 111,733	 $	 105,140	  $	 102,237

A reconciliation of the provision for income taxes with 
amounts determined by applying the statutory federal 
income tax rates to pretax income is as follows:

(in thousands)	 	 2005	 	 2004	 	 2003

Income tax at  
	 statutory rates	 $	 118,810	  $	 114,222	  $	 103,269
Tax-exempt interest		  (4,013)		  ( 2,726)		  ( 2,601)
Dividends received  
	deduction		  ( 2,727)		  ( 2,636)		  ( 3,010)
Other		  ( 337)	  	 ( 3,720)		  4,579
Provision for  
	 income taxes	 $	 111,733	  $	 105,140	  $	 102,237

Temporary differences and carryforwards, which give 
rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities, are as follows 
for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands)	 	 2005	 	 2004

Deferred tax assets
Loss reserve discount	 $	 5,630	 $	 5,504
Unearned premiums		  7,490		  7,607
Net allowance for service fees  
	and premium cancellations		  2,923		  2,872
Other employee benefits		  8,277		  6,525
Alternative minimum tax  
	 carryforwards		  0		  1,761
Write-downs of  
	 impaired securities		  1,393		  1,592
Limited partnerships		  4,027		  3,847
Other		  1,659		  1,481
Total deferred tax assets	 $	31,399	 $	31,189

Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred policy  
	acquisition costs	 $	 5,752	 $	 5,989
Unrealized gains 
	on investments		  9,354		 26,432
Pension and other benefits		 10,164		 15,467
Equity interest in EFL		  3,619		  3,490
Limited partnerships		  3,550		  0
Depreciation		  2,241		  976
Other		  3,257		  2,957
Total deferred tax liabilities		 37,937		 55,311
Net deferred income  
	 tax liability	 $	 6,538	 $	24,122

The Company, as a corporate attorney-in-fact for a 
reciprocal insurer, is not subject to state corporate 
taxes, as the Property and Casualty Group pays gross 
premium taxes. In 2004, the Company underwent an 
audit by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) for the years 
2002 and 2001. The Company recorded a reduction in 
income tax expense of $3.1 million as a result of related 
audit adjustments, the most significant of which was an 
additional deduction related to the pension plan that 
had a favorable impact on the Company’s tax position. 
The adjustment was recorded as part of the current 
tax position and had a $.04 benefit to net income per 
share—diluted in the fourth quarter of 2004.

Note 11.
Capital stock
Class A and B shares
Holders of Class B shares may, at their option, convert 
their shares into Class A shares at the rate of 2,400 
Class A shares for each Class B share. During the year 
2005, a total of 25 Class B shares were converted 
to 60,000 Class A shares. In 2004, 20 Class B shares 
were converted to 48,000 Class A shares. There is no 
provision for conversion of Class A shares to Class B 
shares and Class B shares surrendered for conversion 
cannot be reissued. Each share of Class A common 
stock outstanding at the time of the declaration of any 
dividend upon shares of Class B common stock shall 
be entitled to a dividend payable at the same time, at 
the same record date, and in an amount at least equal 
to 2/3 of 1.0% of any dividend declared on each share 
of Class B common stock. The Company may declare 
and pay a dividend in respect to Class A common 
stock without any requirement that any dividend be 
declared and paid in respect to Class B common 
stock. Sole voting power is vested in Class B common 
stock except insofar as any applicable law shall permit 
Class A common stock to vote as a class in regards to 
any changes in the rights, preferences and privileges 
attaching to Class A common stock.

In 2004, the Company increased both its Class A and 
Class B quarterly dividends by 51%. The annualized 
dividends increased the Company’s payout for 2005 
by approximately $27 million. The increase in quarterly 
shareholder dividends beginning in January 2006 was 
10.8% for both Class A and Class B shareholders.

Stock repurchase plan
The current stock repurchase program allows the 
Company to repurchase up to $250 million of its 
outstanding Class A common stock from January 1, 
2004, through December 31, 2006. Treasury shares are 
recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Financial 
Position at cost. Shares repurchased during 2005 totaled 
1.9 million at a total cost of $99.0 million. Cumulative 
shares repurchased under the currently authorized 
repurchase plan through 2005 totaled 3.0 million at a 
total cost of $153.0 million, or $50.41 per share.

63



On February 21, 2006, the Board of Directors 
approved a continuation of the current stock 
repurchase program allowing an additional $250 
million of Company Class A common stock to be 
repurchased through December 31, 2009. 

Note 12.
Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses
The following table provides a reconciliation of 
beginning and ending loss and loss adjustment 
expense liability balances for the Company’s wholly-
owned property/casualty insurance subsidiaries:

(in thousands)	 	 2005	 	 2004	 	 2003

Total unpaid losses  
	and loss adjustment  
	expenses at  
	 January 1, gross	 $	 943,034	 $	 845,536	 $	 717,015
Less reinsurance  
	 recoverables		  765,563		  687,819		  577,917

Net balance at  
	 January 1		  177,471		  157,717		  139,098

Incurred related to:
Current accident year		  146,312		  153,563		  154,816
Prior accident years		  ( 5,927)		  ( 343)		  ( 1,832)

Total incurred		  140,385		  153,220		  152,984

Paid related to:
Current accident year		  72,352		  75,371		  83,043
Prior accident years		  53,962		  58,095		  51,322

Total paid		  126,314		  133,466		  134,365

Net balance at  
	December 31		  191,542		  177,471		  157,717
Plus reinsurance  
	 recoverables		  827,917		  765,563		  687,819

Total unpaid losses  
	and loss adjustment  
	expenses at  
	December 31,  
	gross	 $	1,019,459	$	 943,034	 $	 845,536

The 2005 net incurred losses and loss adjustment 
expenses of $5.9 million related to prior accident years 
are the result of positive development of personal 
auto and commercial multi-peril attributable to an 
improvement in actual claims severity compared to 
historical trends.

Note 13.
Related party transactions
Management fee
A management fee is charged to the Exchange for 
services provided by the Company under subscriber’s 
agreements with policyholders of the Exchange. The 
fee is a percentage of direct written premium of the 
Property and Casualty Group. This percentage rate 
is adjusted periodically by the Company’s Board of 
Directors but cannot exceed 25%. The management 

rate charged the Exchange was 23.75% in 2005. In 
2004, the management fee rate charged the Exchange 
was 23.5% in the first half of 2004 and 24% during the 
second half of 2004. The management fee rate was 
24% during 2003. The Board of Directors elected to 
set the fee at 24.75% beginning January 1, 2006.

There is no provision for termination of the Company’s 
appointment as attorney-in-fact and the appointment 
is not affected by a policyholder’s disability or incapacity.

Service agreement revenue
Service agreement revenue previously included service 
income received from the Exchange as compensation 
for the management of voluntary assumed reinsurance 
from nonaffiliated insurers. Service agreement fee 
revenue amounted to $.8 million and $7.2 million in 
2004 and 2003, respectively.

Intercompany reinsurance pooling agreement
EIC, EIPC, Flagship and EINY have an intercompany 
reinsurance pooling agreement with the Exchange, 
whereby these companies cede all of their direct 
property/casualty insurance to the Exchange, except 
for the annual premium under the all-lines aggregate 
excess-of-loss reinsurance agreement discussed below. 
EIC and EINY then assume 5% and 0.5%, respectively, 
of the total of the Exchange’s insurance business 
(including the business assumed from EIC and EINY). 
The participation percentages are determined by 
the Board of Directors. Intercompany accounts are 
settled by payment within 30 days after the end of 
each quarterly accounting period. The purpose of 
the pooling agreement is to spread the risks of the 
members of the Property and Casualty Group by 
the different lines of business they underwrite and 
geographic regions in which each operates. This 
agreement may be terminated by any party as of the 
end of any calendar year by providing not less than 90 
days advance written notice.

Aggregate excess-of-loss reinsurance agreement
Through 2005, EIC and EINY had in effect an all-lines 
aggregate excess-of-loss reinsurance agreement with 
the Exchange. The purpose of the excess-of-loss 
reinsurance agreement was to reduce the variability of 
earnings and thereby reduce the adverse effects on the 
results of operations of EIC and EINY in a given year if 
the frequency or severity of claims were substantially 
higher than historical averages. The excess-of-loss 
reinsurance agreement was not renewed for the 2006 
accident year due to the proposed pricing for the 
coverage as well as the loss profile of the Property 
and Casualty Group. The Property and Casualty Group 
maintains sufficient property catastrophe coverage 
from unaffiliated reinsurers and no longer participates 
in the assumed reinsurance business.

This excess-of-loss reinsurance agreement limited EIC’s 
and EINY’s retained share of ultimate net losses in any 
applicable accident year. The excess-of-loss agreement 
provided that once EIC and EINY sustained ultimate 
net losses, excluding losses from terrorism, nuclear, 
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biological and chemical events, in any applicable 
accident year that exceeded an amount equal to 
72.5% of EIC’s and EINY’s net premium earned in 
that period, the Exchange would be liable for 95% of 
the amount of such excess, up to but not exceeding, 
an amount equal to 95% of 15% of EIC and EINY’s 
net premium earned. Losses equal to 5% of the net 
ultimate net loss in excess of the retention under 
the contract were retained net by EIC and EINY. The 
contract permitted loss recoverables only when claims 
were paid. The contract also required that any unpaid 
loss recoverables be commuted 60 months after an 
annual period expired. This reinsurance treaty was 
excluded from the intercompany pooling agreement. 
The annual premium was subject to a minimum 
premium of $3.0 million in 2005. The annual premium 
paid to the Exchange for the agreement totaled $3.3 
million, $3.6 million and $2.5 million in 2005, 2004 and 
2003, respectively.

Included in the 2005 net charges of $2.2 million are 
charges under the agreement of $1.5 million plus net 
charges of $.7 million related to the commutations 
of the 1999 and 2000 accident year. The unpaid loss 
recoverable related to the 1999 accident year of $3.4 
million was settled in March 2005. The present value 
of the estimated losses from the 1999 accident year, 
or $3.0 million, was settled with the Exchange and 
cash payment made by the Company’s property/
casualty insurance subsidiaries resulting in a charge to 
the Company of $.4 million. The $2.0 million unpaid 
loss recoverable related to the 2000 accident year 
was settled in December 2005. The present value of 
these estimated losses from the 2000 accident year, 
or $1.7 million, was settled with the Exchange by the 
Company’s property/casualty insurance subsidiaries 
resulting in a charge to the Company of $.3 million. 
The cash will be paid for settlement of the 2000 
accident year in the first quarter of 2006.

	 Accident year 
(in thousands)	 	 1999	 	  2000

Loss recoverables	 $	 3,419	 $	 2,038
Settlement of loss  
	 recoverables at  
	present value		 ( 3,033)		 ( 1,710)
Net charge related 
	 to commutation	 $	 386	 $	 328

Total charges of $7.7 million were recorded under the 
excess-of-loss reinsurance agreement during 2004, of 
which $6.0 million related to the reversal of previously 
recorded recoverables for the 2003 accident year. 
Recoveries recorded during 2003 totaled $6.5 million.

While the excess-of-loss agreement was not renewed 
for 2006, the remaining open accident years under the 
agreement, 2001 through 2005, will be settled and 
losses will be commuted as the 60 months expire.

eCommerce program and related information 
technology infrastructure
The Erie Insurance Group undertook a series of 
initiatives to develop its capabilities to transact business 
electronically, which began in 2001. In connection with 
this program, referred to as eCommerce, the Company 
and the Property and Casualty Group entered into a 
Cost Sharing Agreement for Information Technology 
Development (Agreement). The Agreement describes 
how member companies of the Erie Insurance Group 
will share the costs to be incurred for the development 
and maintenance of new Internet-enabled property/
casualty agency interface, policy administration 
and customer relationship management systems 
(ErieConnection® system).

The Agreement provides that the development 
cost of the application systems and the directly 
related enabling technology costs, such as required 
infrastructure and architectural tools, will be shared 
among the Property and Casualty Group in a manner 
consistent with the sharing of insurance transactions 
under the existing intercompany pooling agreement. 
Certain other costs of the eCommerce program are 
related to information technology hardware, networks 
and upgrades to technology platforms and are not 
included under the Agreement. These costs are 
included in the cost of management operations in the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations. The amounts 
incurred by the property/casualty subsidiaries of the 
Company have not been material.

Expense allocations
The claims handling services of the Exchange are 
performed by personnel who are entirely dedicated 
to and paid for by the Exchange from its own 
policyholder revenues. The Exchange’s claims function 
and its management and administration are exclusively 
the responsibility of the Exchange and not a part of the 
service the Company provides under the subscriber’s 
agreement. Likewise, personnel who perform activities 
within the life insurance operations of EFL are paid for 
by EFL from its own policyholder revenues. However, 
the Company is the legal entity that employs personnel 
on behalf of the Exchange and EFL and functions as 
a common paymaster for all employees. Common 
overhead expenses included in the expenses paid for 
by the Company are allocated based on appropriate 
utilization statistics (employee count, square footage, 
vehicle count, project hours, etc.) specifically measured 
to accomplish proportional allocations. Executive 
compensation is allocated based on each executive’s 
primary responsibilities (management services, 
property/casualty claims operations, EFL operations 
and investment operations). Management believes the 
methods used to allocate common overhead expenses 
among the affiliated entities are reasonable.

Payments on behalf of related entities
The Company makes certain payments for the account 
of the Group’s related entities. The Company, in 
making these payments, is acting as the common 
paymaster. Cash transfers are settled monthly.
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The amounts of these cash settlements for Company 
payments made for the account of related entities 
were as follows for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands)	 	 2005	 	 2004	 	 2003

Erie Insurance  
	Exchange	 $	265,359	 $	237,842	 $	217,794
Erie Family  
	 Life Insurance 		  35,556		  28,925		  26,081
Total cash  
	 settlements 	 $	300,915	 $	266,767	 $	243,875

Office leases
The Company occupies certain office facilities owned 
by the Exchange and EFL. The Company leases office 
space on a year-to-year basis from the Exchange. Rent 
expenses under these leases totaled $10.3 million, 
$11.4 million and $11.8 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, 
respectively. The Company has a lease commitment 
until 2008 with EFL for a branch office. Rentals paid to 
EFL under this lease totaled $.3 million in each of the 
years 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Notes receivable from EFL
The Company is due $25 million from EFL in the form 
of a surplus note that was issued in 2003. The note may 
be repaid only out of unassigned surplus of EFL. Both 
principal and interest payments are subject to prior 
approval by the Pennsylvania Insurance Commissioner. 
The note bears an annual interest rate of 6.70% and 
will be payable on demand on or after December 31, 
2018, with interest scheduled to be paid semi-annually. 
EFL paid interest to the Company totaling $1.7 million 
in 2005 and 2004 and $.6 million in 2003.

On December 30, 2005, EFL repaid its $15 million 
surplus note that was payable to the Company on 
December 31, 2005. Prior approval was received from 
the Pennsylvania Insurance Commissioner authorizing 
repayment of the surplus note. EFL paid interest on 
this note to the Company totaling $1.0 million in each 
of the years 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Note 14.
Receivables from Erie Insurance Exchange  
and concentrations of credit risk
Financial instruments could potentially expose the 
Company to concentrations of credit risk, including 
unsecured receivables from the Exchange. A large 
majority of the Company’s revenue and receivables are 
from the Exchange and affiliates. See also Note 15.

The Company has a receivable due from the Exchange 
for reinsurance recoverable from unpaid losses and 
loss adjustment expenses and unearned premium 
balances ceded under the intercompany pooling 
arrangement totaling $952.7 million and $893.1 
million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. 
Management fee and expense allocation amounts due 
from the Exchange were $194.8 million and $207.2 
million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. 
The receivable from EFL for expense allocations 

totaled $3.9 million at December 31, 2005, compared 
to $4.3 million at December 31, 2004.

Premiums due from policyholders of the Company’s 
wholly-owned property/casualty insurance subsidiaries 
equaled $267.6 million and $275.7 million at 
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. A 
significant amount of these receivables are ceded 
to the Exchange as part of the intercompany 
pooling agreement and are included in reinsurance 
recoverables on the Consolidated Statements of 
Financial Position. See also Note 16.

Note 15.
Variable interest entity
The Exchange is a variable interest entity because of 
the absence of decision-making capabilities by the 
equity owners (subscribers) of the Exchange. The 
Company holds a variable interest in the Exchange, 
however, the Company does not qualify as the primary 
beneficiary under Financial Accounting Standards 
Interpretation 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest 
Entities.” The Company has a significant interest 
in the financial condition of the Exchange because 
management fee revenues, which accounted for 
71.6% of the Company’s 2005 total revenues, are 
based on the direct written premiums of the Exchange 
and the other members of the Property and Casualty 
Group. Additionally, the Company participates in 
the underwriting results of the Exchange through 
the pooling arrangement in which the Company’s 
insurance subsidiaries have a 5.5% participation. 
Finally, a concentration of credit risk exists related to 
the unsecured receivables due from the Exchange for 
certain fees, costs and reimbursements.

The financial statements of the Exchange are prepared 
in accordance with Statutory Accounting Principles 
(SAP) required by the National Association of Insurance 
Commissioners (NAIC) Accounting Practices and 
Procedures Manual, as modified to include prescribed 
or permitted practices of the Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania. The Exchange does not, nor is it required 
to, prepare financial statements in accordance with 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). 
Financial statements prepared under SAP generally 
provide a more conservative approach than under 
GAAP. Under SAP, the principle focus is on the 
solvency of the insurer in order to protect the interests 
of the policyholders. Some significant differences 
between SAP and GAAP include the following:

	*	 Fixed maturities and short-term investments are 
valued at amortized cost or the lower of amortized 
cost or market under SAP. The SAP valuations are 
dependent upon the ERIE designation prescribed 
to the investment by the NAIC. GAAP requires 
these securities be valued at fair value;

	*	 SAP recognizes expenses when incurred and does 
not allow for the establishment of deferred policy 
acquisition cost assets;

	*	 Statutory deferred tax calculations limit the amount 
of deferred tax assets that can be recorded 
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and deferred taxes are direct charges or credits 
to surplus;

	*	 GAAP requires the establishment of an asset for 
the estimated salvage and subrogation that will be 
recovered in the future. Under SAP, a company may 
establish this recoverable, but is not required to 
do so. The Exchange does not establish estimated 
salvage and subrogation recoveries;

	*	 As prescribed by the Insurance Department of the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, the Exchange 
records in its statutory basis financial statements, 
unearned subscriber fees (fees to attorney-in-fact) 
as deductions from unearned premium reserve and 
charges current operations on a pro-rata basis over 
the periods covered by the policies.

The selected financial data below is derived from 
the Exchange’s financial statements prepared in 
accordance with SAP. In the opinion of management, 
all adjustments consisting only of normal recurring 
accruals, considered necessary for a fair presentation, 
have been included. The condensed financial data 
set forth below represents the Exchange’s share of 
underwriting results after accounting for intercompany 
pool transactions.

Selected financial data of the Exchange
Condensed statutory statements of operations

	 Years ended December 31
(in thousands)	 	 2005	 	 2004	 	 2003

Premiums earned 	$	3,762,260	 $	3,672,486	 $	3,372,308
Losses and loss  
	adjustment  
	expenses	  	2,371,660		 2,502,313	  	2,772,940
Insurance  
	underwriting  
	and other  
	expenses*		  996,357	  	1,013,846	  	 955,377
Dividends to  
	policyholders		  25,004	  	 14,692	  	 16,788
Other expense		  12,778	  	 13,305	  	 11,189
Total underwriting 
	operations 
	expenses		 3,405,799	  	3,544,156	  	3,756,294
Net underwriting  
	gain (loss)		  356,461		  128,330		  ( 383,986)
Net investment  
	 income		  370,977		  282,388		  232,677
Net realized  
	gains		  438,487		  162,905		  734,848
Total investment 
	 income		  809,464		  445,293		  967,525
Net income  
	before federal 
	 income tax		 1,165,925		  573,623		  583,539
Federal income  
	 tax expense 		  379,563	  	 180,824		  142,106
Net income	  $	  786,362	 $	 392,799	 $	 441,433

* �Includes management fees and service fees paid or 
accrued to the Company

Condensed statutory statements of financial position

	 As of December 31
(in thousands)	 2005 	 2004

Assets
Fixed maturities	 $	 4,534,116	 $	 4,399,458
Equity securities:
	Common stock		  1,736,538		  1,508,664 
	Preferred stock		  648,301		   550,090
Limited partnerships		  599,745		   567,089
Real estate  
	mortgage loans	  	 10,533		  10,859
Real estate	  	 35,277		  36,305
Cash and cash  
	equivalents		  299,160		   125,933
Surplus note from EFL		  20,000		   0
Other assets		  33,945		  1,049
	Total invested assets		  7,917,615		  7,199,447
Premiums receivable		  981,844		  1,002,818
Federal income taxes 
	 recoverable		  76,217		  0
Deferred income taxes		  17,518		  0
Other assets		  77,069		  67,497
	Total assets	 $	 9,070,263	 $	 8,269,762

Liabilities
Loss and LAE reserves	 $	 3,549,128	 $	 3,436,246
Unearned premium  
	 reserves		  1,509,636		  1,536,890
Accrued liabilities		  629,749		  400,375
Deferred income taxes		  0		  92,193
	Total liabilities		  5,688,513		  5,465,704
	Total policyholders’  
		  surplus		  3,381,750		  2,804,058
	Total liabilities and 
		  policyholders’ surplus	 $	 9,070,263	 $	 8,269,762

The Exchange’s Policyholders’ surplus increased 
20.6% during 2005, primarily as a result of improved 
underwriting results and increased net investment 
income.

Common equity securities represent a significant 
portion of the Exchange’s investment portfolio and 
surplus and are exposed to price risk, volatility of the 
capital markets and general economic conditions. 
Common stock investments made up approximately 
51% and 54% of the Exchange’s statutory surplus 
at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The 
common stock portfolio has been diversified and 
all of the portfolio is now managed by external 
equity managers.

The Exchange had realized and unrealized capital gains 
on its common stock portfolio of $105.2 million and 
$60 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 
and 2004, respectively. Net proceeds from the sale 
of common stock investments were $969.9 million in 
2005, which included $447.5 million in realized capital 
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gains compared to proceeds of $381.4 million in 2004, 
which included $137.4 million in realized capital gains.

The weighted average current price to 12-months 
earnings ratio of the Exchange’s common stock 
portfolio was 21.08 and 20.85 at December 31, 
2005 and 2004, respectively. The Standard & Poors 
composite price to trailing 12-months earnings 
ratio was 17.39 at December 31, 2005, and 20.24 at 
December 31, 2004.

If the surplus of the Exchange were to decline 
significantly from its current level, the Property and 
Casualty Group could find it more difficult to retain 
its existing business and attract new business. A 
decline in the business of the Property and Casualty 
Group would have an adverse effect on the amount 
of the management fees the Company receives and 
the underwriting results of the Property and Casualty 
Group in which the Company has a 5.5% participation. 
In addition, a decline in the surplus of the Exchange 
from its current level would make it more likely that the 
management fee rate received by the Company would 
be reduced.

Condensed statutory statements of cash flows

	 Years ended December 31
(in thousands)	 	 2005	 	 2004	 	 2003

Cash flows from operating activities

Premiums  
	 collected net  
	of reinsurance	 $	3,754,392	 $	3,748,540	 $	3,473,030

Net investment  
	 income received		  385,153		  293,517		  236,656

Miscellaneous  
	expense		  ( 12,778)		  ( 13,305)		  ( 11,188)

Losses paid		 (1,929,867)		 (1,993,342)		 (2,029,696)

Management  
	 fee and  
	expenses paid		 (1,336,369)		 (1,325,798)		 (1,237,829)

Dividends to  
	policyholders 		  ( 22,652)		  ( 16,409)		  ( 13,892)

Income taxes  
	 (paid)  
	 recovered 		  ( 477,469)		  ( 313,840)		  171,881

Net cash  
	provided by  
	operating  
	activities		  360,410		  379,363		  588,962

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from  
	 investment  
	 sales and  
	maturities		 3,316,424		 2,032,622 	  	4,370,411

Purchases of  
	 investments		 (3,748,296)		 (2,797,488)		 (4,501,440)

Net cash used  
	 in investing  
	activities		  ( 431,872)		  ( 764,866)		  ( 131,029)

	 Years ended December 31
(in thousands)	 	 2005	 	 2004	 	 2003

Cash flows from financing activities

Payments on  
	borrowings		  0		  ( 55)		  ( 53)

Other cash  
	provided  
	 (applied)		  244,689		  ( 101,480)		  ( 341,711)

Net cash  
	provided 
	by (used in)  
	financing  
	activities 		  244,689		  ( 101,535)		  ( 341,764)

Net increase  
	 (decrease) in  
	 cash and cash  
	equivalents 		  173,227		  ( 487,038)		  116,169

Cash and cash  
	equivalents at  
	beginning of year		  125,933		  612,971		  496,802

Cash and cash  
	equivalents at  
	end of year	 $	 299,160	$	 125,933	$	 612,971

Note 16.
Reinsurance
Reinsurance contracts do not relieve the Property 
and Casualty Group from its primary obligations to 
policyholders. A contingent liability exists with respect 
to reinsurance recoverables in the event reinsurers are 
unable to meet their obligations under the reinsurance 
agreements.

During 2003, the Property and Casualty Group 
replaced coverage previously provided by individual 
facultative contracts with reinsurance treaties. One 
of the agreements was a property risk excess-of-loss 
reinsurance treaty on commercial property risks that 
provided coverage of 100% of a loss of $20 million 
in excess of the Property and Casualty Group’s loss 
retention of $5 million per risk. There was a limit of $40 
million per any one loss occurrence. This agreement 
was terminated as of December 31, 2003. Since 
January 1, 2004, the Property and Casualty Group has 
acquired facultative reinsurance on all risks in excess of 
$25 million in property limits.

The Company maintains an umbrella excess-of-loss 
reinsurance treaty covering commercial and personal 
catastrophe liability risks. In 2005, this treaty provided 
coverage of 60% of a specified loss amount in excess 
of the loss retention of $1 million per occurrence. The 
specified maximum loss amount for the commercial 
and personal catastrophe liability was $9 million and 
$4 million, respectively. This treaty was renewed, 
effective January 1, 2006, at coverage of 90%, all other 
limits remaining the same. The specified maximum 
loss amounts remained the same for commercial and 
personal catastrophe liabilities.
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The Property and Casualty Group maintains a 
property catastrophe treaty to mitigate future 
potential catastrophe loss exposure. During 2005, this 
reinsurance treaty provided coverage of up to 95% 
of a loss of $400 million in excess of the Property and 
Casualty Group’s loss retention of $200 million per 
occurrence. This agreement was renewed for 2006 to 
provide coverage of up to 95% of a loss of $400 million 
in excess of the Property and Casualty Group’s loss 
retention of $300 million per occurrence.

The Property and Casualty Group exited the assumed 
reinsurance business effective December 31, 2003. 
While certain expenses will continue to be incurred 
until all related claims are settled, only nominal 
premiums were generated in 2004 and 2005. Loss 
reserves for unaffiliated assumed reinsurance of the 
Property and Casualty Group was $177 million at 
December 31, 2005.

The following tables summarize insurance and 
reinsurance activities of the Company’s property/
casualty insurance subsidiaries. See also Note 13 for 
a discussion of the intercompany reinsurance pooling 
agreement with the Exchange.

	 Years ended December 31

 (in thousands)	 	 2005	 	 2004	 	 2003

Premiums earned

Direct	 $	 704,366	 $	 699,533	 $	644,286

Assumed from  
	nonaffiliates and 
	 intercompany pool		  226,245		  225,905		 202,147

Ceded to Erie  
	 Insurance Exchange		 ( 714,787)		 ( 717,236)		 ( 654,841)
Assumed from Erie  
	 Insurance Exchange	  	215,824 		 208,202	  	191,592

Losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred

Direct	 $	 499,262	 $	 510,260	 $	512,740

Assumed from  
	nonaffiliates and 
	 intercompany pool		  152,534		  169,870		 175,360

Ceded to Erie  
	 Insurance Exchange		 ( 511,411)		 ( 526,910)		 ( 535,116)
Assumed from Erie  
	 Insurance Exchange	  	140,385	  	153,220	  	152,984

Note 17.
Statutory information
Accounting principles used to prepare statutory 
financial statements differ from those used to prepare 
financial statements under U.S. GAAP. The statutory 
financial statements of EIPC and EIC are prepared in 
accordance with accounting practices prescribed and 
permitted by the Pennsylvania Insurance Department. 
EINY prepares its statutory financial statements in 
accordance with accounting practices prescribed and 
permitted by the New York Insurance Department. 
Prescribed SAP include state laws, regulations and 
general administration rules, as well as a variety of 
publications from the NAIC.

Consolidated shareholders’ equity, including amounts 
reported by the Company’s property/casualty 
insurance subsidiaries on the statutory basis, was 
$1.3 billion at both December 31, 2005 and 2004. 
Consolidated net income, including amounts reported 
by the Company’s property/casualty insurance 
subsidiaries on a statutory basis, was $233.4 million, 
$228.6 million and $200.0 million for 2005, 2004 and 
2003, respectively.

The minimum statutory capital and surplus 
requirements under Pennsylvania and New York law 
for the Company’s stock property/casualty subsidiaries 
amounts to $10.0 million. The Company’s subsidiaries 
total statutory capital and surplus significantly exceed 
these minimum requirements, totaling, $184.4 million 
at December 31, 2005. The Company’s subsidiaries 
risk-based capital levels significantly exceed the 
minimum requirements.

Cash and securities with carrying values of $3.6 million 
were deposited by the Company’s property/casualty 
insurance subsidiaries with regulatory authorities under 
statutory requirements as of December 31, 2005 
and 2004.
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The amount of dividends the Company’s Pennsylvania-
domiciled property/casualty subsidiaries, EIC and EIPC, 
can pay without the prior approval of the Pennsylvania 
Insurance Commissioner is limited by Pennsylvania 
regulation to not more than the greater of: (a) 10% 
of its statutory surplus as reported on its last annual 
statement, or (b) the net income as reported on its 
last annual statement. The amount of dividends that 
the Erie Insurance Company’s New York-domiciled 
property/casualty subsidiary, EINY, can pay without 
the prior approval of the New York Superintendent 
of Insurance is limited to the lesser of: (a) 10% of 
its statutory surplus as reported on its last annual 
statement, or (b) 100% of its adjusted net investment 
income during such period. At December 31, 2005, the 
maximum dividend the Company could receive from 
its property/casualty insurance subsidiaries was $25.2 
million. No dividends were paid to the Company from 
its property/casualty insurance subsidiaries in 2005, 
2004 or 2003.

The amount of dividends EFL, a Pennsylvania-
domiciled life insurer, can pay to its shareholders 
without the prior approval of the Pennsylvania 
Insurance Commissioner is limited by statute to the 
greater of: (a) 10% of its statutory surplus as regards 
policyholders as shown on its last annual statement 
on file with the commissioner, or (b) the net income 
as reported for the period covered by such annual 
statement, but shall not include pro-rata distribution of 
any class of the insurer’s own securities. Accordingly, 
the Company’s share of the maximum dividend payout 
which may be made in 2006 without prior Pennsylvania 
Commissioner approval is $4.0 million. Dividends 
declared to the Company totaled $1.8 million in 2005.

Note 18.
Supplementary data on cash flows
A reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by 
operating activities as presented in the Consolidated 
Statements of Cash Flows is as follows:

	 Years ended December 31

 (in thousands)	 	 2005	 	 2004	 	 2003

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income	  $	231,104	 $	226,413	 $	199,725
Adjustments to reconcile 
	net income to net cash  
	provided by operating  
	activities:
	Depreciation and  
		  amortization		  36,855		  37,317		  41,816
	Deferred income tax  
		  (benefit) expense		  ( 922)		  866 		  949
	Realized gain  
		  on investments		 ( 15,620)		 ( 18,476)		 ( 10,445)
	Equity in (earnings)  
		  losses from limited  
		  partnerships		 ( 38,062)		  ( 8,655)		  2,000
	Net amortization  
		  of bond premium		  2,742		  1,664		  1,124
	Undistributed  
		  earnings of Erie  
		  Family Life  
		  Insurance 		  ( 1,837)		  ( 3,800)		  ( 5,712)
	Deferred  
		  compensation		  4,631		  2,987		  1,392
	Limited partnership  
		  distributions		  71,718		  37,165		  21,266
Increase in  
	 receivables from 
	 the Exchange 
	and reinsurance  
	 recoverable		 ( 39,062)		 (129,726)		 (182,598)
Increase in prepaid  
	expenses and  
	other assets 		 ( 37,201)		 ( 38,984)		 ( 34,017)
Increase in accounts  
	payable and 
	accrued expenses		  28,454		  30,530		  26,081
Increase in loss  
	 reserves		  76,425		  97,498		 128,521
(Decrease) increase in  
	unearned premiums	  	( 18,144)	  	 22,946	  	 56,515
Net cash provided by  
	operating activities	  $	 301,081	  $	 257,745	  $	246,617
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Note 19.
Commitments
The Company has contractual commitments to 
invest up to $243.2 million related to its limited 
partnership investments at December 31, 2005. 
These commitments will be funded as required by 
the partnerships’ agreements which principally expire 
in 2010. At December 31, 2005, the total remaining 
commitment to fund limited partnerships that invest 
in private equity securities is $86.5 million, real 
estate activities is $108.7 million and mezzanine debt 
securities is $48.0 million. The Company expects to 
have sufficient cash flows from operations to meet 
these partnership commitments.

The Company is involved in litigation arising in 
the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of 
management, the effects, if any, of such litigation 
are not expected to be material to the Company’s 
consolidated financial condition, cash flows 
or operations.

Note 20.
Segment information
The Company operates its business as three 
reportable segments—management operations, 
insurance underwriting operations and investment 
operations. Accounting policies for segments are 
the same as those described in the summary of 
significant accounting policies, with the exception 
of the management fee revenues received from 
the property/casualty insurance subsidiaries. These 
revenues are not eliminated in the segment detail 
below, as management bases its decisions on the 
segment presentation. See also Note 3. Assets are not 
allocated to the segments but rather are reviewed in 
total by management for purposes of decision-making. 
No single customer or agent provides 10% or more of 
revenues for the Property and Casualty Group.

The Company’s principal operations consist of serving 
as attorney-in-fact for the Exchange, which constitute 
its management operations. The Company operates in 
this capacity solely for the Exchange. The Company’s 
insurance underwriting operations arise through direct 
business of its property/casualty insurance subsidiaries 
and by virtue of the pooling agreement between its 
subsidiaries and the Exchange, which includes assumed 
reinsurance from nonaffiliated domestic and foreign 
sources. The Exchange exited the assumed reinsurance 
business effective December 31, 2003, and therefore 
reinsurance-nonaffiliates includes only run-off activity 
of the assumed reinsurance business in 2004 and 2005. 
Insurance provided in the insurance underwriting 
operations consists of personal and commercial lines 
and is sold by independent agents. Personal lines 
are marketed to individuals and commercial lines are 
marketed to small- and medium-sized businesses. The 
performance of the personal lines and commercial lines 
is evaluated based upon the underwriting results as 
determined under SAP for the total pooled business of 
the Property and Casualty Group.

Company management evaluates profitability of its 
management operations segment principally on the 
gross margin from management operations, while 
profitability of the insurance underwriting operations 
segment is evaluated principally based on the 
combined ratio. Investment operations performance 
is evaluated by Company management based on 
appreciation of assets, rate of return and overall return.
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Summarized financial information for these operations 
is presented below.

	 	 	 Years ended December 31

 in thousands)	 	 2005	 	 2004	 	 2003

Management operations
Operating revenue
Management  
	 fee revenue	 $	940,274	 $	945,066	 $	878,380
Service agreement  
	 revenue	  	 20,568	  	 21,855	  	 27,127
Total operating  
	 revenue 		 960,842		 966,921		 905,507
Cost of management  
	operations		 751,573		 724,329		 652,256
Income before  
	 income taxes	 $	209,269	 $	242,592	 $	253,251
Net income from 
	management  
	operations	 $	140,388	 $	164,436	 $	165,495

Insurance underwriting operations
Operating revenue
Premiums earned:
	Personal lines	 $	153,859	 $	148,935	 $	132,093
	Commercial lines		  65,605		   62,647		  56,248
	Reinsurance– 
		  nonaffiliates		  ( 378)		  250		  5,781
	Reinsurance– 
		  affiliate	  	 ( 3,262)	  	 ( 3,630)	  	 ( 2,530)
Total premiums  
	earned		 215,824	  	208,202	  	191,592

Operating expenses
Losses and expenses:
	Personal lines		 144,953		 143,458		 147,927
	Commercial lines		  56,732		  59,726		  67,413
	Reinsurance– 
		  nonaffiliates		  ( 3,037)		  1,642		  7,654
	Reinsurance– 
		  affiliate	  	 2,226	  	 7,740	  	 ( 6,461)
Total losses and  
	expenses		 200,874		 212,566		 216,533
Income (loss) before  
	 income taxes	 $	 14,950	 $	 ( 4,364)	$	( 24,941)
Net income (loss)  
	 from insurance 
	underwriting  
	operations	  $	 10,029	 $	 ( 2,958)	$	( 16,296)

	 	 	 Years ended December 31

 (in thousands)	 	 2005	 	 2004	 	 2003

Investment operations
Investment income,  
	net of expenses	 $	 61,555	 $	 60,988	 $	 58,298
Net realized  
	gains on 
	 investments		  15,620		  18,476		  10,445
Equity in earnings  
	 (losses) of limited  
	partnerships		  38,062		  8,655	  	 ( 2,000)

Income before 
	 income taxes and  
	before equity in  
	earnings of EFL	 $	115,237	 $	 88,119	 $	 66,743

Net income from  
	 investment  
	operations	 $	 77,306	 $	 59,729	 $	 43,617

Equity in earnings  
	of EFL, net of tax	 $	 3,381	 $	 5,206	 $	 6,909

Reconciliation of reportable segment revenues 
and operating expenses to the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations
Segment revenues	 $	1,176,666	 $	1,175,123	 $	1,097,099
Elimination of  
	 intersegment  
	management  
	 fee revenues		  ( 51,716)		  ( 51,979)		 ( 48,311)

Total operating  
	 revenue	  $	1,124,950	 $	1,123,144	 $	1,048,788

Segment operating  
	expenses	  $	 952,447	 $	 936,895	 $	868,789
Elimination of  
	 intersegment  
	management  
	 fee expenses		  ( 51,716)		  ( 51,979)		 ( 48,311)

Total operating  
	expenses	  $	 900,731	 $	 884,916	 $	820,478

The intersegment revenues and expenses that 
are eliminated in the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations relate to the Company’s property/casualty 
insurance subsidiaries 5.5% share of the management 
fees paid to the Company.
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Note 21.
Quarterly results of operations (unaudited)

	 First	 Second	 Third	 Fourth 	
(in thousands, except per share data)	 quarter	 quarter	 quarter	 quarter

2005
Operating revenue	 $	 276,171	  $	 299,915	 $	 287,551	 $	 261,313
Operating expenses		  ( 212,461)		  ( 233,373)		  ( 233,688)		  ( 221,209)
Investment income—unaffiliated	  	 22,076	  	 45,775	  	 24,552		  22,834
Income before income taxes  
	and equity in earnings of EFL	 $	 85,786	 $	 112,317	 $	 78,415	 $	 62,938
Net income	 $	 57,771	  $	 76,168	  $	 53,005	 $	 44,160
Net income per share:(*)
	Class A—basic	 $	 .91	 $	 1.21	 $	 .84	 $	 .72
	Class B—basic		  138.84		  183.89		  128.01		  107.45
	Diluted		  .83		  1.10		  .76		  .66
Comprehensive income		  37,455	  	 73,969	  	 42,250	  	 40,500

2004
Operating revenue	 $	 265,911	 $	 298,326	 $	 291,083	 $	 267,824
Operating expenses		  ( 211,176)		  ( 234,556)		  ( 224,414)		  ( 214,770)
Investment income—unaffiliated	  	 17,957	  	 20,100		  19,499		  30,563
Income before income taxes  
	and equity in earnings of EFL	 $	 72,692	 $	 83,870	 $	 86,168	 $	 83,617
Net income	 $	 49,572	  $	 56,955	  $	 58,566	 $	 61,320
Net income per share:(*)
	Class A—basic	 $	 .77	 $	 .89	 $	 .92	 $	 .96
	Class B—basic		  117.87		  135.81		  139.84		  146.36
	Diluted		  .70		  .81		  .83		  .87
Comprehensive income		  62,630		  23,878		  73,689		  58,425

(*) The cumulative sum of quarterly basic and diluted net income per share amounts may not equal total basic and diluted net 
income per share for the year due to differences in weighted average shares and equivalent shares outstanding for each of the 
periods presented.

2005	

Includes a $14.2 million second quarter correction to record unrealized gains and losses on limited partnerships to equity in 
earnings or losses of limited partnerships in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. This correction increased net income 
per share-diluted by $.13, of which $.09 per share-diluted related to 2004 and prior years.

2004

Includes a $5.2 million fourth quarter adjustment to recognize reduced commercial commission rates to be paid in 2005 on 
premiums yet to be collected at December 31, 2004.

Reflects a fourth quarter adjustment of $3.1 million to record a tax benefit as a result of an IRS audit of 2002 and 2001.
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Common stock prices
The Class A non-voting common stock of the Company 
trades on the NASDAQ Stock Market under the 
symbol “ERIE.” The following sets forth the range 
of closing high and low trading prices by quarter as 
reported by the NASDAQ Stock Market.

Class A trading price
	 2005	 2004

	 Low	 High	 Low	 High

First quarter	 $	51.33	 $	54.39	 $	41.75	 $	48.26

Second quarter 	  	50.15		 54.83		 43.92		 49.29

Third quarter		  52.14		 54.66		 45.32		 51.29

Fourth quarter	  	51.79		 53.34		 47.79		 53.00

No established trading market exists for the Class B 
voting common stock.

The Company’s 401(k) plan for employees permits 
participants to invest a portion of the Company’s 
contributions to the plan in shares of Erie Indemnity 
Class A common stock. The plan’s trustee is authorized 
to buy Erie Indemnity Company Class A common stock 
on behalf of 401(k) plan participants. Plan participants 
held 126,451 and 112,698 Company Class A shares at 
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The Company has a stock repurchase plan that was 
authorized at the end of 2003, allowing the Company 
to repurchase up to $250 million of its outstanding 
Class A common stock through December 31, 2006. 
The Company may purchase the shares from time to 
time in the open market or through privately negotiated 
transactions, depending on prevailing market conditions 
and alternative uses of the Company’s capital. Shares 
repurchased during 2005 totaled 1,890,159 at a total 
cost of $99.0 million. Cumulative shares repurchased 
under the plan since inception was 3,035,224 at a total 
cost of $153.0 million.

On February 21, 2006, the Company’s Board of 
Directors reauthorized a $250 million stock repurchase 
program. The reauthorized stock repurchase program 
is effective once the available funds from the current 
repurchase program are expended, and continues 
through December 31, 2009.

Common stock dividends
The Company historically has declared and paid cash 
dividends on a quarterly basis at the discretion of 
the Board of Directors. The payment and amount 
of future dividends on the common stock will be 
determined by the Board of Directors and will depend 
on, among other things, earnings, financial condition 
and cash requirements of the Company at the time 
such payment is considered, and on the ability of the 
Company to receive dividends from its subsidiaries, the 
amount of which is subject to regulatory limitations. 
Dividends declared for each class of stock during 2005 
and 2004 are as follows:

Dividends declared:

	 Class A 	 Class B	
2005	 share	 share

First quarter	 $	 .325	 $	 48.75
Second quarter		  .325		  48.75
Third quarter		  .325		  48.75
Fourth quarter		  .360		  54.00
Total	 $ 	1.335	 $	200.25

	 Class A 	 Class B	
2004	 share	 share

First quarter	 $ 	 .215	 $	 32.25
Second quarter		  .215		  32.25
Third quarter		  .215		  32.25
Fourth quarter		  .325		  48.75
Total	 $ 	 .970	 $	145.50

American Stock Transfer & Trust Company serves as 
the Company’s transfer agent and registrar.

Market Price of, and Dividends on, Common Stock  
and Related Shareholder Matters
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Form 10-K Requests 
The Erie Indemnity Company Annual Report 
on Form 10-K is filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission. Shareholders may obtain a copy of the 
Form 10-K report without charge by writing to: Chief 
Financial Officer, Erie Indemnity Company, 100 Erie 
Insurance Place, Erie, PA 16530 or by visiting the 
Company’s Web site at www.erieinsurance.com.

Stock Listing
The Erie Indemnity Company’s Class A common  
stock is traded on The NASDAQ Stock MarketSM  
under the symbol “ERIE.”

Stock Transfer Information
American Stock Transfer and Trust Company 
59 Maiden Lane 
Plaza Level 
New York, NY 10038 
(800) 937-5449

Annual Meeting of Shareholders
The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held  
April 18, 2006, at 9:30 a.m., local time, at our Home 
Office in Erie, Pa.

Independent Registered Public 
Accounting Firm
Ernst & Young LLP 
1300 Huntington Building 
925 Euclid Avenue 
Cleveland, OH 44115

Web Address
Financial statement filings, shareholder information, 
press releases, Code of Conduct and general news 
about the Company also may be accessed at  
www.erieinsurance.com.

Corporate Headquarters/Home Office
100 Erie Insurance Place 
Erie, PA 16530 
(814) 870-2000

Field Offices
Southeastern region
Charlotte, N.C.			   Richmond, Va. 
Hagerstown, Md.			   Roanoke, Va. 
Knoxville, Tenn.			   Silver Spring, Md.	
Raleigh, N.C.			   Waynesboro, Va.

Mid-States region
Canton, Ohio			   Indianapolis, Ind. 
Columbus, Ohio			   Parkersburg, W.Va. 
Fort Wayne, Ind.

Atlantic region
Allentown/Bethlehem, Pa.		  Murrysville, Pa. 
Erie, Pa.			   Philadelphia, Pa. 
Harrisburg, Pa.			   Rochester, N.Y. 
Johnstown, Pa.			   Warrendale, Pa.

Heartland region
Peoria, Ill.			   Waukesha, Wis.
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